As filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 25, 2023

Registration No. 333- 272989

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO FORM F-10

REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER

THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

Bitfarms Ltd.

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)

Canada

(Province or other Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization)

7379 (Primary Standard Industrial Classification Code Number) Not Applicable

(I.R.S. Employer Identification Number, if applicable)

18 King Street East, Suite 902, Toronto, Ontario, M5C 1C4

(647) 259-1790

(Address and telephone number of Registrant's principal executive offices)

Cogency Global Inc. 122 E. 42nd Street, 18th Floor New York, New York 10168

(800) 221-0102

(Name, address (including zip code) and telephone number (including area code) of agent for service in the United States)

Copies to:

Mark D. Wood Alyse A. Sagalchik Katten Muchin Rosenman LLP 525 W. Monroe Street Chicago, IL 60661 (312) 902-5200 Dennis Peterson Peterson McVicar LLP 18 King St. E., Suite 902 Toronto, ON M5C 1C4 (647) 259-1790

Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale of the securities to the public:

As soon as practicable after this Registration Statement becomes effective

Province of Ontario, Canada (Principal jurisdiction regulating this offering)

It is proposed that this filing shall become effective (check appropriate box below):

- A. upon filing with the Commission, pursuant to Rule 467(a) (if in connection with an offering being made contemporaneously in the United States and Canada).
- B. at some future date (check the appropriate box below)
 - 1. D pursuant to Rule 467(b) on () at () (designate a time not sooner than 7 calendar days after filing).
 - 2. D pursuant to Rule 467(b) on () at () (designate a time 7 calendar days or sooner after filing) because the securities regulatory authority in the review jurisdiction has issued a receipt or notification of clearance on ().
 - 3. D pursuant to Rule 467(b) as soon as practicable after notification of the Commission by the Registrant or the Canadian securities regulatory authority of the review jurisdiction that a receipt or notification of clearance has been issued with respect hereto.
 - 4. 🗵 after the filing of the next amendment to this Form (if preliminary material is being filed).

If any of the securities being registered on this Form are to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to the home jurisdiction's shelf prospectus offering procedures, check the following box.

PART I

A copy of this amended and restated preliminary short form base shelf prospectus has been filed with the securities regulatory authorities in each of the provinces and territories of Canada, but has not yet become final for the purpose of the sale of securities. Information contained in this amended and restated preliminary short form base shelf prospectus may not be complete and may have to be amended. The securities may not be sold until a receipt for the final short form base shelf prospectus is obtained from the securities regulatory authorities.

This amended and restated preliminary short form prospectus is a base shelf prospectus. This amended and restated preliminary short form base shelf prospectus has been filed under legislation in each of the provinces and territories of Canada, that permits certain information about these securities to be determined after this short form base shelf prospectus has become final and that permits the omission from this short form base shelf prospectus of that information. The legislation requires the delivery to purchasers of a prospectus supplement containing the omitted information within a specified period of time after agreeing to purchase any of these securities, except in respect of any sales pursuant to an "at-the-market" distribution as contemplated by National Instrument 44-102 – Shelf Distributions.

No securities regulatory authority has expressed an opinion about these securities and it is an offence to claim otherwise. This amended and restated preliminary short form base shelf prospectus constitutes a public offering of these securities only in those jurisdictions where they may be lawfully offered for sale and therein only by persons permitted to sell such securities.

Information contained herein is subject to completion or amendment. This prospectus shall not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there be any sale of securities in any state in which such offer, solicitation or sale would be unlawful prior to registration or qualification under the securities laws of any such state.

Information has been incorporated by reference in this amended and restated short form base shelf prospectus from documents filed with the securities commissions or similar authorities in Canada. Copies of the documents incorporated herein by reference may be obtained on request without charge from the Chief Financial Officer of Bitfarms Ltd. at 18 King St. E, Suite 902, Toronto, ON M5C 1C4 (Telephone 647 259-1790), and are also available electronically at www.sedarplus.ca.

AMENDED AND RESTATED PRELIMINARY SHORT FORM BASE SHELF PROSPECTUS, AMENDING AND RESTATED THE PRELIMINARY SHORT FORM BASE SHELF PROSPECTUS DATED JUNE 28, 2023

New Issue and/or Secondary Offering

September 22, 2023

BITFARMS LTD.



US\$375,000,000

Common Shares Warrants Subscription Receipts Units Debt Securities Share Purchase Contracts

This amended and restated preliminary short form base shelf prospectus (the "Prospectus") relates to the offering for sale from time to time, during the 25month period, that this prospectus, including any amendments hereto, remains effective, of the securities of Bitfarms Ltd. (the "**Company**", "**Bitfarms**", "we" or "our") listed above in one or more series or issuances, with a total offering price of such securities, in the aggregate, of up to **US\$375,000,000** (or the equivalent thereof in Canadian dollars or one or more foreign currencies or composite currencies). The securities may be offered separately or together, in amounts, at prices and on terms to be determined based on market conditions at the time of the sale and set forth in an accompanying prospectus supplement.

In addition, the securities may be offered and issued in consideration for the acquisition of other businesses, assets or securities by the Company or a subsidiary of the Company. The consideration for any such acquisition may consist of any of the securities separately, a combination of securities or any combination of, among other things, securities, cash and the assumption of liabilities.

The common shares of the Company ("**Common Shares**") are listed for trading on the Nasdaq Stock Market ("**Nasdaq**") under the trading symbol "BITF" and on the Toronto Stock Exchange (the "**TSX**") under the trading symbol "BITF". On September 21, 2023, being the last complete trading day prior to the date hereof, the closing price of the Common Shares on the TSX and Nasdaq was C\$1.48 and US\$1.09 respectively.

Unless otherwise specified in an applicable prospectus supplement, debt securities, subscription receipts, units, warrants and share purchase contracts will not be listed on any securities or stock exchange or on any automated dealer quotation system. There is currently no market through which the Company's securities, other than the Common Shares, may be sold and purchasers may not be able to resell such securities purchased under this short form prospectus. This may affect the pricing of the Company's securities, other than the Common Shares, in the secondary market, the transparency and availability of trading prices, the liquidity of the Company's securities and the extent of issuer regulation. See "*RISK FACTORS*".

Prospective investors should be aware that the acquisition of the Company's securities described herein may have tax consequences in Canada and/or the United States. This prospectus or any applicable prospectus supplement may not describe these tax consequences fully. Such consequences for investors who are resident in, or citizens of, the United States may not be described fully herein or in the applicable prospectus supplement. You should read the tax discussion in any applicable prospectus supplement with respect to any particular offering and consult your own tax advisor with respect to your own particular circumstances.

No underwriter has been involved in the preparation of this prospectus or performed any review of the contents of this prospectus.

In accordance with subsections 4.1(1) and 5.5(7) of NI 44-102, the Company will file, with this Prospectus, an undertaking with the securities regulatory authorities in each of the provinces and territories of Canada that the Company will not distribute Securities that, at the time of distribution, are novel specified derivatives or novel asset-backed securities, without first pre-clearing with the applicable regulator the disclosure to be contained in any Prospectus Supplement pertaining to the distribution of the novel specified derivatives or asset-backed securities. This prospectus constitutes a public offering of the securities only in those jurisdictions where they may be lawfully offered for sale and only by persons permitted to sell the securities in such jurisdiction. All applicable information permitted under securities legislation to be omitted from this prospectus that has been so omitted will be contained in one or more prospectus supplements that will, except in respect of any sales pursuant to an "at-the-market" distribution as contemplated by National Instrument 44-102 – Shelf Distributions ("NI 44-102"), be delivered to purchasers together with this prospectus. Each prospectus supplement will be incorporated by reference into this prospectus for the purposes of securities legislation as of the date of the prospectus supplement and only for the purposes of the distribution of the securities issued pursuant to this prospectus. The Company, or any "Selling Securityholders" (as defined herein below), may offer and sell the Securities (as defined hereinbelow) to or through underwriters purchasing as principal and may also sell the Securities to one or more purchasers directly, through applicable statutory exemptions, or through agents designated by the Company from time to time. This Prospectus may qualify an "at-the-market distribution" as defined in NI 44-102.

The sale of Common Shares may be effected from time to time in one or more transactions at non-fixed prices pursuant to transactions that are deemed to be an "at-the-market" distributions as contemplated by 44-102 and as permitted by applicable law, including sales made directly on the TSX, the Nasdaq, or other existing trading markets for the Securities, and as set forth in a prospectus supplement for such purpose. See "*PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION*".

A prospectus supplement will set out the names of any underwriters, dealers or agents involved in the sale of the Company's securities, the amounts, if any, to be purchased by underwriters, the plan of distribution for such securities, including the net proceeds we expect to receive from the sale of such securities, if any, the amounts and prices at which such securities are sold and the compensation of such underwriters, dealers or agents.

Investment in the securities being offered is highly speculative and involves significant risks that you should consider before purchasing such securities. You should carefully review the risks outlined in this prospectus (including any prospectus supplement) and in the documents incorporated by reference as well as the information under the heading "Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements" and consider such risks and information in connection with an investment in the securities. See "SECONDARY OFFERING BY SELLING SECURITYHOLDERS".

The specific terms of the securities with respect to a particular offering will be set out in one or more prospectus supplements and may include, where applicable: (i) in the case of Common Shares, the number of Common Shares offered, the offering price and any other specific terms; (ii) in the case of warrants, the offering price, the designation, number and terms of the Common Shares or debt securities issuable upon exercise of the warrants, any procedures that will result in the adjustment of these numbers, the exercise price, dates and periods of exercise, the currency in which the warrants are issued and any other specific terms; (iii) in the case of subscription receipts, the number of subscription receipts being offered, the offering price, the procedures for the exchange of the subscription receipts for Common Shares, debt securities or warrants, as the case may be, and any other specific terms; (iv) in the case of debt securities, the specific designation, the aggregate principal amount, the currency or the currency unit for the debt securities being offered, the maturity, the interest provisions, the authorized denominations, the offering price, the covenants, the events of default, any terms for redemption or retraction, any exchange or conversion terms, whether the debt securities are secured, affiliate-guaranteed, senior or subordinated and any other terms specific to the debt securities being offered; (v) in the case of units, the designation, number and terms of the Common Shares, warrants, subscription receipts, share purchase contracts or debt securities comprising the units; and (vi) in the case of share purchase contracts, whether the share purchase contracts obligate the holder to purchase or sell or both purchase and sell Common Shares, whether the share purchase contracts are to be prepaid or not or paid in instalments, any conditions upon which the purchase or sale will be contingent and the consequences if such conditions are not satisfied, whether the share purchase contracts are to be settled by delivery, any provisions relating to the settlement of the share purchase contracts, the date or dates on which the sale or purchase must be made, whether the share purchase contracts will be issued in fully registered or global form and the material income tax consequences of owning, holding and disposing of the share purchase contracts. Where required by statute, regulation or policy, and where securities are offered in currencies other than Canadian dollars, appropriate disclosure of foreign exchange rates applicable to the securities will be included in the prospectus supplement describing the securities. One or more securityholders of the Company may also offer and sell Securities (as defined hereinbelow) under this prospectus (the "Selling Securityholders" and each a "Selling Securityholder"). See "SECONDARY OFFERING BY SELLING SECURITYHOLDERS".

Purchasers are advised that it may not be possible for investors to enforce judgments obtained in Canada against any person or company that is incorporated, continued or otherwise organized under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction or resides outside of Canada, even if the party has appointed an agent for service of process. Certain of the Company's material subsidiaries are incorporated outside of Canada, namely Bitfarms Ltd. (Israel), Backbone Mining Solutions LLC (State of Washington, U.S.A.), Backbone Hosting Solutions SAU (Argentina) and Backbone Hosting Solutions Paraguay SA (Paraguay).In addition, certain of the Company's directors and officers reside outside of Canada, namely, Emiliano Joel Grodzki, Nicolas Bonta, Andres Finkielsztain, Edith M. Hofmeister, Jeffrey Lucas, and Benjamin Gagnon, and they have appointed the Company at its registered office set forth below as their agent for service of process in Canada.

The enforcement by investors of civil liabilities under the United States federal securities laws may be affected adversely by the fact that the Company is incorporated or organized under the laws of Canada, that some of its officers and directors are residents of a foreign country, that some or all of the underwriters or experts that may be named in the registration statement on Form F-10 that includes this prospectus (the "Registration Statement") may be residents of a foreign country, and that all or a substantial portion of the assets of the Company and said persons may be located outside the United States.

THESE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION (THE "SEC") OR ANY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION OR REGULATORY AUTHORITY NOR HAS THE SEC OR ANY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION OR REGULATORY AUTHORITY PASSED UPON THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THIS PROSPECTUS. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.

Any offering made pursuant to this prospectus is made by a Canadian issuer that is permitted, under a multijurisdictional disclosure system adopted by the United States and Canada, to prepare this prospectus in accordance with Canadian disclosure requirements. Prospective investors should be aware that such requirements are different from those of the United States. Financial statements included or incorporated by reference herein have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and may be subject to foreign auditing and auditor independence standards, and thus may not be comparable to financial statements of United States companies.

The Company's registered office is located at 18 King St. E, Suite 902, Toronto, ON M5C 1C4.

Investors should rely only on the information contained in or incorporated by reference into this prospectus and any applicable prospectus supplement. We have not authorized anyone to provide investors with different information. Information contained on the Company's website shall not be deemed to be a part of this prospectus (including any applicable prospectus supplement) or incorporated by reference herein and should not be relied upon by prospective investors for the purpose of determining whether to invest in the securities. We will not make an offer of these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted. Investors should not assume that the information contained in this prospectus is accurate as of any date other than the date on the face page of this prospectus, the date of any applicable prospectus supplement or the date of any documents incorporated by reference herein.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS | 1 |
|---|----|
| CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS | 1 |
| DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE | 5 |
| CURRENCY PRESENTATION AND EXCHANGE RATE INFORMATION | 8 |
| DOCUMENTS FILED AS PART OF THE REGISTRATION STATEMENT | 8 |
| AVAILABLE INFORMATION | 8 |
| THE COMPANY | 9 |
| PROMOTERS | 16 |
| SECONDARY OFFERING BY SELLING SECURITYHOLDERS | 16 |
| RISK FACTORS | 17 |
| <u>USE OF PROCEEDS</u> | 38 |
| CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION | 42 |
| PRIOR SALES | 42 |
| TRADING PRICE AND VOLUME | 42 |
| EARNINGS COVERAGE | 42 |
| DESCRIPTION OF SHARE CAPITAL | 42 |
| DESCRIPTION OF DEBT SECURITIES | 43 |
| DESCRIPTION OF WARRANTS | 48 |
| DESCRIPTION OF UNITS | 50 |
| DESCRIPTION OF SUBSCRIPTION RECEIPTS | 51 |
| DESCRIPTION OF SHARE PURCHASE CONTRACTS | 54 |
| PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION | 55 |
| CERTAIN INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS | 57 |
| LEGAL MATTERS | 57 |
| AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR | 57 |
| AGENTS FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS | 57 |
| EXEMPTIONS UNDER SECURITIES LAWS | 58 |
| STATUTORY RIGHTS OF WITHDRAWAL AND RESCISSION | 58 |
| | |

i

ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS

You should rely only on the information contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus and any applicable prospectus supplement. We have not authorized anyone to provide you with different or additional information. If anyone provides you with different or additional information, you should not rely on it. We are not making an offer to sell or seeking an offer to buy the securities offered pursuant to this prospectus in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted. You should assume that the information contained in this prospectus and any applicable prospectus supplement is accurate only as of the date on the front of such document and that information contained in any document incorporated by reference is accurate only as of the date of that document, regardless of the time of delivery of this prospectus or any applicable prospectus supplement or of any sale of the Company's securities pursuant thereto. The Company's business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may have changed since those dates.

Market data and certain industry forecasts used in this prospectus and any applicable prospectus supplement, and the documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus and any applicable prospectus supplement, were obtained from market research, publicly available information and industry publications. We believe that these sources are generally reliable, but the accuracy and completeness of this information is not guaranteed. We have not independently verified such information, and we do not make any representation as to the accuracy of such information.

In this prospectus and any prospectus supplement, unless otherwise indicated, all dollar amounts and references to "US\$" or "\$" are to U.S. dollars and references to "C\$" are to Canadian dollars. This prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference contain translations of certain U.S. dollar amounts into Canadian dollars solely for your convenience. See "Currency Presentation and Exchange Rate Information".

In this prospectus and in any prospectus supplement, unless the context otherwise requires, references to "we", "us", "our" or similar terms, as well as references to "Bitfarms" or the "Company", refer to Bitfarms Ltd. together, where context requires, with its subsidiaries and affiliates.

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements and other information contained in this prospectus constitute "forward-looking information" under Canadian Securities Laws and "forward-looking statements" under U.S. securities laws (collectively "forward-looking statements"). Such forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to:

- the future price of cryptocurrencies, such as Bitcoin and the other types of digital assets which Bitfarms and its subsidiaries may mine, hold and trade;
- the Company's intended use of net proceeds from the sale of its securities;
- the number of securities the Company intends to issue;
- the future pricing for services and solutions in the businesses of the Company and its subsidiaries;
- the liquidity and market price of the Common Shares;
- the Company's expectations regarding the sufficiency of its capital resources and requirements for additional capital;
- litigation risks;
- currency fluctuations;
- risks related to debt securities;
- risks related to the decrease of the market price of the Common Shares if the Company's shareholders sell substantial amounts of Common Shares;
- risks related to future sales or issuances of equity securities diluting voting power and reducing future earnings per share;
- the absence of a market through which the Company's securities, other than Common Shares, may be sold;
- changes to governmental laws and regulations, including tax regulations; and
- effects of the novel coronavirus ("COVID-19") outbreak or other future global pandemics.

These forward-looking statements relate to future events or future performance. All statements other than statements of historical fact may be forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are often, but not always, identified by the use of words such as "seek", "anticipate", "plan", "continue", "estimate", "expect", "may", "will", "project", "predict", "potential", "targeting", "intend", "could", "might", "should", "believe", "future", "continue" or similar expressions or the negatives thereof.

By their very nature, forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results or events to differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking statements and such forward-looking statements included in this prospectus should not be unduly relied upon. These statements speak only as of the date of this prospectus.

The forward-looking statements in this document are based on what the Company currently believes are reasonable assumptions, including the material assumptions set out in the management discussion and analysis and press releases of the Company (such documents are available under the Company's SEDAR profile at www.sedarplus.ca) or in the United States through EDGAR at the website of the SEC at www.sec.gov. Other material factors or assumptions that were applied in formulating the forward-looking statements contained herein include or relate to the following:

- the business and economic conditions affecting the Company's operations in their current state, including, general levels of economic activity, regulations, taxes and interest rates;
- the Company's ability to profitably produce the computational power sold to Mining Pools to solve block regards, which may be paid in Bitcoin, U.S. dollars, or other currency;
- the Company's ability to successfully acquire and maintain required regulatory licenses and qualifications;
- historical prices of cryptocurrencies;
- the emerging cryptocurrency and blockchain markets and sectors;
- the Company's ability to maintain good business relationships;
- the Company's ability to manage and integrate acquisitions;
- the Company's ability to identify, hire and retain key personnel;
- the Company's ability to raise sufficient debt or equity financing to support the Company's continued growth;
- economic dependence on regulated terms of service and electricity rates;
- the technology, proprietary and non-proprietary software, data and intellectual property of the Company and third parties in the cryptocurrencies and digital asset sector is able to be relied upon to conduct the Company's business;
- the Company does not suffer a material impact or disruption from a cybersecurity incident, cyber-attack or theft of digital assets;
- continued maintenance and development of cryptocurrency mining facilities;
- continued growth in usage and in the blockchain for various applications;
- continued development of a stable public infrastructure, with the necessary speed, data capacity and security required to operate blockchain networks;
- the absence of adverse regulation or law; and
- the absence of material changes in the legislative, regulatory or operating framework for the Company's existing and anticipated business.



Inherent in forward-looking statements are risks, uncertainties and other factors beyond the Company's ability to predict or control. Some of the risks that could cause outcomes and results to differ materially from those expressed in the forward-looking statements include:

- Management of growth and expansion.
- Currency exchange risks.
- Insurance risks.
- Bitcoin Halving Event.
- Valuation and Price Volatility of Cryptocurrencies.
- Share Price Fluctuations.
- Future Capital Needs, Uncertainty of Additional Financing and Dilution.
- Indebtedness.
- Global Financial Conditions.
- Possibility of Bitcoin Mining Algorithms Transitioning to Proof of Stake Validation.
- Debt Covenants.
- Limited Operating History.
- Employee Retention and Growth.
- Cybersecurity Threats and Hacking.
- Limited History of De-centralized Financial System.
- Risk Related to Technological Obsolescence and Difficulty in Obtaining Hardware.
- Cryptocurrency Network Difficulty and Impact of Increased Global Computing Power.
- Economic Dependence on Regulated Terms of Service and Electricity Rates Risks.
- Increases in Commodity Prices or Reductions in the Availability of Such Commodities.
- Future Profits/Losses and Production Revenues/Expenses.
- Fraud and Failure of Cryptocurrency Exchanges, Custodians and Other Trading Venues.
- Political and Regulatory Risk.
- Permits and Licenses.
- Server Failures.
- Tax Consequences.
- Environmental Regulations.
- Environmental Liability.
- Erroneous Transactions and Human Error.
- Facility Developments.

- Competition.
- Acceptance and/or Widespread Use of Cryptocurrency is Uncertain.
- Hazards Associated with High-voltage Electricity Transmission and Industrial Operations.
- Adoption of ESG Practices and the Impacts of Climate Change.
- Corruption.
- US Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and Similar Legislation.
- Political Instability.
- Third-party Supplier Risks.
- Potential of Bitfarms Being Classified as a Passive Foreign Investment Company.
- Pandemic and Infectious Disease Risk (including COVID-19).
- Emerging Market Risks.
- Economic Volatility and other Challenges in Argentina and/or Paraguay.
- Vulnerability of Argentina and Paraguay Economies to External Shocks.
- Impacts of Corruption and Anti-Corruption Laws in Operating Locations.
- Unpredictability of Tax Rates, Capital Controls and Foreign Exchange Restrictions in Argentina.
- Discretion Over Use of Proceeds.
- Absence of a Public Market for Certain of the Securities.
- Unsecured Debt Facilities.
- Effect of Changes in Interest Rates on Debt Securities.
- Effect of Fluctuations in Foreign Currency Markets on Debt Securities.
- Trading Price of Common Shares and Volatility.
- Hedges.

Additional information on these and other factors is discussed under the heading "**RISK FACTORS**" in this prospectus and in the documents incorporated by reference herein including in the 2022 MD&A (as defined herein) under the headings "Financial Instruments and Risks" and "Other Risks" and in the 2022 AIF (as defined herein) under the heading "Risk Factors", as may be modified or superseded by other subsequently filed documents that are also incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference in this prospectus.

The forward-looking statements contained in this prospectus are expressly qualified by this cautionary statement. Except as required by law, the Company does not undertake any obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Information has been incorporated by reference in this amended and restated preliminary short form base shelf prospectus from documents filed with the securities commissions or similar authorities in Canada and filed with, or furnished to, the SEC.

Copies of the documents incorporated herein by reference may be obtained on request without charge from the Chief Financial Officer of Bitfarms at 18 King St. E, Suite 902, Toronto, ON M5C 1C4 (Telephone 647 259-1790) Attn: Chief Financial Officer. Such documents are also available without charge to shareholders and other interested parties through the "Investors" portion of the Company's website at www.bitfarms.com as well as on the Canadian System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval ("**SEDAR**") at www.sedarplus.ca or in the United States through EDGAR at the website of the SEC at www.sec.gov. The filings of the Company available on the Company's website, SEDAR and EDGAR are not incorporated by reference in this prospectus except as specifically set out herein.

The following documents, filed with the securities commissions or similar regulatory authorities in each of the provinces and territories of Canada, are specifically incorporated by reference into, and form an integral part of, this amended and restated preliminary short form base shelf prospectus:

- the Company's annual information form for the year ended December 31, 2022, dated as at March 20, 2023 and filed on March 21, 2023 (the "2022 AIF");
- the Company's audited consolidated financial statements as at and for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 the notes thereto and the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm thereon, filed on March 21, 2023 (the "2022 Annual Financial Statements");
- the Company's management's discussion and analysis for the year ended December 31, 2022, dated as at March 20, 2023 and filed on March 21, 2023 (the "2022 MD&A");
- the Company's unaudited interim condensed interim consolidated financial statements as at June 30, 2023 and for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 and filed on August 8, 2023;
- the Company's management's discussion and analysis for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 and filed on August 8, 2023 (the "Interim MD&A");
- the information circular dated April 4, 2023 with respect to an annual general and special meeting of shareholders ("Shareholders") held on May 24, 2023, filed on April 24, 2023;
- the material change report dated January 3, 2023 relating to relating to an update to the Company's Bitcoin production in the 2022 financial year;
- the material change report dated January 13, 2023 relating to the Company's initiative to modify its equipment loan facility;
- the material change report dated February 1, 2023 relating to an update to the Company's Bitcoin production for the month of January 2023;
- the material change report dated February 9, 2023 relating to the modification of the loan agreement with BlockFi Lending LLC;
- the material change report dated March 1, 2023 relating to relating to an update to the Company's Bitcoin production for the month of February 2023;
- the material change report dated March 21, 2023 relating to the reporting of its financial performance for the year ended December 31, 2022. In this material change report, the Company stated that in 2022 it ranked "among the cost-effective publicly trade BTC mining companies". In support of this statement, the Company relied upon data provided by www.theminermag.com, namely the "Estimated Gross Margin of Proprietary Bitcoin Hashrate Activities." With data starting in 2023, www.theminermag.com also reports the "Implied Cost of Bitcoin Production from Proprietary Hashrate", being the absolute cost of producing Bitcoin, denominated in United States dollars. This data is not presented for the 2022 calendar year, and consequently the Company's statement in its March 21, 2023 material change report is supported on only a gross margin basis and not on an absolute cost basis;
- the material change report dated April 3, 2023 relating to relating to an update to the Company's Bitcoin production for the month of March 2023;
- the material change report dated April 11, 2023 relating to the entering into of an agreement to acquire 22 MW of power capacity in Baie-Comeau, Quebec;
- the material change report dated April 24, 2023 relating to the receipt of a permit to expand its power capacity up to 100 MW at its Rio Cuarto, Argentina facility;
- the material change report dated April 28, 2023 relating to the Company's achievement of obtaining an aggregate hashrate of 5.0 EH/s;
- the material change report dated May 1, 2023 relating to the Company regaining compliance with Nasdaq continued listing requirements;

- the material change report dated May 1, 2023 relating to an update to the Company's Bitcoin production for the month of April 2023;
- the material change report dated May 8, 2023 relating to the Company's achievement of mining 21,000 Bitcoin over its six years of operations;
- the material change report dated May 15, 2023 relating to the reporting of the Company's financial statements for the first quarter of the 2023 financial year;
- the material change report dated June 1, 2023 relating to an update to the Company's Bitcoin production for the month of May 2023;
- the material change report dated June 7, 2023 relating to the purchase of 4,660 high performance miners;
- the material change report dated June 12, 2023 relating to the increase in the Company's operational hashrate;
- the material change report dated July 4, 2023 relating to an update to the Company's Bitcoin production for the month of June 2023;
- the material change report dated July 6, 2023 relating to the commencement of production at its Baie-Comeau facility and the increase of its hashrate target to 6.3 EH/s by the end of the third financial quarter of 2023;
- the material change report dated July 19, 2023 relating to entering into of power purchase agreements in Paraguay for up to 150 MW of hydropower;
- the material change report dated August 1, 2023 relating to an update to the Company's Bitcoin production for the month of July 2023;
- the material change report dated August 7, 2023 relating to the deployment plan of a 50 MW of hydropower substation located in Paraguay;
- the material change report dated August 8, 2023 relating to the announcement of the Company's second quarter 2023 financial results; and
- the material change report dated September 1, 2023 relating to an update to the Company's Bitcoin production for the month of August 2023.

Any documents of the type described in Section 11.1 of Form 44-101F1 Short Form Prospectuses filed by the Company with a securities commission or similar authority in any province or territory of Canada subsequent to the date of this amended and restated preliminary short form base shelf prospectus and prior to the expiry of this prospectus, or the completion of the issuance of securities pursuant hereto, will be deemed to be incorporated by reference into this prospectus. To the extent that any document or information incorporated by reference into this prospectus is included in a report that is filed with or furnished to the SEC pursuant to the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "**Exchange Act**"), such document or information shall also be deemed to be incorporated by reference as an exhibit to the Registration Statement (in the case of a report on Form 6-K, if and to the extent expressly provided in such report).

A prospectus supplement containing the specific terms of any offering of the Company's securities will be delivered to purchasers of the Company's securities together with this prospectus and will be deemed to be incorporated by reference in this prospectus as of the date of the prospectus supplement and only for the purposes of the offering of the Company's securities to which that prospectus supplement pertains.



Any statement contained in this prospectus or in a document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference in this prospectus will be deemed to be modified or superseded for purposes of this prospectus to the extent that a statement contained herein, in any prospectus supplement hereto, or in any other subsequently filed document that also is or is deemed to be incorporated by reference herein, modifies or supersedes such statement. The modifying or superseding statement need not state that it has modified or superseded a prior statement or include any other information set forth in the document that it modifies or supersedes. The making of a modifying or superseding statement is not to be deemed an admission for any purposes that the modified or superseded statement, when made, constituted a misrepresentation, an untrue statement of a material fact or an omission to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to make a statement not misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made. Any statement so modified or superseded will not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of this prospectus.

Upon the Company's filing of a new annual information form and the related annual financial statements and management's discussion and analysis with applicable securities regulatory authorities during the currency of this prospectus, the previous annual information form, the previous annual financial statements and management's discussion and analysis and all interim financial statements, material change reports and information circulars filed prior to the commencement of the Company's financial year in which the new annual information form is filed will be deemed no longer to be incorporated into this prospectus for purposes of future offers and sales of the Company's securities under this prospectus. Upon interim consolidated financial statements and the accompanying management's discussion and analysis being filed by us with the applicable securities regulatory authorities during the duration of this prospectus, all interim consolidated financial statements and the accompanying management's discussion and analysis filed prior to be incorporated into this prospectus. Upon a new annual information form being filed by us with the applicable securities regulatory authorities during the term of this prospectus. Upon a new annual information form being filed by us with the applicable securities regulatory authorities during the term of this prospectus. Upon a new annual information form being filed by us with the applicable securities regulatory authorities during the term of this prospectus for which the related annual comparative consolidated financial statements include at least nine months of financial results of an acquired business for which a business acquisition report was filed by us and incorporated by reference into this prospectus, such business acquisition report shall no longer to be incorporated into this prospectus, the previous and analysis of the Company, if prepared in connection with solely an annual general meeting of the Company, if prepared in connection with solely an annual general meeting

References to the Company's website in any documents that are incorporated by reference into this prospectus do not incorporate by reference the information on such website into this prospectus, and we disclaim any such incorporation by reference.

CURRENCY PRESENTATION AND EXCHANGE RATE INFORMATION

The high, low, average and closing rates for the U.S. dollar in terms of Canadian dollars for each of the financial periods indicated below, as quoted by the Bank of Canada, were as follows:

| | Three Months ended June 30, 2023 | Three Months ended June 30, 2022 | Year ended December 31, 2022 | Year ended December 31, 2021 |
|---------|---|---|------------------------------------|------------------------------------|
| | (expressed in Canadian dollars) | | | |
| High | 1.3628 | 1.3039 | 1.3856 | 1.2942 |
| Low | 1.3151 | 1.2451 | 1.2451 | 1.2040 |
| Average | 1.3428 | 1.2768 | 1.3013 | 1.2535 |
| Closing | 1.3240 | 1.2886 | 1.3544 | 1.2678 |

On September 21, 2023, the daily exchange rate for the U.S. dollar in terms of Canadian dollars, as quoted by the Bank of Canada, was \$1.00 = C\$1.3486.

DOCUMENTS FILED AS PART OF THE REGISTRATION STATEMENT

The following documents have been, or will be, filed with the SEC as part of the Registration Statement, of which this prospectus forms a part: (1) the documents listed under "*DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE*"; (2) the consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP; (3) powers of attorney from certain of the Company's directors and officers; and (4) the forms of senior and subordinated indenture relating to the debt securities.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

The Company is subject to the informational requirements of the Exchange Act and applicable Canadian requirements and, in accordance therewith, files reports and other information with the SEC and with securities regulatory authorities in Canada. Under the multijurisdictional disclosure system adopted by the United States and Canada, such reports and other information may be prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of Canada, which requirements are different from those of the United States. As a foreign private issuer, the Company is exempt from the rules under the Exchange Act prescribing the furnishing and content of proxy statements, and the Company's officers, directors and principal shareholders are exempt from the reporting and short-swing profit recovery provisions contained in Section 16 of the Exchange Act. Reports and other information filed by the Company with, or furnished to, the SEC may be obtained on EDGAR at the SEC's website: www.sec.gov.

The Company has filed with the SEC the Registration Statement with respect to the Securities. This prospectus, including the documents incorporated by reference herein, which forms a part of the Registration Statement, does not contain all of the information set forth in the Registration Statement, certain parts of which are contained in the exhibits to the Registration Statement as permitted by the rules and regulations of the SEC. For further information with respect to the Company and the Securities, reference is made to the Registration Statement and the exhibits thereto. Statements contained in this prospectus, including the documents incorporated by reference herein, as to the contents of certain documents are not necessarily complete and, in each instance, reference is made to the copy of the document filed as an exhibit to the Registration Statement. Each such statement is qualified in its entirety by such reference. The Registration Statement can be found on EDGAR at the SEC's website: www.sec.gov.

THE COMPANY

The following description of the Company is, in some instances, derived from selected information about us contained in the documents incorporated by reference into this prospectus. This description does not contain all of the information about us and our business that you should consider before investing in any securities. You should carefully read the entire prospectus and the applicable prospectus supplement, including the section entitled "*RISK FACTORS*", as well as the documents incorporated by reference into this prospectus and the applicable prospectus supplement, before making an investment decision.

Name, Address and Incorporation

The Company was incorporated under the *Canada Business Corporations Act* on October 11, 2018, and continued under the *Business Corporations Act* (Ontario) on August 27, 2021. The Company has its registered and head office located at 18 King St. E, Suite 902, Toronto, ON M5C 1C4. The Company's Common Shares are listed for trading on the Nasdaq and on the TSX under the trading symbol "BITF".

Subsidiaries

The table below lists the principal material subsidiaries of the Company as of the date hereof.

| Jurisdiction | Assets Held |
|---------------|--|
| Israel | Holding company |
| Canada | Computer equipment, cryptocurrency |
| Argentina | Computer equipment |
| Paraguay | Computer equipment |
| United States | Computer equipment |
| Quebec | Provides professional electrical services to Backbone |
| | Hosting Solutions Inc. and outside customers |
| Quebec | Computer equipment |
| | Israel Canada Argentina Paraguay United States Quebec |

Summary Description of the Business

The Company's primary business is the mining of cryptocurrency. Through its subsidiaries, the Company owns and operates server farms, composed of computers (referred to as "**Miners**") designed for the purpose of validating transactions on the Bitcoin Blockchain (referred to as "**Mining**"). Bitfarms generally operates Miners 24 hours a day producing computational power (measured by Hashrate) which it sells to Mining Pools (as defined herein), for a formula-driven rate commonly known in the industry as Full Pay Per Share ("**FPPS**"). Under FPPS, pools compensate Mining companies for their Hashrate based on what the pool would be expected to generate in revenue for a given time period if there was no randomness involved. The fee paid by a Mining Pool to Bitfarms for its Hashrate may be in cryptocurrency, U.S. dollars, or other currency. Bitfarms accumulates the cryptocurrency fees it receives or exchanges them for U.S. dollars, as determined to be needed, through reputable and established cryptocurrency trading platforms. The Company provides its Mining Pool with computing power (hashrate) over a 24-hour period and continues to record the recognition of revenue upon delivery of the service which generally coincides with the receipt of crypto assets in exchange for mining activities. Mining Pools generate revenue by Mining with purchased Hashrate through the accumulation of block rewards and transaction fees issued by the Bitcoin network. Mining Pools are purchasing Hashrate and take on risk with the aim to mine more blocks than they should in a given time period. See the 2022 AIF under the heading "DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS".

In the description of the business of the Company in this short amended and restated preliminary form base shelf prospectus:

"**Bitcoin**" shall refer to a decentralized digital currency that is not controlled by any centralized authority (e.g. a government, financial institution or regulatory organization) that can be sent from user to user on the Bitcoin network without the need for intermediaries to clear transactions. Transactions are verified through the process of Mining and recorded in a public ledger known as the Blockchain. Bitcoin is created when the Bitcoin network issues Block Rewards through the Mining process;

"Block Reward" shall refer to the new bitcoins that are awarded by the Blockchain network to eligible cryptocurrency Miners for each block they successfully mine. The current block reward is 6.25 Bitcoin per block;

"Blockchain" shall refer to a cloud-based public ledger that exists on computers that participate on the network globally. The Blockchain grows as new sets of data, or 'blocks', are added to it through Mining. Each block contains a timestamp and a link to the previous block, such that the series of blocks form a continuous chain. Given that each block has a separate Hash and each Hash requires information from the previous block, altering information an established block would require recalculating all the Hashes on the Blockchain which would require an enormous and impracticable amount of computing power. As a result, once a block is added to the Blockchain it is very difficult to edit and impossible to delete;

"Hash" shall refer to a function that converts or maps an input of letters and numbers into an encrypted output of a fixed length, which outputs are often referred to as Hashes. A Hash is created using an algorithm. The algorithm used in the validation of Bitcoin transactions is the SHA-256 algorithm.

"Hashrate" shall refer to the number of Hash operations performed per second and is a measure of computing power in Mining cryptocurrency;

"Mining Pool" shall refer to when cryptocurrency Miners aggregate their processing power or Hashrate over a network and Mine transactions together in order to increase the probability of finding a block on the Bitcoin Blockchain. Mining pools administer regular payouts to mitigate the risk of Miners operating for a prolonged period of time without finding a block; and

"**MW**" shall refer to a megawatt, which is 1,000 kilowatts of electricity and, in the industry of cryptocurrency mining, is typically a reference to the number of megawatts of electricity that is available for use.

Prior to January 2021, the Company routinely exchanged cryptocurrencies mined into U.S. dollars through reputable cryptocurrency trading platforms. At the beginning of Fiscal 2021, the Company implemented the Digital Asset Management Program under which the Company decided how many mined Bitcoin would be held by the Company through its custodians. See the 2022 AIF under the heading "DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS - Principal Market Overview – Digital Asset Management Program".

As of May 14, 2023, Bitfarms operates ten total server farms around the world. Seven server farm facilities are located in Québec, Canada, with electrical infrastructure capacity of 148 MW for Mining Bitcoin; one server farm facility is located in Washington State, United States, with operational electrical infrastructure capacity of 20 MW and expansion opportunities up to 24 MW; one server farm facility is located in Villarrica, Paraguay, with electrical infrastructure capacity of 10 MW; and one server farm facility is located in Argentina, with current operational electrical infrastructure capacity of 10 MW; and one server farm facility is located in Argentina, with current operational electrical infrastructure capacity of 50 MW, of which 29 MW are currently operating. The Company has contracts securing an aggregate of 158 MW, 10 MW and 24 MW of hydro-electric green energy in Quebec, Paraguay, and Washington, respectively, and up to 210 MW of natural gas energy in Argentina. The Company currently has a permit in place to draw up to 100 MW of the 210 MW from a private energy supplier; however, the Company may draw all 210 MW from the Argentina public energy grid at any time, without additional permits. In addition, Bitfarms owns proprietary software, known as the MGMT System, that is used to monitor, control, manage, report and secure mining operations. The MGMT System scans and reports the location, status, computing power and temperature of all Miners at regular intervals to allow the Company to monitor performance and maximize up-time. The MGMT System was substantially upgraded during 2022 and is continually being updated to enhance its features and improve its functionality. The revised system is referred to as MGMT-2.

Volta provides electrician services to both commercial and residential customers in Québec, while assisting Bitfarms in building and maintaining its server farms in Quebec.

Operations

The estimated working capital of the Company at August 31, 2023 is approximately \$53.7 million. In 2021, 2022 and the first six months of 2023, the Company raised capital through the issuance of common shares through its at-the-market equity offering program which commenced on August 16, 2021. The decrease in the Company's working capital through 2022 is attributable primarily to a decrease in the price of Bitcoin relative to prior years, the Company holding fewer Bitcoins, and the spending of capital on property, plant and equipment acquisitions for the Company's several expansions, which increased the Company's Hashrate to 5.3 EH/s in June 2023. As of the date hereof, the Company holds over 700 Bitcoins.

The Company's cash operating expenditures are estimated to approximate \$139.2 million for the next 12 months, or about \$11.6 million per month based on approximately \$7.6 million per month for energy costs of the Company's infrastructure that is estimated to reach 159 MW in Quebec, 20 MW in Washington State, 10 MW in Paraguay and 50 MW in Argentina at the blended contractual energy price of approximately \$0.045 USD/KwH or less, facilities expense of approximately \$0.5 million per month, cash compensation expense of approximately \$1.7 million per month and the balance for recurring professional fees and other ongoing general and administrative expenses of approximately \$1.8 million per month. Offsetting the impact to the Company's working capital of the cash operating expenditures are the generation of Bitcoin from operations. In the most recently completed month, June 2023, the Company generated 385 Bitcoin with a value of approximately \$10.6 million based on an average price of \$27,700 during the month. The Company's existing operations are contributing positively to the Company's working capital position and expected conditions. As described under "USE OF PROCEEDS", the Company's planned capital expenditures, including acquisitions, over the next 18 months are anticipated to be approximately \$100 million to \$300 million, which exceed the Company's current working capital position and expected contributions to working capital from the Company's existing operations. In the absence of additional financing, the Company will be unable to pursue certain growth targets, milestones and business objectives, as described under "USE OF PROCEEDS – Business Objectives and Milestones".

As of the date of this prospectus, the Company has raised net proceeds of approximately \$54.1 million and \$68.5 million in the 2022 financial year and in the year to date in 2023, respectively, through the issuance of common shares through its at-the-market equity offering program. The Company may be able to raise an additional approximately \$80.5 million from the exercise of outstanding warrants to purchase Common Shares. In addition to the foregoing and the proceeds of any financing pursuant to this prospectus, the Company may utilize debt facilities from existing and new lenders to the Company as well as borrowing against, or if necessary, liquidating, its Bitcoin inventory. Liquidating or borrowing against the Company's Bitcoin inventory is not anticipated to impact the Company's operating activities and its revenue stream from ongoing Mining operations.



More detailed information regarding the business of the Company as well as its mining operations can be found in the 2022 AIF under the heading "*DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS – Description of the Business*", the 2022 MD&A and the Interim MD&A, all of which are incorporated by reference herein.

Mining Profitability

It is not possible to determine with certainty the price of Bitcoin at which the Company's costs would exceed its revenues. This is because the price of Bitcoin and network difficulty are interdependent factors and must be analyzed together to determine whether the economics warrant pausing of mining activities. The Company would consider pausing mining activity if the network difficulty and Bitcoin price resulted in revenue per teraHash decreasing below 4 cents – a level at which the variable cost of mining (i.e. the incremental cost of mining Bitcoin) exceeds the revenue per teraHash. In such a circumstance, the Company would consider the long-term impact of pausing its operations, in addition to the direct economic impact.

At difficulty levels as at the end of August 2023, the Company's average direct mining cost per Bitcoin is approximately US\$17,000; however, the Company would likely be in a position to continue mining Bitcoin profitably if the price per Bitcoin decreased to this level. In the event that the price per Bitcoin decreased below approximately US\$17,000, the Company would expect that many other miners in the industry would earn revenue below their break-even cost of production and suspend operations. Consequently, the Company would expect that the network difficulty would decrease (causing the Company's cost per Bitcoin to also decrease). In the event that the price of Bitcoin decreases below US\$17,000 and network difficulty does not change, the Company may temporarily pause mining until the price surpasses the Company's average direct mining cost per Bitcoin.

Furthermore, in the event the network difficulty rises or the Bitcoin price decreases such that the direct mining cost exceeds the Hashrate per teraHash, the Company may consider reducing the clock rate of its miners, resulting in greater electrical efficiency and a lower direct mining cost per Bitcoin. See "*RISK FACTORS – Cryptocurrency Network Difficulty and Impact of Increased Global Computing Power*".

On August 8, 2023, network difficulty increased to over 55 trillion Hashes. As of the date hereof, network difficulty remains over 57 trillion Hashes. The increase in network difficulty has had the effect of reducing the Company's quantity of Bitcoin the Company mines on an ongoing basis, as the Company's Hashrate did not increase in proportion to the increase in network difficulty. Bitcoin mining difficulty increased by approximately 5 trillion Hashes, or about 10%, from the end of June to the end of August. Assuming no change in the Company's Hashrate, the Company would receive approximately 9% less Bitcoin due to the increase in Bitcoin mining difficulty. The reduction in the quantity of Bitcoin mined resulted in an increase of the Company's average direct mining cost per Bitcoin (as the costs incurred are allocated over fewer mined Bitcoins). In addition, revenues decreased as the Company mined fewer Bitcoins and the price of Bitcoin did not increase sufficiently to offset the decrease in the quantity mined.

Emerging Market

The Company conducts Mining operations in various jurisdictions, including in Argentina and Paraguay, which are deemed to be "emerging markets" generally and for Canadian securities law disclosure purposes. These operations are ran through the Company's subsidiaries, which are locally incorporated or established for the purposes of compliance with local laws; in the case of Argentina, through Backbone Hosting Solutions S.A.U.,, and in the case of Paraguay, through Backbone Hosting Solutions Paraguay S.A. Operating in Argentina and Paraguay, or any other emerging markets which the Company may choose to operate in at a future date, exposes the Company to risks and uncertainties that do not exist or are significantly less likely to exist in other jurisdictions where the Company operates, such as the United States or Canada. In order to mitigate these risks, the Company has implemented and observes corporate governance practices for itself and all of its operating subsidiaries, which include internal controls over financial reporting and disclosure controls. These systems are coordinated by the Company's senior management and the Board.

See "RISK FACTORS - Risks Related to Emerging Markets".

Argentina

Approximately 60% of the first 50 MW warehouse in the Rio Cuarto Facility (as that term is defined in the 2022 AIF) was fully commissioned during the first six months of 2023. While the Company is planning to operate 100% of the first warehouse during Q3 2023, it is currently assessing the timing and extent of the remaining buildout planned in Argentina, including the completion of additional warehouses. In 2022, due to importation restrictions and the Company's limited operating history in Argentina, the Company used external importation brokers to bring in Mining and IT equipment into the country. In 2023, the Company became a self-importer in Argentina which resulted in reduction of costs of importation and facilitate the delivery of Mining and IT equipment into the country. As of the date hereof, the private power supplier in Argentina has received a permit to provide 100 MW of energy to the Company; however, the Company has the option to operate with the energy provided directly from Argentina's energy grid. Should the Company elect to construct additional warehouses at the Rio Cuarto Facility, it is expected that the Company would request the power supplier to obtain a permit for the additional power requirements.

Paraguay

In January 2023, all of the older generation Miners at the Villarrica facility were replaced with approximately 2,900 new M30S Whatsminer Miners generating approximately 290 PH/s, a 165 PH/s increase, or 132%, compared to the Hashrate that was being produced by the older generation Miners. During the three months ended March 31, 2023, the Company reached an agreement and sold the older generation Miners to a third party for approximately \$0.2 million.

In July 2023, the Company acquired two power purchase agreements in Paraguay for up to 150 MW of eco-friendly hydro power: up to 50 MW in Villarrica, in close proximity to the Company's existing operations in Paraguay, and up to 100 MW in Iguazu, a new location close to the Itaipu dam, the third largest hydro-electric dam in the world.

At Villarrica, construction is scheduled to commence in the third quarter of 2023 beginning with a sub-station followed by building out a second mining facility consisting of a 30 MW air-cooled warehouse and 20 MW of containers, expected to be completed during the first quarter of 2024. In August 2023, the Company placed orders using vendor credits for eight 2.4 MW hydro containers and approximately 1,900 Miners capable of producing approximately 675 PH/s once installed. The new facility will be referred to as the Paso Pe farm.

At Iguazu, the Company has the opportunity to develop a new farm with up to 100 MW of mining capacity, the timeline for which is being determined. Hydro power at both locations will be provided at a contracted cost of approximately \$0.039 per kWh and is not subject to annual inflationary adjustments.

Non-GAAP Measures

The Company utilizes a number of non-IFRS financial measures and ratios in assessing operating performance. These non-IFRS measures do not have any standardized meaning and therefore are unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented by other issuers and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance prepared in accordance with IFRS. Management uses these non-IFRS measures to supplement the analysis and evaluation of operating performance. Below is a reconciliation of the Company's cash cost of production per Bitcoin and direct cost per Bitcoin for the second quarter of 2023.

A) Reconciliation of direct cost per Bitcoin

| (U.S.\$ in thousands except where indicated) | Three months ended June 30, 2023 | Three months ended June 30, 2022 |
|--|---|---|
| Cost of revenues | 41,519 | 32,311 |
| Depreciation expense | (20,528) | (17,857) |
| Purchases of electrical components | (620) | (257) |
| Electrician salaries and payroll taxes | (455) | (306) |
| Infrastructure expense | (761) | (1,480) |
| Other | - | 236 |
| Total direct cost | 19,155 | 12,647 |
| BTC mined | 1,223 | 1,257 |
| Direct cost per Bitcoin (in U.S. dollars) | 15,700 | 10,100 |

B) Reconciliation of cash cost of production per Bitcoin

| | Three months ended | Three months ended |
|---|-----------------------|-----------------------|
| | June 30, | June 30, |
| (U.S.\$ in thousands except where indicated) | 2023 | 2022 |
| Net loss before income taxes | 24,988 | 161,234 |
| Revenues | 35,479 | 41,815 |
| Depreciation expense | (20,528) | (17,857) |
| Purchases of electrical components | (620) | (257) |
| Electrician salaries and payroll taxes | (455) | (306) |
| Share-based payment | (2,462) | (7,927) |
| Realized loss on disposition of digital assets | - | (77,800) |
| Unrealized loss on revaluation of digital assets | - | (70,475) |
| Gain (loss) on disposition of property, plant and equipment | 7 | (948) |
| Impairment on short-term prepaid deposits | (9,982) | (17,900) |
| Net financial income | 182 | 11,857 |
| Other | - | 236 |
| Total cash cost | 26,602 | 21,592 |
| BTC mined | 1,223 | 1,257 |
| Total cash cost per Bitcoin (in U.S. dollars) | 21,800 | 17,200 |

Regulatory Compliance

The Company has engaged legal counsel in each jurisdiction in which it maintains operations to monitor changes to the laws and regulations of such jurisdiction and to advise how it can maintain compliance with such laws and regulations. Legal counsel reports directly to the President and Chief Executive Officer. The following is a discussion of regulatory compliance considerations specific to each such jurisdiction.

Québec, Canada

The Company operates a total of eight server farms with an aggregate power capacity of 153 MW located in the Province of Québec, Canada. See the 2022 AIF under the heading "DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS – Recently Completed Development and Future Growth Plans – Sherbrooke Expansion".

There are no material restrictions in Québec or Canada on the business of operating a server farm or conducting the business of the Company as described herein and in the 2022 AIF, and as of the date hereof, the Company has not received any material notices or statements from regulatory authorities in the Québec or Canada that would negatively impact its operations in Québec or Canada. The Company is not relying on any registrations, exemptions, or "no action" letters to conduct its business in Québec or Canada.

Washington, United Status

The Company operates one 20 MW server farm located in the State of Washington in the United States. See the 2022 AIF under the heading "DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS – Recently Completed Development and Future Growth Plans – The State of Washington in the United States Expansion".

There are no material restrictions in Washington on the business of operating a server farm or conducting the business of the Company as described herein and in the 2022 AIF, and as of the date hereof, the Company has not received any material notices or statements from regulatory authorities in Washington that would negatively impact its operations in Washington. The Company is not relying on any registrations, exemptions, or "no action" letters to conduct its business in Washington.

Argentina

The Company operates one 29 MW server farm located in Córdoba, Argentina (with an electrical infrastructure capacity of 50 MW). See the 2022 AIF under the heading "DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS – Recently Completed Development and Future Growth Plans – Argentina Expansion".

There are no material restrictions in Argentina on the business of operating a server farm or conducting the business of the Company as described herein and in the 2022 AIF, and as of the date hereof, the Company has not received any material notices or statements from regulatory authorities in Argentina that would negatively impact its operations in Argentina. The Company is not relying on any registrations, exemptions, or "no action" letters to conduct its business in Argentina.

Paraguay

The Company operates one 10 MW server farm located in Villarrica, Paraguay. See the 2022 AIF under the heading "DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS – Recently Completed Development and Future Growth Plans – Paraguay Expansion".

There are no material restrictions in Paraguay on the business of operating a server farm or conducting the business of the Company as described herein and in the 2022 AIF, and as of the date hereof, the Company has not received any material notices or statements from regulatory authorities in Paraguay that would negatively impact its operations in Paraguay. The Company is not relying on any registrations, exemptions, or "no action" letters to conduct its business in Paraguay.

Custody of Cryptocurrency Assets

The Company's cryptocurrency assets, currently Bitcoin, are mined to multi-signature wallets that the Company controls or directly to an external thirdparty custodian, and all of the Company's Bitcoins are held in cold storage. On a regular basis, the Company transfers Bitcoin from its multi-signature wallets to an external third-party custodian, Coinbase Trust Company, LLC (**"Coinbase Custody**"). Coinbase Custody is a US-based fiduciary and qualified custodian under New York Banking Law, is licensed by the State of New York to custody digital assets and regulated by the New York State Department of Financial Services. Currently, Coinbase Custody provides only custodial services to the Company and does not use a sub-custodian. Coinbase Custody is not a related party to the Company. Coinbase Custody is a fiduciary under § 100 of the New York Banking Law and is licensed to custody its clients' digital assets in trust on their behalf. Coinbase Custody is a qualified custodian for purposes of § 206 (4) -2(d)(6) of the U.S. Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended.

The Company is not aware of anything with regards to its custodial arrangements that would adversely affect its ability to obtain an unqualified audit opinion with respect to its audited financial statements. The Company reviews the custodian's SOC reports on a quarterly basis and shares them with its auditors. The Company's Bitcoins are held within segregated wallets on the blockchain and can always be monitored. The Company exclusively uses recognized custodians that have efficient internal controls in place. As a contingency plan that would have minimal impact on the Company's operations, the Company has its own multi-signature wallets and has onboarded with other well respected recognized custodians.

As of August 7, 2023, the Company has accumulated 623 Bitcoin, valued at \$17.9 million on its balance sheet. As of the date of this prospectus, 99% of the Company's Bitcoin are held in custody with Coinbase Custody or held as collateral within Coinbase Custody by NYDIG, the counterparty to the Company's equipment financing.

Coinbase Custody maintains an insurance policy of \$320 million for its cold storage; however, the Company cannot ensure that the limits of this policy would be available to the Company or, if available, sufficient to make the Company whole for any Bitcoin that are lost or stolen. The Company is unaware of any security breaches involving Coinbase Custody which have resulted in the Company's cryptocurrency assets being lost or stolen. The Company's cryptocurrency assets held in custody with Coinbase may not be recoverable in the event of bankruptcy by Coinbase or its affiliates. In its quarterly report on Form 10-Q filed with the U.S. Securities Exchange Commission on August 3, 2023, Coinbase disclosed that, in the event of a bankruptcy, custodially held cryptocurrency assets held in custody could be the property of the bankruptcy estate and that the cryptocurrency assets held in custody could be subject to bankruptcy proceedings with Coinbase Custody's customers being treated as general unsecured creditors.

Regardless of efforts made by the Company to securely store and safeguard assets, there can be no assurance that cryptocurrency assets will not be defalcated through hacking or other forms of theft. See "*RISK FACTORS*".

2021 At-the-Market Offering

The Company previously entered into an at-the-market offering agreement dated August 16, 2021 (the "**ATM Agreement**") with H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC ("**HCW**") as agent, pursuant to which the Company established an at-the-market equity program (the "**ATM Program**"). Pursuant to the ATM Program, the Company was able to, at its discretion and from time-to time during the term of the ATM Agreement, sell, through HCW, Common Shares in accordance with the ATM Agreement. Provided that the Company files a final short form base shelf prospectus to which this Prospectus relates and an accompanying prospectus supplement relating to the ATM Agreement, the sales of Common Shares in the future, if any, through HCW will be made through "at-the-market" issuances, including, without limitation, sales made directly on the Nasdaq Stock Market or another trading market for the shares in the United States at the market price prevailing at the time of each sale.

Digital Asset Management Program

The Company's Digital Asset Management Program commenced in early January 2021 following the implementation of internal controls, counter-party risk assessments and custody arrangement reviews. The Company holds Bitcoin for its intrinsic value and as a source of liquidity. Rather than selling all Bitcoin mined at then-prevailing market rates, the Company decided to retain Bitcoin through its custodial arrangements.

Retaining Bitcoin allowed the Company flexibility in deciding when or whether to sell the assets based on prevailing market conditions. With the decrease in Bitcoin prices during late 2021 and 2022, coupled with the high price of mining hardware, the Company converted a portion of its cash position into Bitcoin with a purchase of 1,000 Bitcoin during the first week of 2022. In June 2022, attending to market conditions, the Board approved the sale of the Company's daily Bitcoin production to reduce indebtedness and increase financial flexibility.

The Company has implemented internal controls and custody arrangements to minimize the risk of loss or theft of the retained Bitcoin. Within the Company, there is a segregation of duties to ensure no individual has the ability to unilaterally perform a Bitcoin transaction. Every Bitcoin transfer requires the approval of two different authorized individuals. All Bitcoin transfers are monitored and monthly reconciliations are performed by individuals that are external from the transaction process. The Company retains Coinbase Trust Company LLC as its third-party custodian. Coinbase Trust Company LLC is a US-based fiduciary and qualified custodian under New York Banking Law and is licensed by the State of New York to custody digital assets.

Every Bitcoin mined is kept or sold based on the Company's liquidity and operational needs. The Company has no specific target or intention with the Bitcoins it produces from Mining operations. Rather, the Company assesses on an on-going basis whether retention on one hand or sales on the other hand support its stated business objectives, considering factors both internal and external to the Company itself. Some Bitcoins are used as collateral as described in the financial statements.

The Company has many controls within the Company itself and within Coinbase, its Bitcoin custodian. Within the Company, there is a segregation of duties to ensure no individual has the ability to perform a Bitcoin transaction alone. Every Bitcoin movement requires the approval of two different individuals. The Bitcoin movement is monitored and monthly reconciliations are performed by individuals who are external from the transaction process. Within Coinbase, every Bitcoin is held in a cold wallet. One initiator and two approvers (CEO, CFO, VP finance) are needed to complete a transaction and video calls are needed for a transfer to a third-party.

See the 2022 AIF under the heading "DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS – Business and Strategy – Digital Asset Management Program".

Baie-Comeau Expansion

On April 11, 2023, the Company announced that it had entered into an agreement to acquire 22 MW of hydro power capacity from the City of Baie-Comeau and to lease a site in Baie-Comeau, Quebec to build the infrastructure necessary to conduct mining operations (the "**Baie-Comeau Expansion**"). In connection with the Baie-Comeau Expansion, on July 5, 2023, the Company issued an aggregate of 820,837 Common Shares to 12790963 Canada Inc. See "RISK FACTORS – General Risk Factors – Economic Dependence on Regulated Terms of Service and Electricity Rates Risks."

Consolidation

On May 24, 2023, the shareholders of the Company approved a consolidation (the "**Consolidation**") of the Common shares on the basis of one (1) post-Consolidation Common Share for up to ten (10) pre-Consolidation Common Shares, as may determined by the board of directors of the Company, in its sole discretion. As of the date hereof, the Company does not intend to proceed with the Consolidation.

Audit Committee Composition

As a result of the resignation of Pierre Seccareccia, the Company appointed Edie Hofmeister to the audit committee and Brian Howlett has been appointed as the audit committee chairman. As of the date hereof, the audit committee is composed of Brian Howlett (chair), Edie Hofmeister, and Andres Finkielsztain. All members of the newly composed audit committee are independent and financially literate.

PROMOTERS

The following table sets forth the promoters ("**Promoters**") of the Company:

| Name | Class of Securities Owned | Quantity of Securities Owned | % of Class ⁽³⁾ |
|--------------------------------------|---------------------------|------------------------------------|------------------------------|
| Emiliano Joel Grodzki ⁽¹⁾ | Common Shares | 6,698,443 | 2.40% |
| Nicolas Bonta ⁽²⁾ | Common Shares | 8,542,118 | 3.07% |
| Total | | 15,240,561 | 5.47 [%] |

Notes:

- (1) In addition to the Bitfarms Canada Shares noted in the table above, Mr. Grodzki holds 2,214,900 options to purchase Bitfarms Canada Shares at an average price of C\$2.05 per Bitfarms Canada Share and 100,000RSUs (as defined below).
- (2) In addition to the Bitfarms Canada Shares noted in the table above, Mr. Bonta holds 2,214,900 options to purchase Bitfarms Canada Shares at an average price of C\$2.05 per Bitfarms Canada Share and 100,000 RSUs.
- (3) A total of 278,694,165 Bitfarms Canada Shares are issued and outstanding as of the date hereof.

No Promoter was within 10 years before the date of this prospectus a director, chief executive officer, or chief financial officer of any person or company that: (a) was subject to an order that was issued while the Promoter was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer; or (b) was subject to an order that was issued after the Promoter ceased to be a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer and which resulted from an event that occurred while the Promoter was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer.

No Promoter has: (a) been within the 10 years before the date of this prospectus a director or executive officer of any person or company that, while the Promoter was acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets, state the fact; or (b) become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or became subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the promoter, state the fact.

No Promoter has been subject to: (a) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to provincial and territorial securities legislation or by a provincial and territorial securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a provincial and territorial securities regulatory authority; or (b) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would be likely to be considered important to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision.

SECONDARY OFFERING BY SELLING SECURITYHOLDERS

Securities may be sold under this prospectus by way of a secondary offering by or for the account of Selling Securityholders; however, no such sale of securities will compose any at-the-market distribution which may be offered pursuant to a prospectus supplement to this Prospectus. The prospectus supplement for or including any offering of Securities by Selling Securityholders will include the following information, to the extent required by applicable securities laws:

- the name or names of the Selling Securityholders;
- the number or amount of Securities owned, controlled or directed by each Selling Securityholder;
- the number or amount of Securities being distributed for the account of each Selling Securityholder;
- the number or amount of Securities to be owned, controlled or directed by the Selling Securityholders after the distribution and the percentage that number or amount represents of the total number of the Company's outstanding Securities;
- whether the Securities are owned by the Selling Securityholders both of record and beneficially, of record only, or beneficially only;
- if the Selling Securityholder purchased any of the Securities in the 24 months preceding the date of the applicable prospectus supplement, the date or dates the Selling Securityholder acquired the Securities;
- if the Selling Securityholder acquired any of the Securities in the 12 months preceding the date of the applicable prospectus supplement, the cost thereof to the Selling Securityholder in aggregate and on an average-cost-per-security basis;
- if applicable, the disclosure required by item 1.11 of Form 41-101F1, and if applicable, the Selling Securityholders will file a non-issuer's submission to jurisdiction form with the corresponding prospectus supplement; and
- all other information that is required to be included in the applicable prospectus supplement.

RISK FACTORS

Investing in the Company's securities is speculative and involves a high degree of risk due to the nature of the Company's business and the present stage of its development. The following risk factors, as well as risks currently unknown to us, could materially and adversely affect the Company's future business, operations and financial condition and could cause them to differ materially from the estimates described in forward-looking statements relating to the Company, or its business or financial results, each of which could cause purchasers of the Company's securities to lose part or all of their investment. The risks set out below are not the only risks we face; risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial may also materially and adversely affect the Company's business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. You should also refer to the other information set forth or incorporated by reference in this prospectus or any applicable prospectus supplement, including the Company's 2022 AIF and the 2022 MD&A and annual financial statements, and the related notes. A prospective investor should carefully consider the risk factors set out below along with the other matters set out or incorporated by reference in this prospectus.

Discussions of certain risks affecting the Company in connection with the Company's business are provided in our annual and interim disclosure documents filed with the various securities regulatory authorities which are incorporated by reference in this prospectus.

General Risk Factors

Management of growth and expansion

The Company has experienced, and may continue to experience, rapid growth in the scope of its operations. This growth has resulted in increased responsibilities for the Company's existing personnel, the hiring of additional personnel and, in general, higher levels of operating expenses. In order to manage its current operations and any future growth effectively, the Company will need to continue to implement and improve its operational, internal controls, financial, and management information systems, as well as hire, manage and retain its employees and maintain its corporate culture including technical and operational service standards. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to manage such growth effectively or that its management, personnel or systems will be adequate to support the Company's operations.

Currency Exchange Risk

The Company is exposed to fluctuations in currency exchange rates which could negatively affect our financial condition and results of operations. In particular, exchange rate fluctuations may affect the costs that the Company incurs in its operations. Cryptocurrencies are generally sold in U.S. dollars and the Company's costs are incurred principally in Canadian dollars. Certain of the Company's subsidiaries also conduct day-to-day operations using Argentine pesos. The appreciation of non-U.S. dollar currencies against the U.S. dollar could increase the cost of Mining in U.S. dollar terms. In addition, the Company holds cash balances in both U.S. dollars and Canadian dollars, the values of which are impacted by fluctuations in currency exchange rates.

Insurance risks

Where considered practical to do so, the Company intends to maintain insurance against risks in the operation of its business and in amounts that it believes to be reasonable. Such insurance, however, will contain exclusions and limitations on coverage. There can be no assurance that such insurance will continue to be available, will be available at economically acceptable premiums or will be adequate to cover any resulting liability. The novelty of the industry has impaired and may continue to impair the ability of the Company to acquire adequate insurance coverage for risks associated with its operations. The occurrence of an event that is not covered, in full or in part, by insurance may cause substantial economic damage to the Company. In some cases, such as with respect to environmental risks, coverage is not available or considered too expensive relative to the perceived risk.

The Company's Bitcoin, which is held in custody by Coinbase Custody, is not insured. Although Coinbase Custody maintains an insurance policy of \$320 million for its cold storage, the limits of that policy may not be available to the Company or, if available, sufficient to make the Company whole for any Bitcoin that are lost or stolen from its account. Therefore, a loss may be suffered with respect to the Company's Bitcoin that is not covered by insurance and for which no person is liable in damages.

Any losses incurred by the Company for which insurance coverage is not available or has not been obtained could adversely impact the Company, including its financial condition and results of operations.



Bitcoin Halving Events

The Bitcoin reward for solving a block is subject to periodic incremental Halving. Halving is a process designed to control the overall supply and reduce the risk of inflation in Bitcoin using a proof of work consensus algorithm. At a predetermined block, the Mining reward is cut in half, hence the term "Halving." The Bitcoin blockchain has undergone Halvings three times since its inception. Most recently, in May 2020, the Bitcoin block reward decreased from 12.5 to 6.25 Bitcoin per block (a "Bitcoin Halving"), and, consequently, the number of new Bitcoin issued to Miners as a subsidy decreased to approximately 900 per day, excluding transaction fees.

The May 2020 Bitcoin Halving had a significant negative impact on the Company's profitability for several months following the Bitcoin Halving. It took approximately six months for the Company's revenue per terahash to return to the level experienced prior to the May 2020 Bitcoin Halving. Given that profitability is required for self-acting agents to perform Mining to continue to support the validation of transactions, the expected impact of the Bitcoin Halving is that market variables of Bitcoin price will adjust over time to ensure that Mining remains profitable. The period of market normalization after the next Bitcoin Halving to incentivizing profitability levels is unknown.

A Bitcoin Halving is scheduled to occur once every 210,000 blocks, or roughly every four years, until the total amount of Bitcoin rewards issued reaches 21 million, which is expected to occur around the year 2140. The next Bitcoin Halving is expected to occur in late April or early May 2024. Once 21 million Bitcoin are generated, the network will stop producing more. While Bitcoin prices have had a history of price fluctuations around Bitcoin Halving events, there is no guarantee that the price change will be favorable or would compensate for the reduction in Mining reward.

If Bitcoin price and difficulty do not maintain or continue their trend of adjusting to pre-Bitcoin Halving profitability levels over time, or the period of market normalization after the Bitcoin Halving to pre-Bitcoin Halving profitability levels is too long, there is a risk that the Bitcoin Halving will render the Company unprofitable for a sustained time period such that it could be unable to continue as a going concern.

Valuation and Price Volatility of Cryptocurrencies

The profitability of the Company's operations has been and will continue to be significantly affected by changes in the spot price of cryptocurrencies, specifically Bitcoin. Cryptocurrency prices (and Bitcoin prices in particular) are highly volatile, fluctuating due to numerous factors beyond the Company's control, including speculation and incomplete information, rapidly changing investor sentiment, changes in technology, regulatory changes, fraudulent or malicious actors, coverage of cryptocurrency in the media, inflation, and political or economic events as well as market acceptance and demand for cryptocurrency. The market price of one Bitcoin in the Company's principal market, ranged from approximately \$15,600 to \$48,100 during the year ended December 31, 2022 and ranged from approximately \$28,700 to \$68,800 during the year ended December 31, 2021. Because the Company hedges only a small portion of its investment in Bitcoin, the Company is directly exposed to Bitcoin's price volatility and surrounding risks.

Currently, the Company does not use a formula or specific methodology to determine whether or when it will sell Bitcoin that it holds, or the number of Bitcoin it will sell. Rather, decisions to hold or sell bitcoins are currently determined by management by analyzing forecasts and monitoring the market in real time. Such decisions, however well-informed, may result in untimely sales and even losses, adversely affecting an investment in the Company. Further, some of the business decisions (for example, purchases of Miners and debt financing) the Company has made, and will in future make, were or will be tied to the prices of Bitcoin at the time of those decisions. For example, the Company made purchase commitments in respect of a significant number of new Miners while Bitcoin and Miner prices were much higher, and, although the Company has been able to cancel some of those purchase commitments, that may not always be possible. If cryptocurrency spot prices decline and remain at low market levels for a sustained period while network difficulty does not decrease proportionally, the Company's results of operations and financial condition, as well as the trading price of the Company's common shares, could be materially adversely affected.

Cryptocurrencies may be subject to momentum pricing, which is typically associated with growth stocks and other assets whose valuation, as determined by the investing public, accounts for anticipated future appreciation in value. Cryptocurrency market prices are determined primarily using data from various exchanges, over-the-counter markets, and derivative platforms. Momentum pricing may have resulted, and may continue to result, in speculation regarding future appreciation in the value of cryptocurrencies, inflating their market prices and making those market prices more volatile. As a result, cryptocurrency market prices may be more likely to fluctuate due to changing investor confidence in future appreciation (or depreciation) in their market prices, which could adversely affect the value proposition of the Company.



In addition, the securities markets have from time to time experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that are unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies. Specifically, the trading price of the Company's common shares has already been correlated, and, in the future, is likely to continue to be highly correlated, to the trading prices of Bitcoin. Bitcoin Mining companies' stock has shown volatility relative to Bitcoin, with many such stocks outperforming Bitcoin in 2020 and 2021 but underperforming relative to Bitcoin in 2022. For example, the closing price of the Company's common shares on December 31, 2021 was \$5.05 and the closing price of Bitcoin was approximately \$46,200 and, as of December 30, 2022, the closing price of the Company's common shares was \$0.44 and the closing price of Bitcoin was approximately \$16,500. The Company's operating results and financial condition have been and may continue to be adversely affected by declines in cryptocurrency market prices. In addition, the Company made decisions concerning the execution of its business plan, including the development of its facilities and expansion into new markets, purchases of new Miners and incurrence of indebtedness, when Bitcoin prices were significantly higher than they currently are, resulting in plans and obligations that the Company reassesses and likely will continue to reassess, particularly in light of general declines in cryptocurrency market prices, to determine the practicality, profitability and timeline of such plans and commitments.

Volatility may have an impact on the value of the Company's inventory of cryptocurrencies and could result in margin calls on the Company's long-term debt collateral Bitcoin with NYDIG as described in Note 17 - Long-term Debt to the 2022 Annual Financial Statements.

Share Price Fluctuations

In recent years, the securities markets have experienced a high level of price and volume volatility, and the market price of securities of many companies, particularly those considered development stage companies (such as the Company), have experienced wide fluctuations in price which have not necessarily been related to the operating performance, underlying asset values or prospects of such companies. There can be no assurance that continued fluctuations in price will not occur.

In recent years, the securities markets have experienced a high level of price and volume volatility, and the market price of securities of many companies, particularly those in cryptocurrency-focused businesses and those considered development stage companies (such as the Company), have experienced wide fluctuations in price. The market price of the Company's common shares ranged from US\$0.38 to US\$5.39 on Nasdaq and CAD \$0.52 to CAD \$6.83 on the TSXV and Toronto Stock Exchange from January 1, 2022, to December 31, 2022. The market price of the Company's common shares fluctuates significantly in response to a number of factors, most of which the Company cannot control. In particular, the trading price of the Company's common shares is in many cases directly tied to the price of Bitcoin. Other factors that may impact the trading price of the Company's common shares include:

- variations in the Company's financial results or those of companies that are perceived to be similar to the Company;
- actions by the Company or its competitors, such as acquisitions, bankruptcies or restructurings;
- additions or departures of key management personnel;
- legal proceedings involving the Company, the cryptocurrency industry, or both;
- legislative or regulatory actions;
- changes in market valuations of companies similar to the Company;
- the prospects of and changes affecting participants in the cryptocurrency industry;
- actions by the Company's shareholders;
- speculation or reports by the press or investment community with respect to the Company or the cryptocurrency industry in general;
- changes in the pricing or availability of hydroelectricity, natural gas and other sources of energy;
- general economic, regulatory, market and political conditions; and
- other risks, uncertainties and factors described in these risk factors.

The stock markets in general have often experienced volatility that has sometimes been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of particular companies. These broad market fluctuations have caused, and may continue to cause, the trading price of the Company's common shares to decline. A continuation or worsening of the levels of market disruption and volatility seen in the recent past could have an adverse effect on the Company's ability to access capital, on its business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flow and prospects, and on the market price of its common shares. In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company's securities, securities class-action litigation has often been brought against that company. The Company may become involved in this type of litigation in the future. Litigation of this type may be expensive to defend and may divert management's attention and resources from the operation of the Company's business.

In addition, since the Company's common shares currently trade on the Nasdaq Global Market, the Company must comply with Nasdaq's continued listing requirements to avoid its common shares being delisted. The standards include, among others, a minimum bid price requirement of \$1.00 per share and any of: (i) a minimum stockholders' equity of \$10 million; (ii) a market value of listed securities of \$50 million; or (iii) total assets or total revenue from continuing operations of \$50 million in the most recently completed fiscal year or in two of the last three fiscal years. The Company's results of operations and fluctuating share price directly impact its ability to satisfy these listing standards. Nasdaq notified the Company on December 13, 2022 that it did not satisfy the minimum bid price requirement under Nasdaq's continued listing rules. If the Company is unable to re-establish and maintain compliance with Nasdaq's listing standards, the Company's common shares may be subject to delisting. A delisting from Nasdaq would result in the Company's common shares being eligible for quotation on the over-the-counter (OTC) market, which is generally considered to be a less efficient market than listing on national exchanges such as NASDAQ because of the OTC's lower trading volumes, transaction delays, and reduced security analyst and news media coverage. These factors could contribute to lower prices and larger spreads in the bid and ask prices for the Company's common shares.

Future Capital Needs, Uncertainty of Additional Financing and Dilution

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had cash of \$30.9 million compared to \$125.6 million as of December 31, 2022. The Company expects to continue to depend upon selling Bitcoin mined and in treasury and utilizing short-term debt, long-term debt and equity instruments to fund its ongoing expansion activities, operating expenses and debt service requirements. Further, the Company expects that it will need to raise additional capital in the future to fund more rapid expansion, respond to competitive pressures, acquire complementary businesses or technologies or take advantage of unanticipated opportunities, and it may seek to do so through public of private financing, strategic relationships or other arrangements. The ability of the Company to secure any required financing to sustain operations and expansion plans will depend in part upon prevailing capital market conditions and business success. There can be no assurance that the Company will be successful in its efforts to secure any additional financing or additional financing on terms satisfactory to management. Even if such funding is available, the Company cannot predict the size of future issues of common shares or securities convertible into common shares or the effect, if any, that future issues and sales of the common shares will have on the price of the shares.

If additional funds are raised through the issuance of equity securities, the percentage ownership of the shareholders of the Company will be reduced, shareholders may experience additional dilution in net book value per share, or such equity securities may have rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of the holders of the common shares. If additional funds are raised through the incurrence of indebtedness, such indebtedness may involve restrictive covenants that impair the ability of the Company to pursue its growth strategy and other aspects of its business plan, expose the company to greater interest rate risk and volatility, require the Company to dedicate a substantial portion of its cash flow from operations to payments on its indebtedness, thereby reducing the availability of its cash flow to fund working capital, capital expenditures, increase the Company's vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions, place the Company at a competitive disadvantage compared to its competitors that have less debt, limit the Company's ability to borrow additional funds, otherwise subject the Company to the risks discussed under Indebtedness below and heighten the possible effects of the other risks discussed in these risk factors.

If adequate funds are not available on acceptable terms or at all, the Company may be unable to develop or enhance its business, take advantage of future opportunities or respond to competitive pressures, any of which could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition and operating results.

Indebtedness

The Company is party to various arrangements with short-term and long-term lenders as described in more detail in the 2022 AIF, and the Company may become party to additional debt financing arrangements in the future. The Company's ability to generate and maintain a level of cash flows from operating activities to make scheduled payments on any debt obligations, or to refinance its debt obligations, will depend on, among other things, its future financial and operating performance, which is subject to prevailing economic and competitive conditions and to various financial, business, regulatory and other factors, some of which are beyond the Company's control. If the Company is unable to fulfill its debt service obligations, it may be forced to reduce or delay capital expenditures or sell assets, seek additional capital or seek to restructure or refinance its indebtedness. Further, any such indebtedness may impair the Company's ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures, debt service requirements, restructuring, acquisitions or general corporate purposes.

In addition, any agreements governing the Company's debt obligations may contain financial covenants and covenants that restrict the Company's and its subsidiaries' ability to:

- incur additional indebtedness or issue equity securities;
- create liens on the Company's assets;
- pay dividends or make other equity distributions;
- repurchase the Company's equity securities;

- make certain investments;
- sell assets; and
- consolidate, merge, sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of the Company's assets.

As a result of those and any other covenants, the Company could be limited in the manner in which it conducts its business, and it may be unable to engage in favorable business activities or finance future operations or capital needs. Any violation by the Company of any of these covenants or failure by the Company to meet payment obligations (as recently was the case in respect of the Company's strategic decision to delay the making of principal and interest payments on its previously outstanding loan from BlockFi, a digital asset lender) could provide the lender with the ability to accelerate the maturity of the indebtedness and exercise a variety of remedies, including foreclosing on any collateral securing the debt.

Global Financial Conditions

Global financial conditions over the last few years have been characterized by volatility and the bankruptcy of several financial institutions or the rescue thereof by governmental authorities. These factors may affect the ability of the Company to obtain equity or debt financing in the future on terms favorable to it. Additionally, these factors, as well as other related factors, may cause decreases in asset values that are deemed to be other than temporary, which may result in impairment losses. If such levels of volatility and market turmoil continue, the operations of the Company may suffer adverse impact and the price of the Company's common shares may be adversely affected.

In the future, the Company may enter into certain hedging transactions to mitigate its exposure to aspects of the economy or specific economic conditions that are particularly volatile, including the market price of Bitcoin and interest rates. If the Company engages in hedging transactions, the Company may expose itself to risks associated with such transactions. Hedging against a decline in the values of portfolio investments caused by interest rate risk or volatile Bitcoin market prices does not eliminate the possibility of fluctuations in the values of such positions or prevent losses if the values of such positions decline for other reasons. Such hedging transactions may also limit the opportunity for gain if the values of the portfolio investments should increase. Moreover, it may not be possible to hedge against a particular fluctuation that is so generally anticipated by the markets that a hedging transaction at an acceptable price is unavailable. In light of these and other factors, the Company may not be successful in mitigating its exposure to volatile economic conditions through any hedging transactions it undertakes.

Possibility of Bitcoin Mining Algorithms Transitioning to Proof of Stake Validation

Proof of stake is an alternative method of validating cryptocurrency transactions. If Bitcoin shifts from a proof of work validation method to a proof of stake validation method, Mining would require less energy and may render any company that maintains advantages in the current climate (lower priced electricity, processing, real estate, or hosting) less competitive. Another prominent cryptocurrency, Ether, in September 2022, shifted from proof of work to a proof of stake validation method. The Company, as a result of its efforts to optimize and improve the efficiency of its Bitcoin Mining operations, may be exposed to the risk in the future of losing the benefit of the Company's capital investments and the competitive advantage the Company hopes to gain from this as a result, and may be negatively impacted if a switch to proof of stake validation were to occur. Such events could have a material adverse effect on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern or to pursue its strategy at all, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, prospects or operations and potentially the value of any Bitcoin that the Company mines or otherwise acquires or holds for its own account.

Debt Covenants

The agreements governing the Company's long-term debt contain restrictive covenants that could limit its discretion with respect to certain business matters.

Limited Operating History

The Company has only a limited operating history upon which an evaluation of the Company and its prospects can be based. The Company is subject to many risks common to venture enterprises, including under-capitalization, potential cash shortages, limitations with respect to personnel, financial and other resources and the lack of revenues. There is no assurance that the Company will be successful in achieving a return on shareholders' investment or meeting other metrics of success.



Employee Retention and Growth

The Company depends on a number of key employees, including, in particular, the members of the Company's management team, the departure, death, disability or other extended loss of services of any of whom, particularly with little or no notice, could cause delays on projects, frustrate the Company's growth prospects and could have an adverse impact on the Company's industry relationships, the Company's project exploration and development programs, other aspects of its business and its financial condition, results of operations, cash flow and prospects. The Company does not expect to purchase key person insurance on such individuals, which insurance would provide the Company with insurance proceeds in the event of their death.

The growth and development of the business of the Company will also depend on its ability to attract and retain highly qualified management and Mining personnel while maintaining its corporate culture and technical and service standards. The Company will face competition for personnel from other employers. If the Company is unable to attract or retain qualified personnel as required, it may not be able to adequately manage and implement its business plan. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to manage such growth effectively or that its management, personnel, or systems will be adequate to support the Company's operations.

Cybersecurity Threats and Hacking

Malicious actors may seek to exploit vulnerabilities within cryptocurrency programming codes. Several errors and defects have been found and corrected, including those that disabled some functionality for users and exposed users' information. Discovery of flaws in or exploitations of the source code that allow malicious actors to take or create cryptocurrency or money occur somewhat regularly. For example, hackers have been able to gain unauthorized access to digital wallets and cryptocurrency exchanges.

The computer network operated by the Company may be vulnerable to intrusions by hackers who could interfere with and introduce defects to the Mining operation. Private keys which enable holders to transfer funds may also be lost or stolen, resulting in irreversible losses of cryptocurrencies.

Limited History of De-centralized Financial System

Compared to traditional and existing centralized financial systems, the cryptocurrency financial system is relatively new and has only limited history. Online cryptocurrency exchanges and trades therein operate with comparatively little regulation and are particularly liable to platform failures and fraudulent activities, which may have an effect on underlying prices of cryptocurrencies. In fact, many of the largest online cryptocurrency exchanges have been compromised by hackers.

In light of those and other factors, traditional banks and banking services may limit or refuse the provision of banking services to businesses that supply cryptocurrencies as payment and may refuse to accept money derived from cryptocurrency-related businesses. This may make the establishment and management of bank accounts held by companies operating in the field difficult. To the extent that the Company experiences any such banking challenges, they could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, prospects or operations and potentially the value of any Bitcoin or other cryptocurrencies the Company mines or otherwise acquires or holds for its own account.

Risk Related to Technological Obsolescence and Difficulty in Obtaining Hardware

To remain competitive, the Company will continue to monitor the state of the technology available and invest in hardware and equipment required for maintaining its operations. The Company has in the past replaced, and, in the future, may be required to replace, obsolete hardware and software, which required, and, in the future, may require, substantial capital investments by the Company. There can be no assurance that mining hardware will be readily available when the need is identified. Moreover, there can be no assurance that new and unforeseeable technology, either hardware-based or software-based, will not disrupt the existing cryptocurrency industry. For example, the arrival of quantum computers, which are capable of solving certain types of mathematical problems fundamental to cryptocurrency more quickly and efficiently than traditional computers may have a significant effect on the cryptocurrency industry.



Cryptocurrency Network Difficulty and Impact of Increased Global Computing Power

Network difficulty is a measure of how difficult it is to solve the cryptographic hash that is required to validate a block of transactions and earn a cryptocurrency reward from Mining. As Mining companies produce more hashrate and the Bitcoin network hashrate is increased, the Bitcoin network difficulty is adjusted upwards by requiring more hashrate to be deployed to solve a block. Thus, Mining companies are further incentivized to grow their hashrate to maintain their chance of earning new Bitcoin rewards. In theory, these dual processes should continually replicate themselves until the supply of available Bitcoin is exhausted. In response, Mining companies have attempted to achieve greater hashrate by deploying increasingly sophisticated and expensive Miners in ever greater quantities. If the price of Bitcoin is not sufficiently high to allow the Company to fund its desired hashrate growth, including through new Miner acquisitions, and if it is otherwise unable to access additional capital to acquire Miners, its hashrate may stagnate and fall behind its competitors, resulting in a likely decline in its revenues, which would have a material adverse effect on its results of operations and financial condition.

Economic Dependence on Regulated Terms of Service and Electricity Rates Risks

The Company's operations are dependent on its ability to maintain reliable and economical sources of power to run its cryptocurrency Mining assets. The Company conducts Mining in the Province of Québec, Washington State, Argentina, and Paraguay. The Company's current and future operations, anticipated growth, and sustainability of hydroelectricity and natural gas at economical prices for the purposes of cryptocurrency Mining in multiple locations poses certain risks. These risks as well as the supply of electrical power, electricity rates, terms of service and regulatory regime are summarized as follows:

Currently the Company sources its energy from Hydro-Québec, Hydro-Sherbrooke, Hydro-Magog, Grant PUD CLYFSA and a private power producer in Rio Cuarto, Argentina. The Province of Québec mandates electrical service providers to supply their customers under an obligation-to-serve power delivery regime. Consequently, the Company believes Hydro-Québec, Hydro-Sherbrooke and Hydro-Magog are reliable. Grant PUD and CLYFSA do not operate under highly regulated regimes, like the Province of Quebec. The facility located in Baie-Comeau, Quebec receives its power from the City of Baie-Comeau, and is subject to the same risks as its other facilities located in the Province of Quebec. Any suspension of power or failure of electrical networks, however, could result in a material adverse effect on the Company.

Quebec

The Company's operations are dependent on its ability to maintain reliable and economical sources of power to run its cryptocurrency mining assets. Until the adoption of Bill-2, on February 15, 2023, the Province of Québec mandated electrical service providers to supply their customers under the obligation to serve power delivery regime; however, Bill-2, amended the Act Respecting the Régie by giving the Government of Quebec the power to determine by regulation, the cases in which Hydro-Quebec or any other electrical service provider may be exempt from their obligation to provide electricity to industrial clients in the Province of Québec.

The price of electricity supplied directly by Hydro-Québec is set by a provincial administrative tribunal, the Régie de L'Énergie (the "Régie"). Hydro-Québec supplies power to certain of the Company's facilities, and to the Municipal Electrical Networks for the Magog and Sherbrooke facilities, under an obligation to serve power delivery regime. The rates imposed on Hydro-Québec by the Régie are subject to change. There are no long-term arrangements. Although power is supplied by the Municipal Networks to the Company under the long-term power contracts, the rates in those contracts are adjusted in response to tariff changes imposed by the Régie. Modifications to the rates are set out pursuant to the Hydro-Quebec Act by operation of law on April 1st each year, by a rate corresponding to the annual change in the overall average Québec consumer price index, on a tariff class basis such that any adjustment would apply equally to all CB tariff users, M tariff users or LG tariff users regardless of end use. Hydro-Quebec shall apply to the Régie to request it to fix rates or modify the rates set out in the Hydro-Québec Act on April 1, 2025 and subsequently every five years. Accordingly, there is no assurance that future electricity rates will remain stable or economical. In particular, on June 14, 2018, Hydro-Québec requested the Régie to set rates and service conditions specifically for enterprises involved in cryptocurrency Mining as a result of increased electricity demand from cryptocurrency Miners. The Régie has undertaken regulatory proceedings, to which the Company has participated as an intervenor, to establish a framework for the provision of electricity for cryptocurrency Mining in Québec in three Steps:

Step 1: On July 13, 2018, the Régie provisionally ordered that a new tariff be established for cryptocurrency Miners and on July 19, 2018, the Régie approved a provisional tariff of CAD\$0.15/kWh on cryptocurrency Mining facilities built after that date. Under Step 1, the new tariff cannot be applied to any cryptocurrency contracts entered into prior to June 7, 2018 or facilities constructed prior to July 19, 2018. Therefore, Step 1 didn't have an impact on the Company's pre-existing operations and secured existing rates until the completion of Phase 3.



- Step 2: On April 29, 2019, the Régie rendered its decision on Step 2 of the request filed by Hydro-Québec. The Régie decided to create a new class of energy consumers called "Electricity consumer class for cryptographic use applied to blockchain". It decided to allocate to this new class an aggregate supply of 300 megawatts of electricity with the requirement to curtail electricity use during peak hours at Hydro-Québec's request (up to a maximum of 300 hours a year). Cryptocurrency Mining projects will be required to submit tenders to consume electricity from the 300 megawatt block based exclusively on economic development and environmental criteria. The Régie rejected Hydro-Québec's proposal to launch a tariff auction as part of the call for tenders. It decided to create a new tariff applicable to the crypto Mining industry, the CB tariff, and determined that the applicable tariff of the energy component, in ¢/kWh, will correspond to the M or LG tariff in force, as the case may be. In order for the Company to be able to procure electricity for future Quebec expansion projects, it will be required to participate in the call for tenders process which is expected to launch shortly by Hydro-Québec. However, the Régie's decision also means that the Company's preexisting operations at the Current Facilities and Sherbrooke Expansion will remain subject to the M or LG tariff in force, as the case may be, and are exempt from the tender process as well as the provisional tariff of CAD\$0.15/kWh which had been requested by Hydro-Québec. The provisional tariff will apply to energy consumption not authorized under cryptocurrency contracts, to those cryptocurrency contracts entered into after June 7, 2018 and to any substitution of use or any increase of capacity for crypto Miners not already under authorized cryptocurrency contracts. The decision of the Régie does impose the potential requirement to curtail electricity use (of up to 95%) during peak hours at Hydro-Québec's request (up to a maximum of 300 hours a year) under all cryptocurrency contracts including those at the Company's pre-existing operations at the Current Facilities. A shut-down of 95% of operations for the maximum of 300 hours could result in a revenue decrease of up to approximately 3.3%.
- Step 3: On January 28, 2021, the Régie rendered its decision on Step 3 of the request filed by Hydro-Québec. The Régie decided that the existing subscriptions on the Hydro-Québec network will be subject to non-firm service starting in Winter 2021-2022. The non-firm service will apply for a maximum of 300 hours a year without any monetary compensation. In considering the financial consequences of this conclusion the Régie requested that Hydro-Québec implement the non-firm service for existing clients during a three-year period through progressive implementation. The Régie did not provide any guidance to Hydro-Québec on how to proceed. The Régie provided the following reasons to justify this conclusion:
 - a) existing clients, such as the Company, have already executed agreements with municipal electricity networks with non-firm service (without financial compensation) for at least 300 hours per year;
 - b) new clients entering the market through the call for tenders' process will be subject to non-firm service, without financial compensation. The treatment of those new clients must be fair and equitable with existing clients; and
 - c) load shedding for 300 hours represents only 3.4% of the 8,760 hours in a year. The Régie does not consider this request unreasonable considering the risks that cryptocurrency clients represent for Hydro-Québec.

In accordance with the Step 3 decision, the Company's operations are on a non-firm service basis for a maximum of 300 hours per year. The Company has undertaken a challenge to the Step 3 decision through an administrative review process. Consequently, the main difference between the CB tariff and the M or LG tariff is the curtailment obligation applicable to the CB tariff.

On November 17, 2021, in Step 3 of the Régie's regulatory proceedings, the Régie ratified the process for allocating the balance of the 300 MW block reserved for crypto Miners that was not already allocated pursuant to the call for tenders approved in Step 2. The allocation process of the balance of the 300 MW block would be based on a "first come, first serve" process, without any reference to economic development condition and environmental criteria.

On April 6, 2022, the Régie rendered a decision confirming the decision rendered in Step 3, resulting in the application of the non-firm service to the Company's facilities in Quebec.

On May 30, 2022, the Company filed with the Regie an administrative complaint against Hydro-Quebec requesting information regarding the process for the allocation of the balance of the 300 MW block. The filing of this complaint was justified by the fact that Hydro-Quebec, at the time of filing and more than 6 months after the decision rendered by the Régie in Step 3, has still not put in place the allocation process approved by the Régie.

On June 30, 2022, Hydro-Quebec responded to the Company's administrative complaint confirming that the allocation process of the 300 MW Block would be opened in September 2022.

On November 1, 2022, Hydro-Québec submitted to the Régie, its Supply Plan for the period 2023 to 2032 and requested the Régie to authorize the suspension of the allocation process for the granting of the 300 MW reserved block and to reassess the amount of MWs to be allocated to crypto Miners for future operations. The Company is participating in the regulatory process on the approval, by the Régie, of the Supply Plan and intends to challenge Hydro-Québec's request to suspend the allocation of the 300 MW block.

As of the date hereof, there are two ongoing files before the Régie regarding the allocation process of additional power to crypto-miners: (1) the supply plan hearing (number R-4210-2022)(the "**Supply Plan Hearing**"); and (2) the Company's complaint against Hydro-Quebec (the "**Complaint**") regarding the opening of the "guichet unique".

Regarding the Supply Plan Hearing, the Régie has approved the suspension of the allocation process in decision D-2023-002 rendered on January 10, 2023, while it assesses the Supply Plan submitted by Hydro-Quebec. Bitfarms has not challenged this decision, but has strongly challenged Hydro-Quebec's request to reduce to the amount of power allocated to zero. The Company is currently waiting for a decision from the Régie on the Supply Plan, including the question of the allocation process. A response is expected in the coming weeks.

Regarding the Complaint, Hydro-Quebec has asked the Régie to reject it at a preliminary stage considering the decision rendered by the Régie in R-4210-2022 to suspend the allocation process. On August 3, 2023, the Régie rejected Hydro-Quebec's request to reject the Complaint and has asked the parties to set the dates for the hearing. The Company is in the process of determining these dates, and it is anticipated that such dates occur in September or October of 2023.

• Electricity supplied by Hydro-Québec and the Municipal Electrical Networks may be set at Preferential Rates in an effort to encourage investment and development in particular regions. Hydro-Québec and Municipal Electrical Networks may offer a discretionary Preferential Rate to certain customers, such rate being lower than the rate set by the Régie, notwithstanding that Hydro-Québec and the Municipal Electric Networks may suffer a financial loss on the supply of electricity to those customers. If a Preferential Rate is changed or no longer available to the Company, the Company's operations and profitability may experience a material adverse effect. In addition, although power is supplied by the Municipal Networks to the Company under the power contracts, the rates in those contracts are adjusted in response to tariff changes imposed by the Régie. Currently, the facility located in: (i) Cowansville is subject to a preferential rate of 5% on its first 5 MW of power; (ii) Farnham is subject to a preferential rate of 20% on its first 10 MW of power; and (iii) Baie-Comeau is not subject to a preferential rate.

Washington State

On November 9, 2021, the Company completed the acquisition of a cryptocurrency Mining facility in Washington State. The facility is powered by the Grant County Power Utility District ("**Grant PUD**"). Grant PUD was established in 1938 and is a public utility district that owns and operates hydroelectric plants capable of generating more than 2,000 MW of electricity. Grant PUD establishes rate schedules for different categories of customers at the discretion of its publicly elected Board of Commissioners. During Fiscal 2022 the rate schedules that could have applied to the Company were Schedule 7, which applies to consumption up to 5 MW, Schedule 14, which applies for consumption of 5 MW to 15 MW, or schedule 15, which applies to consumption of greater than 15 MW. The Company operates its cryptocurrency Mining activities in several different buildings with their own power meters not exceeding 5 MW each, thus, for the year 2022, the Company was classified in Schedule 7. The applicable rates for Schedule 7 are a demand charge of \$4.96 per kW of billing demand plus a variable component of US\$ 2.100¢ per kWh for the Company's power first 50,000 kWh of consumption from all of the meters in aggregate and US\$ 1.857¢ per additional kWh of consumption. Historically, rates for Schedule 7 have increased by an annual average of 1.27% per year. Effective February 1, 2023, Grant PUD's commissioners authorized the addition of cryptocurrency Mining into the Evolving Industry Rate Schedule 17. The current rate applicable to the Company is Schedule 17. The applicable rates for Schedule 17 are a demand charge for \$28.18 per kW plus a variable component of US\$ 0.389¢ per kWh of consumption.

Grant PUD may adjust the rate pricing with approval from its Board of Commissioners. An increase in the rates applicable to the Company's electricity consumption may adversely impact its profitability.

Paraguay

In December 2021, the Company completed construction of the 10 MW Villarrica Facility. The facility is powered by Compañía Luz y Fuerza S.A. ("**CLYFSA**") an electricity distribution company located in the city of Villarrica, Paraguay. CLYFSA purchases energy from ANDE, the operator of Paraguay's national electricity grid, and provides power to almost 15,000 residential and commercial customers in Villarrica.

The Company entered into a power purchase agreement with CLYFSA securing 10 MW of hydro-electric energy with a demand charge of \$15.90 per kW of billing demand plus a variable component of 1.422¢ per kWh of consumption for the current one-year renewal period. The power purchase agreement stipulates that CLYFSA can pass on any modifications to pricing by ANDE to Backbone Paraguay. A rate increase could adversely impact the profitability of the Company's operations in Paraguay.

On September 16, 2022, the executive branch of the Paraguayan government issued decree No. 7824/22 by which ANDE was requested to adopt complementary and temporary regulatory measures to adjust the variables corresponding to the electricity rates aimed at special intensive consumption sectors, including crypto asset Mining activities. In response, ANDE created the Special Intensive Consumption Group, which controls the supply of high and medium voltage and imposes rate tariffs in effect until at least December 2027. While these tariffs have no impact on our current activities in Paraguay as our contract is with the local supplier CLYFSA, as detailed above, they may be relevant to future new operations in that territory.

Argentina

In 2021, the Company entered into engineering, procurement and construction contracts and commenced construction of a facility in Argentina (Rio Cuarto - Cordoba) for up to 210 MW. The facility will receive electricity from Generacion Mediterranea S.A. ("GMSA") one of the subsidiaries of Grupo Albanesi. Grupo Albanesi is an Argentine private corporate group focused on the energy market which provides natural gas and electrical energy to its clients from its multiple facilities.

The terms of the electricity supplied by GMSA in Argentina are included in the Company's power contract, which establishes a rate of \$0.02 per kWh up to a maximum amount of 1,103,760 megawatt hours per year. The annual maximum megawatt hours the Company can draw at \$0.02 per kilowatt hour is further subject to pro-rata adjustments based on the Company's actual power draw relative to the total 210 MW. The agreement stipulates that GMSA may provide the Company with power in excess of the 1,103,760 megawatt hours, or such adjusted quantity of megawatt hours based on the pro-rata calculation described above, at a price that will be negotiated by the Company and GMSA. The price to be negotiated between the Company and GMSA will likely be impacted by the cost of natural gas and currency exchange rates in Argentina, among other factors.

The agreement also allows for GMSA to renegotiate the \$0.02 per kilowatt hour rate if the ratio of the exchange rate under the blue-chip swap mechanism (refer to section 8d - Net financial income and expenses of the 2022 MD&A) used in Argentina to the official exchange rate is less than 1.50. The \$0.02 per kilowatt hour rate and applicable adjustments described above are in effect for the first four years of the contract. The kilowatt hour price for the remaining four years of the contract will be determined by a formula based mainly on changes in gas costs and currency exchange rates. The contract also includes certain situations where the Company's supply of electricity can be interrupted, including:

- Regulatory intervention preventing GMSA from providing the Company with electricity, or directing GMSA to reroute its electricity to the wholesale market;
- Scheduled and unscheduled maintenance required to service the power plant or related equipment; and
- Regulatory intervention limiting GMSA's supply of natural gas.

The Company's contract with GMSA also includes certain megawatt hour consumption thresholds and pro-rata adjustments. The Company's production in Argentina can be materially adversely impacted if the Company is unable to exploit the contractually secured MW capacity on a full-time basis or if the cost of energy negotiated under the pro-rata calculation or calculated using the defined formula in effect for the second four years of the contract, both primarily driven by natural gas prices and foreign currency rates, are not economically viable.

An increase in the Company's electricity costs, cost of natural gas, changes in currency exchange rates in Argentina or regulatory changes in the energy regimes in the jurisdictions in which the Company operates may adversely impact the Company's profitability.

Increases in Commodity Prices or Reductions in the Availability of Such Commodities

The Company uses and intends to use certain commodities in its current and future cryptocurrency Mining operations, including hydroelectricity and natural gas. Unexpected, sudden or prolonged price increases in those commodities whether as a result of geopolitical events, natural disasters or otherwise, have caused and, in the future, may cause a reduction in the Company's profits where beneficial fixed-priced contracts do not exist or unfavorable fixed-price contracts cannot be modified. There also may be curtailment in electricity or natural gas supply. In particular, the Russia-Ukraine conflict has had an inflationary effect on the cost of natural gas, the duration and future magnitude of which could be difficult to predict given the fluidity of the military conflict, the novelty of sanctions against Russia and the possibility of yet harsher ones as well as other related developments. The realization or continuation of any of the foregoing risks with respect to commodity prices could increase the Company's operating costs, reduce its profitability and, depending upon the duration and extent of the impact, have a material adverse effect on its financial condition.

Future Profits/Losses and Production Revenues/Expenses

Further development and acquisitions of server farms and the ongoing operation of the existing Mining farms will require additional capital and monthly expenses. The Company's operating expenses and capital expenditures may increase in future years as it adds personnel, consultants and equipment associated with the maintenance of the Mining farms and any other Mining farms the Company may acquire or develop. The Company may not be successful in obtaining the required financing for these or other purposes, including for general working capital.

Fraud and Failure of Cryptocurrency Exchanges, Custodians and Other Trading Venues

Cryptocurrency market prices depend, directly or indirectly, on the prices set on exchanges and other trading venues. Compared to traditional securities, derivatives and currency exchanges, cryptocurrency exchanges, custodians and other trading venues are relatively new and, in most cases, largely unregulated, which may make them more susceptible to fraud and failure. The fraud and failure of several cryptocurrency platforms and other actors in the industry, including recent and ongoing bankruptcies of several large cryptocurrency exchanges in the second half of 2022 (namely, FTX, Celsius Network, BlockFi, Voyager Digital Ltd., Three Arrows Capital, and Genesis Global Holdco LLC), has impacted and may continue to impact the broader cryptocurrency ecosystem, including the Company. In response to these events, the digital asset markets, including the market for Bitcoin, specifically, have experienced extreme price volatility and several other entities in the digital asset industry have been, and may continue to be, negatively affected, further undermining confidence in the digital assets markets and in Bitcoin. These events have also negatively impacted the liquidity of the digital assets markets, and, in turn, the market price of shares of companies in the cryptocurrency industry, including the Company, as certain entities affiliated with bankrupt cryptocurrency exchanges engaged in significant trading activity. If the liquidity of the digital assets markets continues to be negatively impacted by these events, digital asset prices (including the price of Bitcoin) may continue to experience significant volatility and confidence in the digital asset markets may be further undermined. These events are continuing to develop, and it is not possible to predict at this time all of the risks that they may pose to the Company, its service providers or the digital asset industry as a whole.

Although the Company had no direct exposure to any of the above-mentioned cryptocurrency companies (other than BlockFi prior to the repayment by the Company of indebtedness under its equipment financing arrangement with BlockFi, as discussed in the 2022 AIF or the 2022 MD&A) nor any material assets that may not be recovered or may otherwise be lost or misappropriated due to the bankruptcies, the failure or insolvency of large exchanges may cause the price of Bitcoin to fall and decrease confidence in the ecosystem, which could adversely affect an investment in the Company. Such market volatility and decrease in Bitcoin price have had a material and adverse effect on the Company's results of operations and financial condition, and the Company expects its results of operations to continue to be affected by the Bitcoin price as the results of its operations are significantly tied to the price of Bitcoin.

Those and similar events have had, and, in the future, may have, an adverse impact on the profitability of the Company's Bitcoin Mining operations and the Company's financial condition and results of operations.

To the extent that cryptocurrency exchanges or other trading venues are involved in fraud or experience security failures or other operational issues in the future, cryptocurrency prices could be suddenly and adversely impacted. Furthermore, fraud or failure of Coinbase (or any other future custodian of the Company's Bitcoin) or exchanges can result in a direct loss of the Company's cryptocurrency and fiat currency assets, which loss may not be recoverable by the Company, whether under any insurance policies it has in place or otherwise.

Political and Regulatory Risk

The Company's primary properties and assets are subject to changes in political conditions and regulations within the Province of Québec, Canada, the United States (including, in particular, the State of Washington), Paraguay and Argentina. Changes, if any, in Mining or investment policies or shifts in political attitude could adversely affect the Company's operations or profitability. Operations have been and, in the future, may be affected in varying degrees by government regulations with respect to, but not limited to, restrictions on price controls, currency remittance, income taxes, consumption taxes, foreign investment, maintenance of claims, environmental matters, land use, electricity use and safety, as well as buying and selling cryptocurrency and other transactions involving cryptocurrency. See the 2022 AIF under the heading "DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS - Business and Strategy - Argentina Expansion", for a discussion of recent changes in the Argentine regulatory environment that have adversely affected, and are currently adversely affecting, the Company's ability to pursue its expansion plans in Argentina. For example, cryptocurrency Mining involves considerable computing power which is likely to increase. This computing power necessitates a high consumption of energy. Although a portion of the Company's energy costs are determined and controlled by various regulators, there is no certainty that any relevant regulator will not raise energy tariffs, which may reduce the profitability of Mining cryptographic currencies.

In the future, Canada, the United States, Paraguay and/or Argentina may also curtail or outlaw the acquisition, use or redemption of cryptocurrencies. Governments may also take regulatory action that may increase the cost and/or subject cryptocurrency companies to additional regulation or prohibit or severely restrict the right to acquire, own, hold, sell, use or trade cryptocurrencies or to exchange cryptocurrencies for fiat currency. By extension, future government actions may result in restrictions on the acquisition, ownership, holding, selling, use or trading in the Company's common shares. Any such restriction could result in the Company liquidating its cryptocurrency inventory at unfavorable prices and may adversely affect the Company's shareholders.

Ongoing and future regulatory changes or actions may alter the nature of an investment in the Company or restrict the use of cryptocurrencies in a manner that adversely affects the Company's operations. The effect of any future regulatory change on the Company or any cryptocurrency that the Company may mine is impossible to predict, and any such change could be substantial and adverse to the Company.

The Company believes the present attitude toward foreign investment and the cryptocurrency Mining industry in each of the jurisdictions in which it operates is favorable, but conditions may change, including changes that are rapid and unexpected. The Company's operations may be affected in varying degrees by government regulation with respect to restrictions on production, price controls, export and import controls, foreign exchange controls, income taxes, consumption taxes and environmental legislation, depending upon the nature of any such government regulation.

On February 4, 2022, the Canadian Department of Finance released for public comment a set of draft legislative proposals to implement certain tax measures. These tax measures include restricting the ability of cryptocurrency Mining companies to claim back the consumption taxes they incur on purchases of goods and services made in Canada and imports into Canada. Having received Royal Assent on June 22, 2023, the legislation is considered enacted; however, the interpretation of whether the operations of the Company fall into the exemption provisions has not been determined. If the exemption is not available and the law applied, the restriction on the Company's ability to claim back its consumption taxes, namely the Goods and Services Tax, Harmonized Sales Tax and Quebec Sales Tax, which apply at combined rates from 5% to 14.975% on the cost of goods and services, could significantly add to the Company's ongoing operating costs and the costs of its capital expenditures and imports into Canada.

Similarly, various branches, departments and agencies of the federal government in the U.S. have solicited comments and initiated procedures to consider further regulating cryptocurrency and Mining, including through proposed taxes on Mining operations and policy statements and guidance to companies in the cryptocurrency industry, as well as third parties that do business with those companies.

Further, the global supply of Miners is unpredictable and presently heavily dependent on manufacturers from Asia, which was severely affected and may continue to be affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. The Company currently utilizes several types of Miners as part of its Mining operations, all of which are produced in Asia. Geopolitical matters may impact the Company's ability to import Miners in the future, and the Company may not be able to obtain adequate replacement parts for its existing Miners or obtain additional Miners from manufacturers in other jurisdictions on a timely basis.

Given the difficulty of predicting the outcomes of ongoing and future regulatory actions and legislative and geopolitical developments, it is possible that any legislative, regulatory or geopolitical change could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, prospects or operations, the magnitude and duration of which cannot be predicted.

Permits and Licenses

The current and future operations of the Company, including development activities and Mining on its properties, may require permits from various federal, provincial or territorial and local governmental authorities and such operations are and will be governed by laws and regulations governing prospecting, exports, taxes, labour standards, occupational health, and other matters. There can be no assurance, however, that all permits which the Company may require for its operations will be obtained on reasonable terms, on a timely basis, or at all or that applicable laws and regulations would not have an adverse effect on any Mining project or related activities that the Company might undertake.

Server Failures

At any time, the servers or central processing units could experience a severe malfunction and/or collapse. Although the Company works to reduce this risk by employing a team of experts with many years of experience in building and managing data centers as well as a hardware team that focuses, among other things, on Miner repair and daily evaluation of the technical condition of the server farms that the Company operates, including through software (developed by its management) that facilitates, among other things, control, management and reporting of malfunctions in real time, any server crashes or failures, even if quickly addressed, may interrupt the Company's operations and cause significant economic harm to the Company.

Tax Consequences

The transactions described herein may have tax consequences in Canada or another jurisdiction, depending on each particular existing or prospective shareholder's specific circumstances. Such tax consequences may not be described herein, nor should this prospectus be construed to be legal or tax advice to any particular shareholder. Existing and prospective shareholders should consult their own tax advisors with respect to any such tax considerations.

Environmental Regulations

The Company's operations are subject to environmental regulations, which are evolving in each of the jurisdictions where the Company has a presence. Any modification of existing environmental regulations, or the imposition of new environmental regulations, may lead to stricter standards, more diligent enforcement, and heavier fines and penalties for non-compliance. The cost of compliance with changes in, or the imposition of new, environmental regulations has the potential to reduce the profitability of the Company's operations or cause delays in the development of its Mining projects.

Environmental Liability

The Company may be subject to potential risks and liabilities associated with pollution of the environment through its use of electricity to Mine cryptocurrencies. In addition, environmental hazards may exist on a property in which the Company directly or indirectly holds an interest that are unknown to the Company at present and have been caused by previous or existing owners or operators of the property which may result in environmental pollution. If any of those environmental hazards is deemed to violate existing rules and regulations in the relevant jurisdiction, the Company may become subject to fines and penalties.

To the extent the Company is subject to environmental liabilities, the payment of such liabilities or the costs that it may incur to remedy environmental pollution would reduce funds otherwise available to it and could have a material adverse effect on the Company. If the Company is unable to fully remedy an environmental problem, it might be required to suspend operations or enter into interim compliance measures pending completion of the required remedy. The Company's potential financial exposure to such matters may be significant and could have a material adverse effect on the Company.

Erroneous Transactions and Human Error

Cryptocurrency transactions are irreversible. Improper or compromised transfers will generally be irreversible and irrevocable. Such errors may be the result of computer or human error despite internal controls the Company has adopted to mitigate this risk. To the extent that the Company is unable to seek a corrective transaction with the third party or is incapable of identifying the third party that has received the Company's cryptocurrencies through error or theft, the Company will be unable to revert or otherwise recover incorrectly transferred cryptocurrencies. The Company will also be unable to convert or recover cryptocurrencies transferred to uncontrolled accounts.

The further development and acceptance of the cryptographic and algorithmic protocols governing the issuance of and transactions in cryptocurrencies is subject to a variety of factors that are difficult to evaluate.

The use of cryptocurrencies to, among other things, buy and sell goods and services and complete other transactions, is part of a new and rapidly evolving industry that employs digital assets based upon a computer-generated mathematical and/or cryptographic protocol. The growth of this industry in general, and the use of cryptocurrencies in particular, is subject to a high degree of uncertainty, and the slowing or stopping of the development or acceptance of developing protocols may adversely affect the Company's operations. The factors affecting the further development of the industry include but are not limited to:

- Continued worldwide growth in the adoption and use of cryptocurrencies;
- Governmental and quasi-governmental regulation of cryptocurrencies and their use, or restrictions on or regulation of access to and operation of the network or similar cryptocurrency systems;
- Changes in consumer demographics and public tastes and preferences;
- The maintenance and development of the open-source software protocol of the network;
- The availability and popularity of other forms or methods of buying and selling goods and services, including new means of using fiat currencies;
- General economic conditions and the regulatory environment relating to digital assets; and
- Negative consumer sentiment and perception of Bitcoin specifically and cryptocurrencies generally.

Facility Developments

The continued development of existing and planned facilities is subject to risks that may cause such development plans to be delayed or otherwise adversely affected, including factors beyond the Company's control such as delays in the delivery or installation of equipment by suppliers, difficulties in integrating new equipment into existing infrastructure, shortages in materials or labour, defects in design or construction, diversion of management resources, insufficient funding, or other resource constraints. Actual costs for development may also exceed the Company's planned budget. Delays, cost overruns, changes in market circumstances and other factors may result in different outcomes than those intended. If any development projects are delayed or more expensive than contemplated, the Company's operations may be adversely impacted, and the Company may not realize, or may be delayed in realizing, the benefits of such projects. Refer to the Company's management's discussion & analysis for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 under the heading *"Expansion Projects"*, for a discussion of the status of the Company's various development efforts in jurisdictions including, in particular, Argentina and Baie-Comeau.

Competition

The Company's business is in an intensely competitive industry and the Company competes with other Mining companies, some of which have, or may in the future have, greater resources and experience. A fundamental property of Mining associated with many cryptocurrencies is that the computational complexity of the Mining algorithm increases over time. This factor, along with new industry entrants and price volatility, may make certain cryptocurrencies relatively unprofitable to mine compared to others.

Regulation of cryptocurrency outside of Canada has led some Mining companies to consider Canada as a jurisdiction in which to operate, which may increase competition to the Company. Despite the Company's strategic planning and expected advantages over competitors, the Company may face unexpected competition in the form of new entrants in the marketplace. Such competition could erode the Company's expected market share and could adversely impact the Company's profitability. Increased competition could result in increased network computing resources and consequently increased hash difficulty.

If the award of coins for solving Blocks and transaction fees is not sufficiently high, Mining companies may not have an adequate incentive to continue Mining and may cease their Mining operations. As the number of coins awarded for solving a block in the blockchain decreases, the incentive for Mining companies to contribute processing power to the network may transition from a set reward to transaction fees. Either the requirement from Mining companies for higher transaction fees in exchange for recording transactions in the blockchain or a software upgrade that automatically charges fees for all transactions may decrease demand for the relevant coins and prevent the expansion of the network to retail merchants and commercial businesses, resulting in a reduction in the price of the relevant cryptocurrency that could adversely impact the Company's cryptocurrency inventory and investments.

In order to incentivize Mining companies to continue to contribute processing power to the network, the network may either formally or informally transition from a set reward to transaction fees earned upon solving for a block. This transition could be accomplished either by Mining companies independently electing to record on the blockchains they solve only those transactions that include payment of a transaction fee or by the network adopting software upgrades that require the payment of a minimum transaction fee for all transactions. If transaction fees paid for the recording of transactions in the blockchain become too high, the marketplace may be reluctant to accept the network as a means of payment and existing users may be motivated to switch between cryptocurrencies or back to fiat currency. Decreased use and demand for coins may adversely affect their value and result in a reduction in the market price of coins.

If the award of coins for solving Blocks and transaction fees is not sufficiently high, Mining companies may not have an adequate incentive to continue Mining and may cease their Mining operations. Miners ceasing operations would reduce collective processing power, which would adversely affect the confirmation process for transactions (i.e., decreasing the speed at which blocks are added to the blockchain until the next scheduled adjustment in difficulty for blockchain solutions) and make the network more vulnerable to a malicious actor or botnet obtaining control in excess of 50 percent of the processing power. Any reduction in confidence in the confirmation process or processing power of the network may adversely impact the Company's Mining activities, the value of its inventory of coins, and future investment strategies.

Acceptance and/or Widespread Use of Cryptocurrency Is Uncertain

Currently, cryptocurrencies are used relatively rarely in the retail and commercial marketplaces in comparison to purchases of overall cryptocurrencies worldwide. Cryptocurrency payment methods have not been widely adopted as a means of a payment for goods and services by major retail and commercial outlets. A significant portion of cryptocurrency demand may be attributable to speculation.

The failure of retail and commercial marketplaces to adopt cryptocurrency payment methods may result in increased volatility and/or a reduction in market prices, either of which may adversely impact the market price of the Company's cryptocurrency holdings and the profitability of its Mining operations.

Hazards Associated with High-voltage Electricity Transmission and Industrial Operations

The operations of the Company are subject to typical hazards associated with high-voltage electricity transmission and the supply of utilities to the facilities of the Company at an industrial scale including explosions, fires, inclement weather, natural disasters, flooding, mechanical failure, unscheduled downtime, equipment interruptions, remediation, chemical spills, discharges or releases of toxic or hazardous substances or gases and other environmental risks. These hazards can cause personal injury and loss of life, severe damage to or destruction of property and equipment and environmental damage, and may result in suspension of operations and the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.

Adoption of ESG Practices and the Impacts of Climate Change

Companies across many industries, including cryptocurrency Mining, are facing scrutiny related to their environmental, social, and governance (**"ESG**") practices. Investor advocacy groups, certain institutional investors, investment funds and other influential investors are also increasingly focused on ESG practices and in recent years have placed increasing importance on the non-financial impacts of their investments. Enhanced public awareness and concern regarding environmental risks, including global climate change, may result in increased public scrutiny of the Company's business and the cryptocurrency Mining industry in general. As a result, the Company's management team may divert significant time and energy towards responding to such scrutiny and addressing and enhancing the Company's ESG practices.



In addition, the impacts of climate change may affect the availability and cost of materials, natural resources, and sources and supplies of energy, which may increase the costs of the Company's operations. Other factors which may impact the Company's profitability include demand for Bitcoin and other cryptocurrencies, insurance and other operating costs, and damage incurred as a result of extreme weather events. New environmental laws, regulations or industry standards may be adopted with little or no notice to the Company and impose significant operational restrictions and compliance requirements on its operations. The cost of compliance with changes in government regulations has the potential to reduce the profitability of the Company's operations or cause delays in the development of new Mining projects.

Corruption

The Company operates in multiple jurisdictions, which generally prohibit bribery and other forms of corruption. The Company has policies in place to minimize the risk of corruption or bribery which includes enforcement of policies against giving or accepting money or gifts in certain circumstances; namely, the Company's Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption Policy and Whistleblower Policy. Despite such policies and training, it is possible that the Company, or any employees or contractors, could be charged with bribery or corruption as a result of the unauthorized actions of its employees or contractors. If the Company is found guilty of such a violation, which could include a failure to take effective steps to prevent or address corruption by its employees or contractors, the Company could be subject to onerous penalties and reputational damage. A mere investigation could lead to significant corporate disruption, high legal costs and forced settlements (such as the imposition of an internal monitor). Any government investigations or other allegations against the Company, the directors, the officers or the employees of the Company, or finding of involvement in corruption or other illegal activity by such persons, could significantly damage the Company's reputation and its ability to do business and could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, results of operations and financial condition.

Fraud, bribery and corruption are more common in some jurisdictions than in others. The Company currently carries on its business in certain jurisdictions that have been allocated low scores on Transparency International's "Corruption Perceptions Index". Doing business in international developing markets brings with it inherent risks associated with enforcement of obligations, fraud, bribery and corruption. The Company uses its best efforts to prevent the occurrence of fraud, bribery and corruption, but it may not be possible to detect or prevent every instance of fraud, bribery and corruption in every jurisdiction in which its employees, agents, or contractors are located. The Company may therefore be subject to civil and criminal penalties and to reputational damage.

Instances of fraud, bribery and corruption, and violations of laws and regulations in the jurisdictions in which the Company operates, could have a material adverse effect on its business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations. In addition, as a result of the Company's anti-corruption policies and other safeguards, there is a risk that the Company could be at a commercial disadvantage and may fail to secure contracts within jurisdictions that have been allocated a low score on the Corruption Perceptions Index, to the benefit of other companies who may not have or comply with such anti-corruption safeguards.

US Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and Similar Legislation

The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (United States), the Corruption of Foreign Public Officials Act (Canada) and anti-bribery laws in other jurisdictions generally prohibit companies and their intermediaries from making improper payments for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business or other commercial advantages. The Company's policies mandate compliance with applicable anti-bribery laws, which often carry substantial penalties. The Company operates in jurisdictions that have experienced governmental and private sector corruption to some degree and, in certain circumstances, strict compliance with anti-bribery laws may conflict with certain local customs and practices. There can be no assurance that the Company's internal control policies and procedures will always protect it from reckless or other inappropriate acts committed by the Company's affiliates, employees, agents or companies acquired by or merged with the Company. Violations of these laws, or allegations of such violations, could have a material adverse effect on the Company's reputation, as well as business, financial position and results of operations and could cause the market value of the Company's common shares to decline. Investigations by governmental authorities could also have a material adverse effect on the business, consolidated results of operations, and consolidated financial condition of the Company.



Political Instability

The Company operates in multiple jurisdictions, including in geographic regions which may be subject to a greater risk of political instability, geopolitical upheaval and social unrest. The Company's ability to carry on its business in the normal course may be adversely affected by political and economic considerations such as civil unrest, war (including in neighbouring states), terrorist actions, labour disputes, corruption, sovereign risk (including coup d'état), political instability, the failure of foreign parties or governments to honour contractual relations, consents, rejections or waivers granted, changing government regulations with respect to cryptocurrency mining including environmental requirements, taxation, foreign investments, income repatriation and capital recovery (which changes may be arbitrary and with little or no notice), severe fluctuations in currency exchange and inflation rates, import and export restrictions, problems renewing licenses and permits, opposition to cryptocurrency mining from non-governmental organizations, increased financing costs, instability due to economic under-development, inadequate infrastructure, and the expropriation of property interests. Any of these events could result in conditions that have a material adverse impact on the Company and its operations.

Third-party Supplier Risks

The Company enters into contracts with a limited number of third-party suppliers to procure Mining hardware. If any of those suppliers is unable to or otherwise does not fulfill, or does not fulfill in a timely manner, its obligations to the Company for any reason (including, but not limited to, bankruptcy, computer or other technological interruptions or failures, personnel loss, negative regulatory actions, or acts of God) or engages in fraud or other misconduct during the course of such relationship, the Company may need to seek alternative third-party suppliers, or discontinue certain products or programs in their entirety. In addition, the Company may in the future be held directly or indirectly responsible, or be otherwise subject to liability, for actions or omissions of third parties undertaken in connection with the Company's arrangement with such third parties. Any such responsibility or liability in the future may have a material adverse effect on the Company's business and financial results.

Potential of Bitfarms Being Classified as a Passive Foreign Investment Company

Generally, if for any taxable year 75% or more of the Company's gross income is passive income, or at least 50% of the average quarterly value of the Company's assets are held for the production of, or produce, passive income, the Company would be characterized as a passive foreign investment company ("**PFIC**") for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The Company does not believe it was a PFIC for 2022 and does not expect to be a PFIC for 2023; however, PFIC status is determined annually, and whether the Company will be a PFIC for any future taxable year is uncertain. Moreover, the Company is not committing to determine whether it is or is not a PFIC on an annual basis. If the Company is characterized as a PFIC, United States holders of Common Shares may suffer adverse tax consequences, including the treatment of gains realized on the sale of Common Shares as ordinary income, rather than as capital gain, the loss of the preferential income tax rate applicable to dividends received on Common Shares by individuals who are United States holders, and the addition of interest charges to the tax on such gains and certain distributions. A United States shareholder of a PFIC generally may mitigate these adverse U.S. federal income tax consequences by making a Qualified Electing Fund ("QEF") election or, to a lesser extent, a mark-to-market election. The Company does not intend to provide the information necessary for United States shareholders to make a QEF election if the Company is classified as a PFIC for any year.

Pandemic and Infectious Disease Risk (including COVID-19)

Pandemic risk is the risk of large-scale outbreaks of infectious diseases that can greatly increase morbidity and mortality over a wide geographic area and cause significant social and economic disruption. Pandemics, epidemics or outbreaks of an infectious disease in Canada or worldwide could have an adverse impact on the Company's business, including changes to the way the Company and its counterparties operate, and on the Company's financial results and condition. In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a pandemic. The global response to the pandemic is constantly evolving, including various measures implemented at the global, national, provincial and local levels.

Although many health and safety restrictions have been lifted, certain adverse consequences of the pandemic continue to impact the macroeconomic environment and may continue to persist. The growth in economic activity and demand for goods and services, alongside labor shortages and supply chain complications and/or disruptions, has also contributed to rising inflationary pressures. Further, COVID-19 has contributed to cryptocurrency price volatility and delays in the Company's receipt of Mining hardware and electrical components. The final outcome and/or potential duration of the economic disruption that resulted from the onset and subsequent recovery from COVID-19 remains uncertain at this time, and the financial markets continue to be impacted. Despite the decreased severity of the pandemic in recent months and the decreased global travel restrictions, the Company cannot accurately predict the impact that COVID-19 will have on its future revenue and business undertakings, due to uncertainties relating to future outbreaks and potential new variants of COVID-19, and their duration. The Company has been operating, and is expected to continue to operate, throughout the pandemic.

The duration and impact of the COVID-19 outbreak is unknown at this time, as is the efficacy of the government interventions. At the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic in March 2020, governments and regulatory bodies in affected areas imposed a number of measures designed to contain the COVID-19 pandemic, including widespread business closures, social distancing protocols, travel restrictions, quarantines, curfews and restrictions on gatherings and events. While substantially all containment measures in Canada have been lifted, additional safety precautions and operating protocols aimed at containing the spread of COVID-19 may be instituted in line with guidance of public health authorities. Additional waves of the COVID-19 pandemic, together with the emergence of new COVID-19 variant strains, may lead to the imposition of containment measures to varying degrees in many regions within Canada and globally. Although the impact of COVID-19 appears to be less severe and government interventions appears to be minimal compared to the beginning of the pandemic, it is not possible to reliably estimate the length and severity of these developments as well as the impact on the financial results and condition of the CovID-19 pandemic will depend on future periods. The extent to which the Company's business and financial condition will continue to be affected by the COVID-19 pandemic will depend on future developments including the spread of variants, efficacy of vaccines against new variants, the vaccination progress and the impact of related controls and restrictions imposed by government authorities.

Risks Related to Emerging Markets

Emerging Market Risks

The Company conducts Mining operations in various jurisdictions, including in Argentina and Paraguay, which are emerging markets. Investing in a company with operations in emerging markets involves inherent risks, which may include: (i) expropriation or nationalization of property; (ii) changes in laws or policies or increasing legal and regulatory requirements of particular countries, including those relating to taxation, royalties, imports, exports, duties, currency, or other claims by government entities, including retroactive claims and/or changes in the administration of laws, policies and practices; (iii) uncertain political and economic environments, war, terrorism, sabotage and civil disturbances; (iv) lack of certainty with respect to legal systems, corruption and other factors that are inconsistent with the rule of law; (v) delays in obtaining or the inability to obtain or maintain necessary governmental permits or to operate in accordance with such permits or regulatory requirements; (vi) import and export regulations, including restrictions on the import of miners and other equipment relevant to the Company's Mining operations; (vii) limitations on the repatriation of earnings and other forms of currency controls, monetary restrictions and limitations under economic policies; (viii) underdeveloped industrial or economic infrastructure; (ix) internal security issues; (x) increased financing costs; (xi) renegotiation, cancellation or forced modification of existing contracts; and (xii) risk of loss due to disease, and other potential medical endemic or pandemic issues, as a result of the potential related impact to employees, disruption to operations, supply chain delays, trade restrictions and impact on economic activity in affected countries or regions.

There can be no guarantee that one or more of the events described above will not occur in the future and the impact of such event or events on the Company's operations cannot be accurately predicted at this time. The occurrence of one or more such events may have a material adverse effect on the Company's operations in the affected jurisdiction or jurisdictions, including, but not limited to, disruptions to its operations, the loss of property, unprofitability of its operations, protracted legal and regulatory proceedings, and other penalties or sanctions.

Economic Volatility and other Challenges in Argentina and/or Paraguay

The profitability of the Company's Mining operations in Argentina and Paraguay and the Company's ability to continue such operations depend in part upon local economic, social and/or political conditions, which, in turn, may affect the Company's business, financial position and results of operations. Adverse external economic factors; inconsistent fiscal and monetary policies; dependence of governments on external financing; changes in governmental economic policies; high levels of inflation; abrupt changes in currency values; high interest rates; volatility of exchange rates; political and social tensions; exchange controls; wage and price controls; the imposition of trade barriers; and trade shock are examples of economic and social conditions over which the Company has no control and which may have an adverse effect on the Company's operations in those geographies and, given the materiality to the Company of such operations, may adversely affect the Company's business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects.

Vulnerability of Argentina and Paraguay Economies to External Shocks

Weak, flat or negative economic growth or changes in international trade policy of the major trading partners of Argentina and Paraguay could adversely affect its balance of payments and, consequently, its economic growth.

Argentina in particular has experienced significant political and social economic instability in the past and may experience further instability in the future. For instance, in 2001 and 2002, Argentina suffered a major political, economic and social crisis which resulted in institutional instability and a severe contraction of the economy with significant increases in unemployment and poverty rates. Among other consequences, the crisis caused a large currency devaluation and led to the government of Argentina defaulting on its external debt. In response, the government of Argentina implemented a series of emergency measures, including strict foreign exchange restrictions and monthly limits on bank withdrawals, which affected public companies and other sectors of Argentina's economy. Despite a brief recovery from that crisis, since 2008, Argentina has struggled to curb strong inflationary pressures and growth stagnated starting in 2012.

The economic conditions in Argentina and Paraguay are dependent on a variety of factors, including, but not limited to, the following: (i) international demand for Argentina's and Paraguay's principal exports; (ii) international prices for Argentina's and Paraguay's principal commodity exports; (iii) stability and competitiveness of the currencies of Argentina and Paraguay with respect to foreign currencies; competitiveness and efficiency of domestic industries and services; (iv) levels of domestic consumption and foreign and domestic investment and financing; and (v) the rate of inflation. Any difficulties faced by the economies or financial condition of Argentina and Paraguay could have a material adverse effect on companies operating in Argentina and Paraguay, including the Company.

Impacts of Corruption and Anti-Corruption Laws in Operating Jurisdictions

The Company is subject to anti-corruption, anti-bribery, anti-money laundering and other international laws and regulations and is required to comply with the applicable laws and regulations of each jurisdiction in which the Company operates. In general, these laws prohibit improper payments or offers of payments to governments and their officials, political parties, state-owned or controlled enterprises, and/or private entities and individuals for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. In addition, the Company is subject to economic sanctions regulations that restrict its dealings with certain sanctioned countries, individuals and entities.

Certain of the Company's operations are located in Argentina and Paraguay, which are jurisdictions perceived as having relatively high levels of corruption. The Company's activities in these countries increase the risk of, or potential for, unauthorized payments or offers of payments by one of the Company's employees, contractors or agents that could be in violation of various laws including anti-bribery laws applicable to the Company. In addition, the Company's ability to secure permits, renewals or other government approvals required to maintain its operations could be negatively impacted by corruption in one or more governmental institutions in Argentina and Paraguay.

The Company has adopted various measures that mandate compliance with applicable anti-corruption, anti-bribery, and anti-money laundering laws, and has implemented training programs, compliance controls and procedures, and reviews and audits to ensure compliance with such laws; however, there can be no assurance that the Company's internal controls and procedures will be sufficient to prevent or detect all inappropriate practices, fraud or violations of such laws, regulations and requirements by the Company's affiliates, employees, directors, officers, partners, agents and service providers, or that any such persons will not take actions in violation of the Company's policies and procedures, for which the Company may be ultimately responsible.

Any violations of anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws or sanctions regulations by the Company or on its behalf could have a material adverse effect on its business, reputation, results of operations and financial condition. The Company cannot predict the nature, scope or effect of future anti-corruption regulatory requirements to which its operations might be subject, the manner in which existing laws might be administered or interpreted or the impact on the Company of any violation of the same.

Unpredictability of Tax Rates, Capital Controls and Foreign Exchange Restrictions in Argentina

The imposition and application of federal, provincial and other local taxation to which businesses located in Argentina are subject may change frequently and without notice. If any taxation authority takes a position or adopts an interpretation that differs from those adopted by the Company, the Company could become subject to unanticipated tax liabilities and cost increases, which could negatively affect its financial condition and results of operations.

For instance, in 2018, the government of Argentina introduced a decree imposing a temporary tax on all exports from Argentina. The tax was introduced as an emergency measure due to the significant devaluation of the Argentinean peso during 2018. In December 2019, the government of Argentina approved a law delaying a scheduled corporate tax rate decrease from 30% to 25% to the end of 2020, followed by the government submitting a bill in order to maintain the 30% rate until the end of 2021, and extending the temporary export tax introduced in September 2018 to the end of 2021. Furthermore, the decree suspended the increase in the dividend withholding tax from 7% to 13% until January 2021. In June 2021, the National Government passed an amendment to the corporate income tax rate, increasing it from a flat rate of 25% to a progressive scale, with a maximum rate of 35% for certain types of companies.

Changes in taxes, capital controls, and foreign exchange regulations in Argentina and the other jurisdictions in which the Company operates are beyond the Company's control. Increased tax rates, or the imposition of stricter capital controls or foreign exchange regulations, could increase the operating costs at the Company's Mining facilities, prevent or restrict development and production at new or contemplated facilities, and constrain the Company's ability to receive distributions from its subsidiaries in those jurisdictions.

Risks Related to the Offering of Securities

Discretion Over Use of Proceeds

The Company intends to allocate the net proceeds it will receive from an offering under this prospectus as described under "Use of Proceeds" in this prospectus and the applicable prospectus supplement; however, the Company will have discretion in the actual application of the net proceeds. The Company may elect to allocate the net proceeds differently from that described in "Use of Proceeds" in this prospectus and the applicable prospectus supplement if the Company believes it would be in the Company's best interests to do so. The failure by the Company to apply these funds effectively could have a material adverse effect on the business of the Company.

Absence of a Public Market for Certain of the Securities

There is no public market for the debt securities, warrants, subscription receipts, securities purchase contracts or units and, unless otherwise specified in the applicable prospectus supplement, the Company does not intend to apply for listing of the debt securities, warrants, subscription receipts, securities purchase contracts or units on any securities exchanges. If the debt securities, warrants, subscription receipts, securities purchase contracts or units are traded after their initial issuance, they may trade at a discount from their initial offering prices depending on prevailing interest rates (as applicable), the market for similar securities and other factors, including general economic conditions and the Company's financial condition. There can be no assurance as to the liquidity of the trading market for the debt securities, warrants, subscription receipts, share purchase contracts or units, or that a trading market for these securities will develop at all.

Unsecured Debt Securities

The Company carries on its business through corporate subsidiaries and the majority of its assets are held in corporate subsidiaries. The Company's results of operations and ability to service indebtedness, including the debt securities, are dependent upon the results of operations of these subsidiaries and the payment of funds by these subsidiaries to the Company in the form of loans, dividends or otherwise. Unless otherwise indicated in the applicable prospectus supplement, the Company's subsidiaries will not have an obligation to pay amounts due pursuant to any debt securities or to make any funds available for payment on debt securities, whether by dividends, interest, loans, advances or other payments. In addition, the payment of dividends and the making of loans, advances and other payments to the Company by its subsidiaries may be subject to statutory or contractual restrictions. Unless otherwise indicated in the applicable prospectus supplement, the indentures governing the Company's debt securities are not expected to limit the Company's ability or the ability of its subsidiaries to incur indebtedness. Unless otherwise indicated in the applicable prospectus supplement, such indebtedness of the Company's subsidiaries would be structurally senior to the debt securities. As such, in the event of the liquidation of any subsidiary, the assets of the subsidiary would be used first to repay the obligations of the subsidiary, including indebtedness and trade payables, prior to being used by the Company to pay its indebtedness, including any debt securities. See "DESCRIPTION OF DEBT SECURITIES".

Effect of Changes in Interest Rates on Debt Securities

Prevailing interest rates will affect the market price or value of any debt securities. The market price or value of any debt securities may decline as prevailing interest rates for comparable debt instruments rise, and the market price may increase as prevailing interest rates for comparable debt instruments decline.



Effect of Fluctuations in Foreign Currency Markets on Debt Securities

Debt securities denominated or payable in foreign currencies may entail significant risk. These risks include, without limitation, the possibility of significant fluctuations in the foreign currency markets, the imposition or modification of foreign exchange controls and potential liquidity restrictions in the secondary market. These risks will vary depending upon the currency or currencies involved and will be more fully described in the applicable prospectus supplement.

Trading Price of Common Shares and Volatility

In recent years, the securities markets have experienced a high level of price and volume volatility, and the market price of securities of many companies, particularly those in cryptocurrency-focused businesses and those considered development stage companies (such as the Company), have experienced wide fluctuations in price. The market price of the Common Shares fluctuates significantly in response to a number of factors, most of which the Company cannot control and many of which have not necessarily been related to the operating performance, underlying asset values or prospects of such companies. In particular, the trading price of the Common Shares is in many cases directly tied to the price of Bitcoin. Other factors that may impact the trading price of the Common Shares is in many cases directly tied to the price of Bitcoin.

- variations in the Company's financial results or those of companies that are perceived to be similar to the Company;
- actions by the Company or its competitors, such as acquisitions, bankruptcies or restructurings;
- additions or departures of key management personnel;
- legal proceedings involving the Company, the cryptocurrency industry, or both;
- legislative or regulatory actions;
- changes in market valuations of companies similar to the Company;
- the prospects of and changes affecting participants in the cryptocurrency industry;
- actions by the Company's shareholders;
- speculation or reports by the press or investment community with respect to the Company or the cryptocurrency industry in general;
- changes in the pricing or availability of hydro-electricity, natural gas and other sources of energy;
- general economic, regulatory, market and political conditions; and
- other risks, uncertainties and factors described in these risk factors.

The stock markets in general have often experienced volatility that has sometimes been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of particular companies. These broad market fluctuations have caused, and may continue to cause, the trading price of the Common Shares to decline. A continuation or worsening of the levels of market disruption and volatility seen in the recent past could have an adverse effect on the Company's ability to access capital, on its business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flow and prospects, and on the market price of the Common Shares. In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company's securities, securities class-action litigation has often been brought against that company. The Company may become involved in this type of litigation in the future. Litigation of this type may be expensive to defend and may divert management's attention and resources from the operation of the Company's business.

In addition, since the Common Shares currently trade on the Nasdaq Global Market, the Company must comply with Nasdaq's continued listing requirements to avoid the Common Shares being delisted. A delisting from Nasdaq would result in lower trading volumes for the Common Shares, transaction delays, and could result in security analyst and news media coverage. These factors could contribute to lower prices and larger spreads in the bid and ask prices for the Common Shares.

Forward Looking Statements

Some statements contained in this prospectus are not historical facts, but rather are forward looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. There can be no assurance that such statements will prove to be accurate as actual results and future events could differ materially from those anticipated in such statements. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, such risks and uncertainties include interpretation of results, accidents, equipment breakdowns, labour disputes or other unanticipated difficulties with or interruptions in production, delays in development activities, political risks, the inherent uncertainty or production fluctuations and failure to obtain adequate financing on a timely basis.

USE OF PROCEEDS

Unless we otherwise indicate in a prospectus supplement relating to a particular offering, we currently intend to use the net proceeds from the sale of our securities for general corporate purposes including funding ongoing operations and/or working capital requirements, placing deposits and guarantees as required by energy providers, repaying indebtedness outstanding from time to time, completing acquisitions and mergers to increase mining capacity, expanding existing mining operations and for other corporate purposes as set forth in the prospectus supplement relating to the offering of the securities. The Company will not receive any proceeds from the sale of Securities by any Selling Securityholder.

More detailed information regarding the use of proceeds from the sale of securities, including any determinable milestones at the applicable time, will be described in a prospectus supplement and will include reasonable detail of the principal purposes of the proposed use of net proceeds in accordance with the requirements of Section 4.2 of Form 44-101F1 – *Short Form Prospectus* (**"Form 44-101F1"**), as well as the business objectives expected to be accomplished using the net proceeds of such offering and each significant event that must occur to accomplish such business objective, including the cost thereof, in accordance with Section 4.7 of Form 44-101F1. We may also, from time to time, issue securities otherwise than pursuant to a prospectus supplement to this prospectus. All expenses relating to an offering of securities and any compensation paid to underwriters, dealers or agents, as the case may be, will be paid out of the proceeds from the sale of such securities, unless otherwise stated in the applicable prospectus supplement.

During the 2022 financial year, the Company had positive annual cash flow from operations. However, the Company expects cash flow from operations to be variable due to the volatile nature of the cryptocurrency markets and the price of Bitcoin. In the event the Company experiences negative operating cash flow, the Company, among other actions, may reduce expenses or sell assets, particularly Bitcoin, to generate sufficient cash to meet its obligations as they come due.

As of June 30, 2023, the Company had cash on hand of \$30.1 million and 549 Bitcoin with an approximate value of \$16.7 million for a total of \$46.8 million of cash and cryptocurrency. The Company's planned capital expenditures over the next 18 months are anticipated to be approximately \$100 million to \$300 million. The Company expects to use the proceeds raised in offerings under this prospectus to fund the buildout of mining and data centre infrastructure and to procure new Miners to achieve its September 30, 2023, hashrate goal of at least 6.3 Exahash/second ("EH/s") at an estimated cost of \$2 million.

The Company anticipates utilizing proceeds from any offering hereunder over the next 18 months to consummate acquisitions of existing mining operations and to fund the building and upgrading of acquired operations as well as the procurement of new Miners to achieve growth above the Company's existing EH/s goal. Specific use of proceeds could include \$9 million for the acquisition and buildout of the 22 MW Baie Comeau opportunity, up to \$5 million to procure the remaining Miners to fully utilize the first 50 MW facility in Argentina, up to \$11 million for the infrastructure and \$35 million for new Miners associated with a second facility of up to 50 MW, if the Company elects to do so, and up to an additional \$100 million for building the infrastructure and procuring new Miners, if the Company elects to do so, for two additional facilities with total mining capacity of an incremental 100 MW, resulting in capacity of up to 200 MW in total in Argentina. The Company may also apply as much as \$100 million of proceeds to acquire and expand existing Bitcoin mining facilities in, Canada, the United States, Paraguay and elsewhere in which it is in an exploratory phase, preliminary discussions or advanced negotiations. The Company anticipates outlaying up to \$125 million over the next 12 months.

To achieve the Company's stated hashrate goal of 6.3 EH/s, the Company expects that it will be necessary to complete the buildout of the first 11 MW of the Baie Comeau facility and to complete the purchase of Miners for deployment of the first 50 MW at its facility in Argentina; however, at this time, the Company does not expect that the remaining acquisitions and expansions detailed above would be required.

As part of its operating and financing strategy, the Company plans to continue to retain some or all of the Bitcoin it mines throughout 2023 and 2024. See "CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION".

The Company anticipates that its existing financial resources, excluding any proceeds raised under this prospectus, will be sufficient to maintain its current level of operations and complete the acquisition of the Baie Comeau power agreement and the buildout of the Baie operations up to 22 MW at an expected total cost of approximately \$9 million. In order to achieve this business objective, the Company may liquidate or borrow against the Bitcoin that have been accumulated as of the date hereof as well as Bitcoin generated from ongoing operations, which may or may not be possible on commercially attractive terms. The Company has purchase credits with a major Miner manufacturer totaling \$19 million at June 30, 2023 that may be applied towards the purchase of new Miners and related equipment, reducing the cash requirements.

See "RISK FACTORS – Risks Related to the Offering of Securities – Discretion over use of proceeds".

Business Objectives and Milestones

The Company's primary objective is to increase shareholder value by expanding operations and maintaining its position as one of the largest publicly traded cryptocurrency mining and data center companies in the world. Specifically, the Company intends to expand its operations through the purchase of newer generations of cryptocurrency mining equipment, scaling up the capacity of its existing facilities and acquiring or establishing new facilities. The extent of the Company's ability to expand its operations will depend, in part, on its ability to raise funds to finance the expansion.

The following are the milestones over the next eighteen months and their associated estimated costs set out by the Company as of the date hereof. These milestones may be modified or otherwise change dependent upon, among other things, prevailing market conditions and changing economics of bitcoin mining including the impact of developments in the regulatory environment and respective tax regimes. These estimated costs and timelines may change based on, among other things, the prevailing price of Bitcoin, network difficulty, supply of cryptocurrency mining equipment, supply of electrical and other supporting infrastructure equipment, construction materials, currency exchange rates, and the Company's ability to fund the underlying initiatives:

- Procure and install approximately 6,000 new Miners to fully energize the first 50 MW facility in Argentina from 29 MW currently for estimated remaining funding, including procurement, shipping and transportation costs and import duties, of up to \$5 million;
- Complete the acquisition of the power purchase agreement and the buildout of up to the full 22 MW capacity in Baie Comeau for \$5 million and the procurement and implementation of approximately 6,500 Miners, new and repositioned from other Bitfarms' facilities, for a total cost of \$4 million, including the replacement cost of Miners repositioned from other facilities;
- Complete the infrastructure to draw upon an additional 50 MW in Argentina over the next six to twelve months for \$11 million, excluding the approximate \$6 million already incurred, and procure and install approximately 14,000 new Miners at an estimated cost, including shipping and transportation costs and import duties, of up to \$35 million; and
- Continue to pursue and secure expansion opportunities in Canada, the United States, Argentina and Paraguay. The Company estimates that for each additional EH of production capacity, the cost of building infrastructure of the facility will be approximately \$200,000 to \$400,000 per MW and the cost of new Miners, including shipping and transportation costs and import duties will be approximately \$15 million to \$22 million. These estimates are based on Miners with a current cost of \$15 to \$22 per TH, including shipping and transportation costs and import duties.

The following table summarizes the Company's business objectives, its plan for completing the objective, the current status of the objective, the expenditures made as of the date hereof, the anticipated future expenditures, and the timing of completing the objective.

| Objective | Description | Plan | Current Status | Expenditures to Date | Anticipated Future Expenditures | Anticipated Timing of Completion |
|---|--|--|---|------------------------------|--|--|
| Operationalize Baie- Comeau ⁽¹⁾ | Acquisition and buildout of Baie- Comeau facility | Operationalize 11 MW by Q3 2023 and another 11 MW in the second half of 2024 | In progress | Approximately \$2 million | \$9 million | Second half of 2024 |
| Procure Miners for first 50 MW facility in Argentina ⁽¹⁾ | Procurement of Miners for facility | Acquire Miners to fully utilize 50 MW facility | In progress | \$52 million | Nil | End of third quarter of 2023 |
| Develop Second 50 MW facility in Argentina ⁽²⁾ | Procurement of miners and buildout of facility | Buildout the infrastructure and acquire Miners to fully utilize 50 MW facility | On pause pending further assessment in light of recent national political and economic developments and impact of the Bitcoin Halving | Nil | \$50 million (infrastructure and mining hardware) | During or after 2024 |
| Third and forth 50 MW facilities in Argentina ⁽²⁾ | Procurement of miners and buildout of facility | Buildout the infrastructure and acquire Miners to fully utilize both 50 MW facilities | Not started | Nil | \$100 million (infrastructure and mining hardware) | During or after 2024 |
| Paso Pe facility in Paraguay (2) | Buildout of facility | Buildout of the infrastructure for 50 MW facility to utilize hydro containers and miners ordered using vendor credits | In progress | Nil | \$30 million (infrastructure and electricity deposit) | During first quarter of 2024 |
| Yguazu facility in Paraguay (2) | Procurement of miners and buildout of facility | Buildout the infrastructure and acquire Miners to fully utilize the 100 MW facility | Not started | Nil | \$100 million (infrastructure, mining hardware and electricity deposit) | During or after 2024 |
| Expansion in Canada, US, Paraguay and elsewhere ⁽²⁾ | Acquisition, procurement of Miners and buildout of facilities | Evaluate opportunities to expand the Company's hashrate | Exploratory and assessment phase | \$0.5 million | \$85 million (infrastructure and mining hardware) | During or after 2024 |

Notes:

(1) The Company anticipates being able to accomplish this milestone without additional financing. A significant decrease in Bitcoin price may impact the Company's ability to accomplish this milestone whether the Company obtains additional financing or not.

(2) The Company anticipates requiring additional financing to complete this milestone in addition to the funds raised under this Prospectus to complete the milestone. The Company will only complete this milestone if and when additional financing has been obtained.

2021 Business Objectives and Milestones

The following table describes the business objectives and milestones from the amended and restated preliminary short form base shelf prospectus dated August 12, 2021 and the prospectus supplement dated August 16, 2021, the progress of achieving these milestones and a comparison of the proceeds used against the estimated costs.

| Business Objective Buildout of additional 78 MW of electrical infrastructure in Quebec by the first quarter of 2022 | Current status Completed in Q4 2022 | Original estimated costs \$10 million | Proceeds used as of March 31, 2023A. Cowansville expansion(17MW): \$0.6 million8. Sherbrooke expansion(78 |
|--|---|--|---|
| Acquire mining equipment to achieve 3 EH/s of computing power by the first quarter of 2022 | Completed in Q2 2022 | \$45 million | MW): \$22.2 million A. MicroBT Miners: \$97.8 million B. Bitmain Miners: \$24.0 million |
| Commence the engineering procurement and construction activity in the second half of 2021 with expected completion in 2022 of a major mining facility to exploit a 210 MW non-binding memorandum of understanding entered into with a South American energy producer, a portion of which is at \$0.022/KwH. | - | \$55 million | Argentina expansion, net of gain on disposition of marketable securities (first 50 MW facility) \$20.0 million |
| Achieve the Company's target of 8.0 EH/s by the end of 2022 | The Company revised this target to reach 6.3 EH/s by September 30, 2023 and 7.0 EH/s by March 31, 2024. Without considering any outstanding deposit balances, the Company estimates that it would cost approximately \$21 million per additional EH based on a current Miner cost of \$15 per TH. | equipment: \$215 million to | |
| Engage with the Quebec government as well as other governmental and private sector energy suppliers to secure operating sites capable of housing a 50 MW or larger mining facility | continues to look for opportunities to | N/A | A. Washington expansion (20 MW): \$26.2 million B. Paraguay expansion (10 MW): \$3.2 million |

CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION

There have been no material changes to the Company's consolidated capitalization since the date of the Company's most recently filed financial statements which have not been disclosed in this prospectus or the documents incorporated by reference. The applicable prospectus supplement will describe any material changes, and the effect of such material changes on the share and loan capitalization of the Company that will result from the issuance of Securities pursuant to each prospectus supplement.

PRIOR SALES

Information in respect of the Company's Common Shares that we issued within the previous twelve-month period, including Common Shares that we issued upon the exercise of stock options of the Company ("**Options**") will be provided as required in a prospectus supplement with respect to the issuance of securities pursuant to such prospectus supplement.

TRADING PRICE AND VOLUME

The Common Shares are listed and posted for trading on the Nasdaq and on the TSX under the symbol "**BITF**". Trading price and volume information for the Company's securities will be provided as required in each prospectus supplement to this prospectus.

EARNINGS COVERAGE

If the Company offers debt securities having a term to maturity in excess of one year under this prospectus and any applicable prospectus supplement, the applicable prospectus supplement will include earnings coverage ratios giving effect to the issuance of such securities.

DESCRIPTION OF SHARE CAPITAL

Overview

The authorized capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of Common Shares without par value and an unlimited number of preferred shares without par value. As of the date hereof, there are 278,694,000 Common Shares and no preferred shares issued and outstanding.

As of the date of this prospectus, there were: (i) 19,000,000 Common Shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding stock options of the Company ("**Options**") at a weighted average exercise price of C\$1.85 and (ii) 19,153,000 Common Shares reserved for issuance on exercise of 19,153,000 issued and outstanding Common Share purchase warrants of the Company with a weighted average exercise price of US\$4.21 and (iii) 258,000 RSUs, for a total of 317,105,000 Common Shares on a fully-diluted basis.

Common Shares

All of the Common Shares rank equally as to voting rights, participation in a distribution of the assets of the Company in a liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company and entitlement to any dividends declared by the Company. The holders of the Common Shares are entitled to receive notice of, and to attend and vote at, all meetings of shareholders (other than meetings at which only holders of another class or series of shares are entitled to vote).

Each Common Share carries the right to one vote. Subject to the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attached to the preferred shares of the Company, in the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company, or upon any distribution of the assets of the Company among shareholders being made (other than by way of dividend out of monies properly applicable to the payment of dividends) the holders of the Common Shares are entitled to share equally.

Subject to the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attached to the preferred shares of the Company, the holders of the Common Shares are entitled to receive any dividends declared by the Company in respect of the Common Shares.

Any alteration of the rights attached to our Common Shares must be approved by at least two-thirds of the Common Shares voted at a meeting of our shareholders. Provisions as to the modification, amendment or variation of such rights or provisions are contained in the Company's articles and in the *Canada Business Corporations Act*.

Preferred Shares

Preferred shares of the Company do not give the holders any right to receive notice of or vote at general or special meetings of the Company. As of the date of this prospectus, no preferred shares were issued and outstanding.

DESCRIPTION OF DEBT SECURITIES

In this section describing the debt securities, the terms "Company" and "Bitfarms" refer only to Bitfarms Ltd. without any of its subsidiaries.

The following description of the terms of debt securities sets forth certain general terms and provisions of debt securities in respect of which a prospectus supplement may be filed. The particular terms and provisions of debt securities offered by any prospectus supplement, and the extent to which the general terms and provisions described below may apply thereto, will be described in the prospectus supplement filed in respect of such debt securities. Prospective investors should rely on information in the applicable prospectus supplement if it is different from the following information.

Debt securities may be offered separately or in combination with one or more other securities of the Company. The Company may, from time to time, issue debt securities and incur additional indebtedness other than through the issue of debt securities pursuant to this prospectus. Convertible debt securities offered under this prospectus may only be convertible into other securities of the Company.

The Company will deliver, along with this prospectus, an undertaking to the securities regulatory authority in each province and territory of Canada that the Company will, if any debt securities are distributed under this prospectus and for so long as such debt securities are issued and outstanding, file the periodic and timely disclosure of any credit supporter similar to the disclosure required under Section 12.1 of Form 44-101F1.

Any prospectus supplement offering guaranteed debt securities will comply with the requirements of Item 12 of Form 44-101F1 or the conditions for an exemption from those requirements and will include a certificate from each credit supporter as required by section 21.1 of Form 44-101F1 and section 5.12 of NI 41-101. Debt securities, if offered, may be guaranteed by an affiliate or an associate of the Company.

The debt securities will be issued under one or more indentures (each, a "**Trust Indenture**"), in each case between the Company and a financial institution or trust company organized under the laws of Canada or any province thereof and authorized to carry on business as a trustee (each, a "**Trustee**").

The following description sets forth certain general terms and provisions of the debt securities and is not intended to be complete. The particular terms and provisions of the debt securities and a description of how the general terms and provisions described below may apply to the debt securities will be included in the applicable prospectus supplement. The following description is subject to the detailed provisions of the applicable Trust Indenture. Accordingly, reference should also be made to the applicable Trust Indenture, a copy of which will be filed by the Company with the securities commissions or similar regulatory authorities in applicable Canadian offering jurisdictions, after it has been entered into, and will be available electronically at www.sedarplus.ca.

General

The applicable Trust Indenture will not limit the aggregate principal amount of debt securities that may be issued under such Trust Indenture and will not limit the amount of other indebtedness that the Company may incur. The applicable Trust Indenture will provide that the Company may issue debt securities from time to time in one or more series and may be denominated and payable in U.S. dollars, Canadian dollars or any foreign currency. Unless otherwise indicated in the applicable prospectus supplement, the debt securities will be unsecured obligations of the Company.

The Company may specify a maximum aggregate principal amount for the debt securities of any series and, unless otherwise provided in the applicable prospectus supplement, a series of debt securities may be reopened for issuance of additional debt securities of such series. The applicable Trust Indenture will also permit the Company to increase the principal amount of any series of the debt securities previously issued and to issue that increased principal amount.

Any prospectus supplement for debt securities supplementing this prospectus will contain the specific terms and other information with respect to the debt securities being offered thereby, including, but not limited to, the following:

- the designation, aggregate principal amount and authorized denominations of such debt securities;
- the percentage of principal amount at which the debt securities will be issued;
- whether payment on the debt securities will be senior or subordinated to other liabilities or obligations of the Company;
- the date or dates, or the methods by which such dates will be determined or extended, on which the Company may issue the debt securities and the date or dates, or the methods by which such dates will be determined or extended, on which the Company will pay the principal and any premium on the debt securities and the portion (if less than the principal amount) of debt securities to be payable upon a declaration of acceleration of maturity;
- whether the debt securities will bear interest, the interest rate (whether fixed or variable) or the method of determining the interest rate, the date from which interest will accrue, the dates on which the Company will pay interest and the record dates for interest payments, or the methods by which such dates will be determined or extended;

- the place or places the Company will pay principal, premium, if any, and interest, if any, and the place or places where debt securities can be presented for registration of transfer or exchange;
- whether and under what circumstances the Company will be required to pay any additional amounts for withholding or deduction for Canadian taxes with respect to the debt securities, and whether and on what terms the Company will have the option to redeem the debt securities rather than pay the additional amounts;
- whether the Company will be obligated to redeem or repurchase the debt securities pursuant to any sinking or purchase fund or other provisions, or at the option of a holder, and the terms and conditions of such redemption;
- whether the Company may redeem the debt securities at its option and the terms and conditions of any such redemption;
- the denominations in which the Company will issue any registered and unregistered debt securities;
- the currency or currency units for which debt securities may be purchased and the currency or currency units in which the principal and any interest is payable (in either case, if other than Canadian dollars) or if payments on the debt securities will be made by delivery of Common Shares or other property;
- whether payments on the debt securities will be payable with reference to any index or formula;
- if applicable, the ability of the Company to satisfy all or a portion of any redemption of the debt securities, any payment of any interest on such debt securities or any repayment of the principal owing upon the maturity of such debt securities through the issuance of securities of the Company or of any other entity, and any restriction(s) on the persons to whom such securities may be issued;
- whether the debt securities will be issued as global securities (defined below) and, if so, the identity of the depositary (defined below) for the global securities;
- whether the debt securities will be issued as unregistered securities (with or without coupons), registered securities or both;
- the periods within which and the terms and conditions, if any, upon which the Company may redeem the debt securities prior to maturity and the price or prices of which, and the currency or currency units in which, the debt securities are payable;
- any events of default or covenants applicable to the debt securities;
- any terms under which debt securities may be defeased, whether at or prior to maturity;
- whether the holders of any series of debt securities have special rights if specified events occur;
- any mandatory or optional redemption or sinking fund or analogous provisions;
- the terms, if any, for any conversion or exchange of the debt securities for any other securities of the Company;
- if applicable, any transfer restrictions;
- rights, if any, on a change of control;
- provisions as to modification, amendment or variation of any rights or terms attaching to the debt securities;
- the Trustee under the Trust Indenture pursuant to which the debt securities are to be issued; whether the Company will undertake to list the debt securities of the series on any securities exchange or automated interdealer quotation system; and
- any other terms, conditions, rights and preferences (or limitations on such rights and preferences) including covenants and events of default which apply solely to a particular series of the debt securities being offered which do not apply generally to other debt securities, or any covenants or events of default generally applicable to the debt securities which do not apply to a particular series of the debt securities.

The Company reserves the right to include in a prospectus supplement specific terms pertaining to the debt securities which are not within the options and parameters set forth in this prospectus. In addition, to the extent that any particular terms of the debt securities described in a prospectus supplement differ from any of the terms described in this prospectus, the description of such terms set forth in this prospectus shall be deemed to have been superseded by the description of such differing terms set forth in such prospectus supplement with respect to such debt securities.

Unless stated otherwise in the applicable prospectus supplement, no holder of debt securities will have the right to require the Company to repurchase the debt securities and there will be no increase in the interest rate if the Company becomes involved in a highly leveraged transaction or has a change of control.

The Company may issue debt securities bearing no interest or interest at a rate below the prevailing market rate at the time of issuance and offer and sell these securities at a discount below their stated principal amount, in which case, the Company will include in the applicable prospectus supplement the effective yield if held to maturity. The Company may also sell any of the debt securities for a foreign currency or currency unit, and payments on the debt securities may be payable in a foreign currency or currency unit. In any of these cases, the Company will describe certain Canadian federal income tax consequences and other special considerations in the applicable prospectus supplement.

Unless otherwise indicated in the applicable prospectus supplement, the Company may issue debt securities with terms different from those of debt securities previously issued and, without the consent of the holders thereof, reopen a previous issue of a series of debt securities and issue additional debt securities of such series.

Original purchasers of debt securities which are convertible into or exchangeable for other securities of the Company will be granted a contractual right of rescission against the Company in respect of the purchase and conversion or exchange of such debt security. The contractual right of rescission will entitle such original purchasers to receive the amount paid on original purchase of the debt security and the amount paid upon conversion or exchange, upon surrender of the underlying securities gained thereby, in the event that this prospectus (as supplemented or amended) contains a misrepresentation, provided that: (i) the conversion or exchange takes place within 180 days of the date of the purchase of the convertible or exchangeable security under this prospectus; and (ii) the right of rescission is exercised within 180 days of the date of the purchase of the convertible or exchangeable security under this prospectus. This contractual right of rescission will be consistent with the statutory right of rescission described under section 130 of the *Securities Act* (Ontario), and is in addition to any other right or remedy available to original purchasers under section 130 of the *Securities Act* (Ontario) or otherwise at law.

Ranking and Other Indebtedness

Unless otherwise indicated in an applicable prospectus supplement, the debt securities will be direct unsecured obligations of the Company. The debt securities will be senior or subordinated indebtedness of the Company as described in the applicable prospectus supplement. If the debt securities are senior indebtedness, they will rank equally and ratably with all other unsecured indebtedness of the Company from time to time issued and outstanding which is not subordinated. If the debt securities are subordinated indebtedness, they will be subordinated to senior indebtedness of the Company as described in the applicable prospectus supplement, and they will rank equally and ratably with other subordinated indebtedness of the Company from time to time issued and outstanding as described in the applicable prospectus supplement. The Company reserves the right to specify in a prospectus supplement whether a particular series of subordinated debt securities is subordinated to any other series of subordinated debt securities.

The Board may establish the extent and manner, if any, to which payment on or in respect of a series of debt securities will be senior or will be subordinated to the prior payment of the Company's other liabilities and obligations and whether the payment of principal, premium, if any, and interest, if any, will be guaranteed and the nature and priority of any security.

Registration of Debt Securities

Debt Securities in Book Entry Form

Unless otherwise indicated in an applicable prospectus supplement, debt securities of any series may be issued in whole or in part in the form of one or more global securities ("**Global Securities**") registered in the name of a designated clearing agency (a "**Depositary**") or its nominee and held by or on behalf of the Depositary in accordance with the terms of the applicable Trust Indenture. The specific terms of the depositary arrangement with respect to any portion of a series of debt securities to be represented by a Global Security will, to the extent not described herein, be described in the prospectus supplement relating to such series. The Company anticipates that the provisions described in this section will apply to all depositary arrangements.



Upon the issuance of a Global Security, the Depositary or its nominee will credit, in its book-entry and registration system, the respective principal amounts of the debt securities represented by the Global Security to the accounts of such participants that have accounts with the Depositary or its nominee ("**Participants**"). Such accounts are typically designated by the underwriters, dealers or agents participating in the distribution of the debt securities or by the Company if such debt securities are offered and sold directly by the Company. Ownership of beneficial interests in a Global Security will be limited to Participants or persons that may hold beneficial interests through Participants. With respect to the interests of Participants, ownership of beneficial interests in a Global Security will be shown on, and the transfer of that ownership of beneficial interests in a Global Security will be shown on, and the transfer of that ownership of beneficial interests in a Global Security will be shown on, and the transfer of that ownership of beneficial interests in a Global Security will be shown on, and the transfer of that ownership of beneficial interests in a Global Security will be shown on, and the transfer of that ownership of beneficial interests in a Global Security will be shown on, and the transfer of that ownership of beneficial interests in a Global Security will be shown on, and the transfer of that ownership of beneficial interests in a Global Security will be shown on, and the transfer of that ownership of beneficial interests in a Global Security will be shown on, and the transfer of that ownership of beneficial interests in a Global Security will be shown on, and the transfer of that ownership of beneficial interests in a Global Security will be shown on, and the transfer of that ownership will be effected only through records maintained by Participants or persons that hold through Participants.

So long as the Depositary for a Global Security, or its nominee, is the registered owner of such Global Security, such Depositary or such nominee, as the case may be, will be considered the sole owner or holder of the debt securities represented by such Global Security for all purposes under the applicable Trust Indenture and payments of principal, premium, if any, and interest, if any, on the debt securities represented by a Global Security will be made by the Company to the Depositary or its nominee. The Company expects that the Depositary or its nominee, upon receipt of any payment of principal, premium, if any, or interest, if any, will credit Participants' accounts with payments in amounts proportionate to their respective beneficial interests in the principal amount of the Global Security as shown on the records of such Depositary or its nominee. The Company also expects that payments by Participants to owners of beneficial interests in a Global Security held through such Participants will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices and will be the responsibility of such Participants.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by the Depositary to direct Participants, by direct Participants to indirect Participants and by direct and indirect Participants to beneficial owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Beneficial owners of debt securities may wish to take certain steps to augment transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect to the debt securities, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults and proposed amendments to the Trust Indenture.

Owners of beneficial interests in a Global Security will not be entitled to have the debt securities represented by such Global Security registered in their names, will not receive or be entitled to receive physical delivery of such debt securities in certificated non-book-entry form, and will not be considered the owners or holders thereof under the applicable Trust Indenture, and the ability of a holder to pledge a debt security or otherwise take action with respect to such holder's interest in a debt security (other than through a Participant) may be limited due to the lack of a physical certificate.

No Global Security may be exchanged in whole or in part for debt securities registered, and no transfer of a Global Security in whole or in part may be registered, in the name of any person other than the Depositary for such Global Security or any nominee of such Depositary unless: (i) the Depositary is no longer willing or able to discharge properly its responsibilities as Depositary and the Company is unable to locate a qualified successor; (ii) the Company at its option elects, or is required by law, to terminate the book-entry system through the Depositary or the book-entry system ceases to exist; or (iii) if provided for in the Trust Indenture, after the occurrence of an event of default thereunder (provided the Trustee has not waived the event of default in accordance with the terms of the Trust Indenture), Participants acting on behalf of beneficial holders representing, in aggregate, a threshold percentage of the aggregate principal amount of the debt securities then outstanding advise the Depositary in writing that the continuation of a book-entry system through the Depositary is no longer in their best interest.

If one of the foregoing events occurs, such Global Security shall be exchanged for certificated non-book-entry debt securities of the same series in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of such Global Security and registered in such names and denominations as the Depositary may direct.

The Company, any underwriters, dealers or agents and any Trustee identified in an accompanying prospectus supplement, as applicable, will not have any liability or responsibility for (i) records maintained by the Depositary relating to beneficial ownership interests in the debt securities held by the Depositary or the book-entry accounts maintained by the Depositary, (ii) maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to any such beneficial ownership interests, or (iii) any advice or representation made by or with respect to the Depositary and contained in this prospectus or in any prospectus supplement or Trust Indenture with respect to the rules and regulations of the Depositary or at the direction of Participants.

Unless otherwise stated in the applicable prospectus supplement, CDS Clearing and Depository Services Inc. or its successor will act as Depositary for any debt securities represented by a Global Security.

Debt Securities in Certificated Form

A series of the debt securities may be issued in definitive form, solely as registered securities, solely as unregistered securities or as both registered securities and unregistered securities. Unless otherwise indicated in the applicable prospectus supplement, unregistered securities will have interest coupons attached.

In the event that the debt securities are issued in certificated non-book-entry form, and unless otherwise indicated in the applicable prospectus supplement, payment of principal, premium, if any, and interest, if any, on the debt securities (other than a Global Security) will be made at the office or agency of the Trustee or, at the option of the Company, by the Company by way of cheque mailed or delivered to the address of the person entitled at the address appearing in the security register of the Trustee or electronic funds wire or other transmission to an account of the person entitled to receive such payments. Unless otherwise indicated in the applicable prospectus supplement, payment of interest, if any, will be made to the persons in whose name the debt securities are registered at the close of business on the day or days specified by the Company.

At the option of the holder of debt securities, registered securities of any series will be exchangeable for other registered securities of the same series, of any authorized denomination and of a like aggregate principal amount and tenor. If, but only if, provided in an applicable prospectus supplement, unregistered securities (with all unmatured coupons, except as provided below, and all matured coupons in default) of any series may be exchanged for registered securities of the same series, of any authorized denominations and of a like aggregate principal amount and tenor. In such event, unregistered securities surrendered in a permitted exchange for registered securities between a regular record date or a special record date and the relevant date for payment of interest shall be surrendered without the coupon relating to such date for payment of interest, and interest will not be payable on such date for payment of interest in respect of the registered security issued in exchange for such unregistered security, but will be payable only to the holder of such coupon when due in accordance with the terms of the Trust Indenture. Unless otherwise specified in an applicable prospectus supplement, unregistered securities will not be issued in exchange for registered securities.

The applicable prospectus supplement may indicate the places to register a transfer of the debt securities in definitive form. Except for certain restrictions to be set forth in the Trust Indenture, no service charge will be payable by the holder for any registration of transfer or exchange of the debt securities in definitive form, but the Company may, in certain instances, require a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charges payable in connection with these transactions.

DESCRIPTION OF WARRANTS

General

This section describes the general terms that will apply to any warrants for the purchase of Common Shares, or equity warrants, or for the purchase of debt securities, or debt warrants.

We may issue warrants independently or together with other securities, and warrants sold with other securities may be attached to or separate from the other securities. Warrants will be issued under one or more warrant agency agreements to be entered into by us and one or more banks or trust companies acting as warrant agent. Debt warrants, if offered, may be guaranteed by an affiliate or an associate of the Company.

The Company will deliver an undertaking to the securities regulatory authority in each of the provinces and territories of Canada, that it will not distribute warrants that, according to their terms as described in the applicable prospectus supplement, are "novel" specified derivatives within the meaning of Canadian securities legislation, separately to any member of the public in Canada, unless the offering is in connection with and forms part of the consideration for an acquisition or merger transaction or unless such prospectus supplement containing the specific terms of the warrants to be distributed separately is first approved by or on behalf of the securities commissions or similar regulatory authorities in each of the provinces and territories of Canada where the warrants will be distributed.

This summary of some of the provisions of the warrants is not complete. The statements made in this prospectus relating to any warrant agreement and warrants to be issued under this prospectus are summaries of certain anticipated provisions thereof and do not purport to be complete and are subject to, and are qualified in their entirety by reference to, all provisions of the applicable warrant agreement. You should refer to the warrant indenture or warrant agency agreement relating to the specific warrants will be filed by the Company with the securities regulatory authorities in the applicable Canadian offering jurisdictions after we have entered into it, and will be available electronically on SEDAR at www.sedarplus.ca.

The applicable prospectus supplement relating to any warrants that we offer will describe the particular terms of those warrants and include specific terms relating to the offering.

Original purchasers of warrants (if offered separately) will have a contractual right of rescission against us in respect of the exercise of such warrant. The contractual right of rescission will entitle such original purchasers to receive, upon surrender of the underlying securities acquired upon exercise of the warrant, the total of the amount paid on original purchase of the warrant and the amount paid upon exercise, in the event that this prospectus (as supplemented or amended) contains a misrepresentation, provided that: (i) the exercise takes place within 180 days of the date of the purchase of the warrant under the applicable prospectus supplement; and (ii) the right of rescission is exercised within 180 days of the date of purchase of the warrant under the applicable prospectus supplement. This contractual right of rescission will be consistent with the statutory right of rescission described under section 130 of the *Securities Act* (Ontario), and is in addition to any other right or remedy available to original purchasers under section 130 of the *Securities Act* (Ontario) or otherwise at law.

In an offering of warrants, or other convertible securities, original purchasers are cautioned that the statutory right of action for damages for a misrepresentation contained in the prospectus is limited, in certain provincial and territorial securities legislation, to the price at which the warrants, or other convertible securities, are offered to the public under the prospectus offering. This means that, under the securities legislation of certain provinces and territories, if the purchaser pays additional amounts upon conversion, exchange or exercise of such securities, those amounts may not be recoverable under the statutory right of action for damages that applies in those provinces or territories. The purchaser should refer to any applicable provisions of the securities legislation of the purchaser's province or territory for the particulars of these rights or consult with a legal advisor.

Equity Warrants

The particular terms of each issue of equity warrants will be described in the applicable prospectus supplement. This description will include, where applicable:

- the designation and aggregate number of equity warrants;
- the price at which the equity warrants will be offered;
- the currency or currencies in which the equity warrants will be offered;
- the date on which the right to exercise the equity warrants will commence and the date on which the right will expire;
- the number of Common Shares that may be purchased upon exercise of each equity warrant and the price at which and currency or currencies in which the Common Shares may be purchased upon exercise of each equity warrant;
- the terms of any provisions allowing or providing for adjustments in (i) the number and/or class of shares that may be purchased, (ii) the exercise price per share or (iii) the expiry of the equity warrants;
- whether we will issue fractional shares;
- whether we have applied to list the equity warrants or the underlying shares on a stock exchange;
- the designation and terms of any securities with which the equity warrants will be offered, if any, and the number of the equity warrants that will be offered with each security;
- the date or dates, if any, on or after which the equity warrants and the related securities will be transferable separately;
- whether the equity warrants will be subject to redemption or call and, if so, the terms of such redemption or call provisions;
- material Canadian federal income tax consequences of owning the equity warrants;
- any terms, procedures and limitations relating to the transferability, exchange or exercise of the equity warrants; and
- any other material terms or conditions of the equity warrants.



Debt Warrants

The particular terms of each issue of debt warrants will be described in the related prospectus supplement. This description will include, where applicable:

- the designation and aggregate number of debt warrants;
- the price at which the debt warrants will be offered;
- the currency or currencies in which the debt warrants will be offered;
- the designation and terms of any securities with which the debt warrants are being offered, if any, and the number of the debt warrants that will be offered with each security;
- the date or dates, if any, on or after which the debt warrants and the related securities will be transferable separately;
- the principal amount and designation of debt securities that may be purchased upon exercise of each debt warrant and the price at which and currency or currencies in which that principal amount of debt securities may be purchased upon exercise of each debt warrant;
- the date on which the right to exercise the debt warrants will commence and the date on which the right will expire;
- the minimum or maximum amount of debt warrants that may be exercised at any one time;
- whether the debt warrants will be subject to redemption or call, and, if so, the terms of such redemption or call provisions;
- material Canadian federal income tax consequences of owning the debt warrants;
- whether we have applied to list the debt warrants or the underlying debt securities on an exchange;
- any terms, procedures and limitations relating to the transferability, exchange or exercise of the debt warrants; and
- any other material terms or conditions of the debt warrants.

Prior to the exercise of their warrants, holders of warrants will not have any of the rights of holders of the securities subject to the warrants.

DESCRIPTION OF UNITS

Bitfarms may issue units, which may consist of one or more of Common Shares, warrants or any other security specified in the relevant prospectus supplement. Each unit will be issued so that the holder of the unit is also the holder of each of the securities included in the unit. In addition, the relevant prospectus supplement relating to an offering of units will describe all material terms of any units offered, including, as applicable:

- the designation and aggregate number of units being offered;
- the price at which the units will be offered;
- the designation, number and terms of the securities comprising the units and any agreement governing the units;
- the date or dates, if any, on or after which the securities comprising the units will be transferable separately;
- whether we will apply to list the units or any of the individual securities comprising the units on any exchange;
- material Canadian income tax consequences of owning the units, including, how the purchase price paid for the units will be allocated among the securities comprising the units; and
- any other material terms or conditions of the units.



DESCRIPTION OF SUBSCRIPTION RECEIPTS

We may issue subscription receipts separately or in combination with one or more other securities, which will entitle holders thereof to receive, upon satisfaction of certain release conditions (the "**Release Conditions**") and for no additional consideration, Common Shares, warrants, debt securities or any combination thereof. Subscription receipts will be issued pursuant to one or more subscription receipt agreements (each, a "**Subscription Receipt Agreement**"), the material terms of which will be described in the applicable prospectus supplement, each to be entered into between the Company and an escrow agent (the "**Escrow Agent**") that will be named in the relevant prospectus supplement. Each Escrow Agent will be a financial institution organized under the laws of Canada or a province thereof and authorized to carry on business as a trustee. If underwriters or agents are used in the sale of any subscription receipts, one or more of such underwriters or agents may also be a party to the Subscription Receipt Agreement governing the subscription receipts sold to or through such underwriter or agent.

The following description sets forth certain general terms and provisions of subscription receipts that may be issued hereunder and is not intended to be complete. The statements made in this prospectus relating to any Subscription Receipt Agreement and subscription receipts to be issued thereunder are summaries of certain anticipated provisions thereof and are subject to, and are qualified in their entirety by reference to, all provisions of the applicable Subscription Receipt Agreement relating to the specific subscription receipts being offered for the complete terms of the subscription receipts. We will file a copy of any Subscription Receipt Agreement relating to an offering of subscription receipts with the applicable securities regulatory authorities in Canada after it has been entered into it.

General

The prospectus supplement and the Subscription Receipt Agreement for any subscription receipts that we may offer will describe the specific terms of the subscription receipts offered. This description may include, but may not be limited to, any of the following, if applicable:

- the designation and aggregate number of subscription receipts being offered;
- the price at which the subscription receipts will be offered;
- the designation, number and terms of the Common Shares, warrants and/or debt securities to be received by the holders of subscription receipts upon satisfaction of the Release Conditions, and any procedures that will result in the adjustment of those numbers;
- the Release Conditions that must be met in order for holders of subscription receipts to receive, for no additional consideration, the Common Shares, warrants and/or debt securities;
- the procedures for the issuance and delivery of the Common Shares, warrants and/or debt securities to holders of subscription receipts upon satisfaction of the Release Conditions;
- whether any payments will be made to holders of subscription receipts upon delivery of the Common Shares, warrants and/or debt securities upon satisfaction of the Release Conditions;
- the identity of the Escrow Agent;
- the terms and conditions under which the Escrow Agent will hold all or a portion of the gross proceeds from the sale of subscription receipts, together with interest and income earned thereon (collectively, the "Escrowed Funds"), pending satisfaction of the Release Conditions;



- the terms and conditions pursuant to which the Escrow Agent will hold the Common Shares, warrants and/or debt securities pending satisfaction of the Release Conditions;
- the terms and conditions under which the Escrow Agent will release all or a portion of the Escrowed Funds to the Company upon satisfaction of the Release Conditions;
- if the subscription receipts are sold to or through underwriters or agents, the terms and conditions under which the Escrow Agent will release a portion of the Escrowed Funds to such underwriters or agents in payment of all or a portion of their fees or commissions in connection with the sale of the subscription receipts;
- procedures for the refund by the Escrow Agent to holders of subscription receipts of all or a portion of the subscription price of their subscription receipts, plus any *pro rata* entitlement to interest earned or income generated on such amount, if the Release Conditions are not satisfied;
- any contractual right of rescission to be granted to initial purchasers of subscription receipts in the event that this prospectus, the prospectus supplement under which such subscription receipts are issued or any amendment hereto or thereto contains a misrepresentation;
- any entitlement of Bitfarms to purchase the subscription receipts in the open market by private agreement or otherwise;
- whether we will issue the subscription receipts as Global Securities and, if so, the identity of the Depositary for the Global Securities;
- whether we will issue the subscription receipts as unregistered bearer securities, as registered securities or both;
- provisions as to modification, amendment or variation of the Subscription Receipt Agreement or any rights or terms of the subscription receipts, including upon any subdivision, consolidation, reclassification or other material change of the Common Shares, warrants or other Bitfarms securities, any other reorganization, amalgamation, merger or sale of all or substantially all of the Company's assets or any distribution of property or rights to all or substantially all of the holders of Common Shares;
- whether we will apply to list the subscription receipts on any exchange;
- material Canadian federal income tax consequences of owning the subscription receipts; and
- any other material terms or conditions of the subscription receipts.

Original purchasers of subscription receipts will have a contractual right of rescission against us in respect of the conversion of the subscription receipts. The contractual right of rescission will entitle such original purchasers to receive the amount paid on original purchase of the subscription receipts upon surrender of the underlying securities gained thereby, in the event that this prospectus (as supplemented or amended) contains a misrepresentation, provided that: (i) the conversion takes place within 180 days of the date of the purchase of the subscription receipts under this prospectus; and (ii) the right of rescission is exercised within 180 days of the date of purchase of the subscription receipts under this prospectus. This contractual right of rescission will be consistent with the statutory right of rescission described under section 130 of the *Securities Act* (Ontario), and is in addition to any other right or remedy available to original purchasers under section 130 of the *Securities Act* (Ontario) or otherwise at law.

Rights of Holders of Subscription Receipts Prior to Satisfaction of Release Conditions

The holders of subscription receipts will not be, and will not have the rights of, Shareholders. Holders of subscription receipts are entitled only to receive Common Shares, warrants and/or debt securities on exchange of their subscription receipts, plus any cash payments, if any, all as provided for under the Subscription Receipt Agreement and only once the Release Conditions have been satisfied. If the Release Conditions are not satisfied, holders of subscription receipts shall be entitled to a refund of all or a portion of the subscription price therefor and their *pro rata* share of interest earned or income generated thereon, if provided for in the Subscription Receipt Agreement, all as provided in the Subscription Receipt Agreement.

Escrow

The Subscription Receipt Agreement will provide that the Escrowed Funds will be held in escrow by the Escrow Agent, and such Escrowed Funds will be released to the Company (and, if the subscription receipts are sold to or through underwriters or agents, a portion of the Escrowed Funds may be released to such underwriters or agents in payment of all or a portion of their fees in connection with the sale of the subscription receipts) at the time and under the terms specified by the Subscription Receipt Agreement. If the Release Conditions are not satisfied, holders of subscription receipts will receive a refund of all or a portion of the subscription receipts are sold to receipt, plus their pro-rata entitlement to interest earned or income generated on such amount, if provided for in the Subscription Receipt Agreement, in accordance with the terms of the Subscription Receipt Agreement. Common Shares, warrants and or debt securities may be held in escrow by the Escrow Agent and will be released to the holders of subscription receipts following satisfaction of the Release Conditions at the time and under the terms specified in the Subscription Receipt Agreement.

Modifications

The Subscription Receipt Agreement will specify the terms upon which modifications and alterations to the subscription receipts issued thereunder may be made by way of a resolution of holders of subscription receipts at a meeting of such holders or consent in writing from such holders. The number of holders of subscription receipts required to pass such a resolution or execute such a written consent will be specified in the Subscription Receipt Agreement.

The Subscription Receipt Agreement will also specify that we may amend any Subscription Receipt Agreement and the subscription receipts without the consent of the holders of the subscription receipts to cure any ambiguity, to cure, correct or supplement any defective or inconsistent provision or in any other manner that will not materially and adversely affect the interests of the holders of outstanding subscription receipts or as otherwise specified in the Subscription Receipt Agreement.

DESCRIPTION OF SHARE PURCHASE CONTRACTS

We may issue share purchase contracts, representing contracts obligating holders to purchase from or sell to us a specified number of Common Shares, as applicable, at a future date or dates.

The price per Common Share and the number of Common Shares, as applicable, may be fixed at the time the share purchase contracts are issued or may be determined by reference to a specific formula or method set forth in the share purchase contracts. We may issue share purchase contracts in accordance with applicable laws and in such amounts and in as many distinct series as we may determine.

The share purchase contracts may be issued separately or as part of units consisting of a share purchase contract and beneficial interests in debt securities, or debt obligations of third parties, including U.S. treasury securities or obligations of the subsidiaries, securing the holders' obligations to purchase the Common Shares under the share purchase contracts, which we refer to in this prospectus as share purchase units. The share purchase contracts may require the Company to make periodic payments to the holders of the share purchase units or vice versa, and these payments may be unsecured or refunded and may be paid on a current or on a deferred basis. The share purchase contracts may require holders to secure their obligations under those contracts in a specified manner.

Holders of share purchase contracts are not shareholders of Bitfarms. The particular terms and provisions of share purchase contracts offered by any prospectus supplement, and the extent to which the general terms and provisions described below may apply to them, will be described in the prospectus supplement filed in respect of such share purchase contracts. This description will include, where applicable: (i) whether the share purchase contracts obligate the holder to purchase or sell, or both purchase and sell, Common Shares, as applicable, and the nature and amount of those securities, or the method of determining those amounts; (ii) any conditions upon which the purchase or sale will be contingent and the consequences if such conditions are not satisfied; (iii) whether the share purchase contracts are to be settled by delivery, or by reference or linkage to the value or performance of Common Shares; (iv) any acceleration, cancellation, termination or other provisions relating to the settlement of the share purchase contracts; (v) the date or dates on which the sale or purchase must be made, if any; (vi) whether the share purchase contracts will be issued in fully registered or global form; (vii) the material income tax consequences of owning, holding and disposing of the share purchase contracts; and (viii) any other material terms and conditions of the share purchase contracts including, without limitation, transferability and adjustment terms and whether the share purchase contracts will be listed on a stock exchange.

The Company will deliver an undertaking to the securities regulatory authority in each of the provinces and territories of Canada, that it will not distribute share purchase contracts that, according to their terms as described in the applicable prospectus supplement, are "novel" specified derivatives within the meaning of Canadian securities legislation, separately to any member of the public in Canada, unless the offering is in connection with and forms part of the consideration for an acquisition or merger transaction or unless such prospectus supplement containing the specific terms of the share purchase contracts to be distributed separately is first approved by or on behalf of the securities commissions or similar regulatory authorities in each of the provinces and territories of Canada where the share purchase contracts will be distributed.

Original purchases of share purchase contracts will be granted a contractual right of rescission against the Company in respect of the conversion, exchange or exercise of such share purchase contract. The contractual right of rescission will entitle such original purchasers to receive the amount paid upon conversion, exchange or exercise, upon surrender of the underlying securities gained thereby, in the event that this prospectus (as supplemented or amended) contains a misrepresentation, provided that: (i) the conversion, exchange or exercise takes place within 180 days of the date of the purchase of the convertible, exchangeable or exercisable security under this prospectus; and (ii) the right of rescission is exercised within 180 days of the date of the purchase of the convertible, exchangeable or exercisable security under this prospectus. This contractual right of rescission will be consistent with the statutory right of rescission described under section 130 of the *Securities Act* (Ontario), and is in addition to any other right or remedy available to original purchasers under section 130 of the *Securities Act* (Ontario) or otherwise at law.



PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

General

The Company may sell the securities of the Company offered by this prospectus (collectively, the "**Securities**"), separately or together, to or through underwriters, dealers or agents purchasing as principals for public offering and sale by them, and also may sell Securities to one or more other purchasers directly or through agents. Each prospectus supplement will set forth the terms of the offering, including the name or names of any underwriters or agents, the purchase price or prices of the Securities (or the manner of determination thereof if offered on a non-fixed price basis, including sales in transactions that are deemed to be "at-the-market distributions" as defined in NI 44-102), and the proceeds to the Company from the sale of the Securities.

The Securities may be sold from time to time in one or more transactions at a fixed price or prices which may be changed or at market prices prevailing at the time of sale, at prices related to such prevailing market prices or at negotiated prices. The prices at which the Securities may be offered may vary as between purchasers and during the period of distribution. If, in connection with the offering of Securities at a fixed price or prices, the underwriters have made a reasonable effort to sell all of the Securities at the initial offering price fixed in the applicable prospectus supplement, the public offering price may be decreased and thereafter further changed, from time to time, to an amount not greater than the initial public offering price fixed in such prospectus supplement, in which case the compensation realized by the underwriters will be decreased by the amount that the aggregate price paid by purchasers for the Securities is less than the gross proceeds paid by the underwriters to the Company.

The sale of Common Shares may be effected from time to time in one or more transactions at non-fixed prices pursuant to transactions that are deemed to be "at-the-market distributions" as defined in NI 44-102, including sales made directly on the TSX, Nasdaq, or other existing trading markets for the Common Shares. Sales of Common Shares under an "at-the-market distribution", if any, will be made pursuant to an accompanying prospectus supplement. The volume and timing of any "at-the-market distributions" will be determined at the Company's sole discretion.

Underwriters, dealers and agents who participate in the distribution of the Securities may be deemed to be underwriters, and any commissions received by them from the Company and any profit on the resale of the Securities by them may be deemed to be underwriting commissions under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Underwriters, dealers and agents who participate in the distribution of the Securities may be entitled under agreements to be entered into with the Company to indemnification by the Company against certain liabilities, including liabilities under securities legislation, or to contribution with respect to payments which such underwriters, dealers or agents may be required to make in respect thereof. Such underwriters, dealers and agents may be customers of, engage in transactions with, or perform services for, the Company in the ordinary course of business.

Unless otherwise specified in the relevant prospectus supplement, in connection with any offering of Securities, other than an "at-the-market distribution", the underwriters, dealers or agents who participate in the distribution of Securities may over-allot or effect transactions intended to maintain or stabilize the market price of the Securities offered at a level above that which might otherwise prevail in the open market. Such transactions, if commenced, may be interrupted or discontinued at any time. No underwriter involved in an "at-the-market distribution", no affiliate of such an underwriter and no person or company acting jointly or in concert with such an underwriter may over-allot Common Shares in connection with the distribution or may effect any other transactions that are intended stabilize or maintain the market price of the Common Shares in connection with an "at-the-market distribution" including selling an aggregate number or principal amount of securities that would result in the underwriter creating an over-allocation position in the securities.

Each prospectus supplement with respect to the Company's securities being offered will set forth the terms of the offering, including:

- the person offering the securities;
- the name or names of any underwriters, dealers or other placement agents;
- the number and the purchase price of, and form of consideration for, our securities;
- any proceeds to the Company from such sale; and
- any commissions, fees, discounts and other items constituting underwriters', dealers' or agents' compensation.

Secondary Offering

This prospectus may also, from time to time, relate to the offering of Common Shares by certain Selling Securityholders.

Common Shares may be sold by the Selling Securityholders in one or more transactions at fixed prices, at prevailing market prices at the time of the sale, at varying prices determined at the time of sale, or at negotiated prices. These sales may be effected in any transaction permitted pursuant to applicable law. The Selling Securityholders may, from time to time, sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of any or all of their Common Shares included for public offering in this prospectus on Nasdaq, the TSX or any stock exchange, market or trading facility on which the Common Shares are listed or quoted or in private transactions. The Selling Securityholders may sell all or a portion of Common Shares beneficially owned by them and offered hereby from time to time directly or through one or more underwriters, dealers or agents. If Common Shares are sold through underwriters or dealers, the Selling Securityholders will be responsible for underwriting discounts or commissions or agent's commissions.

If the Selling Securityholders effect such transactions by selling Common Shares to or through underwriters, dealers or agents, such underwriters, dealers or agents may receive commissions in the form of discounts, concessions or commissions from the Selling Securityholders or commissions from purchasers of Common Shares for whom they may act as agent or to whom they may sell as principal (which discounts, concessions or commissions as to particular underwriters, dealers or agents may be in excess of those customary in the types of transactions involved).

The Selling Securityholders may pledge or grant a security interest in some or all of the Common Shares owned by them, and, if they default in the performance of their secured obligations, the pledgees or secured parties may offer and sell Common Shares from time to time pursuant to this prospectus or any prospectus supplement filed under General Instruction II.L. of Form F-10 under the U.S. Securities Act, amending, if necessary, the list of Selling Securityholders to include the pledgee, transferee or other successors in interest as Selling Securityholders under this prospectus. The Selling Securityholders also may transfer and donate Common Shares in other circumstances in which case the transferees, donees, pledgees or other successor in interest will be the selling beneficial owners for purposes of this prospectus.

The Selling Securityholders and any underwriter, agent or dealer participating in the distribution of Common Shares may be deemed to be "underwriters" within the meaning of the U.S. Securities Act, and any commission paid, or any discounts or concessions allowed to, any such underwriter, agent or dealer may be deemed to be underwriting commissions or discounts under the U.S. Securities Act. At the time a particular offering of Common Shares is made, a prospectus supplement, if required, will be distributed which will identify the Selling Securityholders and provide the other information set forth under "Selling Securityholders", set forth the aggregate amount of Common Shares being offered and the terms of the offering, including the name or names of any dealers or agents, any discounts, commissions and other terms constituting compensation from the Selling Securityholders and any discounts, commissions or concessions allowed or re-allowed or paid to dealers.

There can be no assurance that any Selling Securityholder will sell any or all of Common Shares registered pursuant to the Registration Statement, of which this prospectus forms a part. The Selling Securityholders may also sell any or all of their Common Shares under Rule 144 or Rule 904 under the U.S. Securities Act, in each case, if available, rather than under this prospectus.

The Selling Securityholders and any other person participating in such distribution will be subject to applicable provisions of Canadian securities legislation and the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder, including, without limitation, Regulation M under the Exchange Act, which may limit the timing of purchases and sales of any Common Shares by the Selling Securityholders and any other participating person. Regulation M may also restrict the ability of any person engaged in the distribution of Common Shares to engage in market-making activities with respect to Common Shares. All of the foregoing may affect the marketability of Common Shares and the ability of any person or entity to engage in market-making activities with respect to Common Shares.

Once sold under the Registration Statement, of which this prospectus forms a part, Common Shares will be freely tradable in the hands of persons other than our affiliates.

CERTAIN INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS

The applicable prospectus supplement may describe certain Canadian federal income tax consequences to an investor who is a non-resident of Canada or to an investor who is a resident of Canada of acquiring, owning and disposing of any of the Company's securities offered thereunder. Investors should read the tax discussion in any prospectus supplement with respect to a particular offering and consult their own tax advisors with respect to their own particular circumstances.

The applicable prospectus supplement may also describe certain U.S. federal income tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership and disposition of any of the Securities offered thereunder by an initial investor who is a U.S. person (within the meaning of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended), including, to the extent applicable, such consequences relating to debt securities payable in a currency other than the U.S. dollar, issued at an original issue discount for U.S. federal income tax purposes or containing early redemption provisions or other special items. Investors should read the tax discussion in any prospectus supplement with respect to a particular offering and consult their own tax advisors with respect to their own particular circumstances.

LEGAL MATTERS

Certain legal matters related to the Company's securities offered by this prospectus will be passed upon on the Company's behalf by Peterson McVicar LLP, with respect to matters of Canadian law. Certain legal matters relating to United States law related to the Company's securities offered by this prospectus will be passed upon on behalf of the Company by Katten Muchin Rosenman LLP. In addition, certain legal matters in connection with any offering of securities will be passed upon for any underwriters, dealers or agents by counsel to be designated at the time of the offering by such underwriters, dealers or agents.

AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

The independent registered public accounting firm of the Company is PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP at its offices located at PwC Centre, 354 Davis Road, Suite 600, Oakville, Ontario, Canada L6J 0C5.

The transfer agent and registrar of the Company is TSX Trust Company at its offices located at 100 Adelaide St W #301, Toronto, ON M5H 1S3.

AGENTS FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS

Purchasers are advised that it may not be possible for investors to enforce judgments obtained in Canada against any person or company that is incorporated, continued or otherwise organized under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction or resides outside of Canada, even if the party has appointed an agent for service of process.

Certain directors and officers of the Company reside outside of Canada. Emiliano Joel Grodzki, Nicolas Bonta, Andres Finkielsztain, Edith M. Hofmeister, Benjamin Gagnon, and Jeffrey Lucas have appointed the following agents for service of process:

Name of Person

Emiliano Joel Grodzki Nicolas Bonta Andres Finkielsztain Edith M. Hofmeister Benjamin Gagnon Jeffrey Lucas

Bitfarms Ltd. 18 King St. E, Suite 902

Name and Address of Agent

Toronto, ON M5C 1C4

The Company filed with the SEC, concurrently with the initial filing of this Registration Statement, an appointment of agent for service of process on Form F-X. Under the Form F-X, the Company appointed Cogency Global Inc., with an address at 122 E. 42nd Street, 18th Floor, New York, NY 10168 USA, as its agent for service of process in the United States in connection with any investigation or administrative proceeding conducted by the SEC, and any civil suit or action brought against or involving the Company in a United States court, arising out of or related to or concerning the offering of Securities under this prospectus.

EXEMPTIONS UNDER SECURITIES LAWS

Pursuant to a decision of the Autorité des Marchés Financiers, the securities regulatory authority in the Province of Québec, dated June 22, 2023, the Company was granted relief from the requirement that this prospectus and all documents incorporated by reference herein, as well as any prospectus supplement that relates to any future "at-the- market" distribution, must be in both the French and English languages. The Company is not required to file French versions of this prospectus, the documents incorporated by reference herein or any prospectus supplement relating to an "at-the-market" distribution. This exemption was granted on the condition that this prospectus, together with any prospectus supplement, and any documents incorporated by reference in the prospectus or any prospectus supplement, be translated into French if the Company offers securities to Québec purchasers in connection with an offering other than in relation to an "at-the-market" distribution.

STATUTORY RIGHTS OF WITHDRAWAL AND RESCISSION

Securities legislation in some provinces and territories of Canada provides purchasers of securities with the right to withdraw from an agreement to purchase securities and with remedies for rescission or, in some jurisdictions, revisions of the price, or damages if the prospectus, prospectus supplement, and any amendment relating to securities purchased by a purchaser are not sent or delivered to the purchaser. However, purchasers of securities under an at-the-market distribution by Bitfarms do not have the right to withdraw from an agreement to purchase the securities and do not have remedies of rescission or, in some jurisdictions, revisions of the prospectus, prospectus supplement, and any amendment relating to securities of the price, or damages for non-delivery of the prospectus, prospectus supplement, and any amendment relating to securities purchaser because the prospectus, prospectus supplement, and any amendment relating to the securities purchaser because the prospectus, prospectus supplement, and any amendment relating to the securities purchaser because the prospectus, prospectus supplement, and any amendment relating to the securities purchased by such purchaser will not be sent or delivered, as permitted under Part 9 of NI 44-102.

Securities legislation in some provinces and territories of Canada further provides purchasers with remedies for rescission or, in some jurisdictions, revisions of the price or damages if the prospectus, prospectus supplement, and any amendment relating to securities purchased by a purchaser contains a misrepresentation.

Those remedies must be exercised by the purchaser within the time limit prescribed by securities legislation. Any remedies under securities legislation that a purchaser of securities distributed under an at-the-market distribution by Bitfarms may have against Bitfarms or its agents for rescission or, in some jurisdictions, revisions of the price, or damages if the prospectus, prospectus supplement, and any amendment relating to securities purchased by a purchaser contain a misrepresentation will remain unaffected by the non-delivery of the prospectus referred to above.

In an offering of convertible, exchangeable, or exercisable securities, investors are cautioned that the statutory right of action for damages under Canadian securities laws for a misrepresentation contained in the prospectus or a prospectus supplement (or any amendment thereto) is limited, in certain provincial and territorial securities legislation, to the price at which the convertible, exchangeable or exercisable securities are offered to the public under the prospectus offering. This means that, under the securities legislation of certain provinces and territories, if the purchaser pays additional amounts upon conversion, exchange or exercise of such securities, those amounts may not be recoverable under the statutory right of action for damages that applies in those provinces. The purchaser should refer to any applicable provisions of the securities legislation of the purchaser's province or territory for the particulars of these rights, or consult with a legal advisor.

Original purchasers of convertible, exchangeable, or exercisable securities, will have a contractual right of rescission against us in respect of the exercise of such convertible, exchangeable, or exercisable securities. The contractual right of rescission will entitle such original purchasers to receive, upon surrender of the underlying securities acquired upon exercise of the convertible, exchangeable, or exercisable security, as applicable security, as applicable, the total of the amount paid on original purchase of the convertible, exchangeable, or exercisable security, as applicable and the amount paid upon exercise, in the event that this prospectus (as supplemented or amended) contains a misrepresentation, provided that: (i) the exercise takes place within 180 days of the date of the purchase of the convertible, exchangeable, or exercisable security under the applicable prospectus supplement; and (ii) the right of rescission is exercised within 180 days of the date of purchase of the convertible, exchangeable, or exercisable security under the applicable prospectus supplement. This contractual right of rescission will be consistent with the statutory right of rescission described under section 130 of the *Securities Act* (Ontario), and is in addition to any other right or remedy available to original purchasers under section 130 of the *Securities Act* (Ontario) or otherwise at law.

PART II

INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED TO BE DELIVERED TO OFFEREES OR PURCHASERS

Indemnification of Directors and Officers.

Section 136 of the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) ("OBCA") provides for the indemnification of directors and officers of Bitfarms. Under these provisions, Bitfarms may indemnify a director or officer of the corporation, a former director or officer of the corporation or another individual who acts or acted at the corporation's request as a director or officer, or an individual acting in a similar capacity, of another entity (collectively, an "Indemnified Person") against all costs, charges and expenses, including an amount paid to settle an action or satisfy a judgment, reasonably incurred by the Indemnified Person in respect of any civil, criminal, administrative, investigative or other proceeding (other than in respect to an action by or on behalf of Bitfarms to procure a judgment in its favor) in which the individual is involved because of that association with Bitfarms or other entity, if the Indemnified Person fulfills the following two conditions: (a) he or she acted honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of Bitfarms or in the best interests of such other entity as applicable and (b) in the case of a criminal or administrative action or proceeding that is enforced by a monetary penalty, he or she had reasonable grounds for believing that his or her conduct was lawful. In respect of an action by or on behalf of Bitfarms or such other entity to procure a judgment in its favor, Bitfarms, with the approval of a court, may indemnify an Indemnified Person against all costs, charges and expenses reasonably incurred by him or her in connection with such action if he or she fulfills the conditions set out in clauses (a) and (b) of the previous sentence. Notwithstanding the foregoing, an Indemnified Person is entitled to indemnity from the corporation in respect of all costs, charges and expenses reasonably incurred by the individual in connection with the defense of any civil, criminal, administrative, investigative or other proceeding to which the individual is subject because of the individual's association with the corporation or other entity as described above, if the individual seeking an indemnity fulfills the conditions in clauses (a) and (b) of this paragraph and was not judged by the court or other competent authority to have committed any fault or omitted to do anything that the individual ought to have done.

A policy of directors' and officers' liability insurance is maintained by the Registrant that insures directors and officers against losses incurred as a result of claims against the directors and officers of the Registrant in Canada pursuant to the indemnity provisions under the Registrant's articles and the OBCA.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the United States Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers or persons controlling the Registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, the Registrant has been informed that in the opinion of the SEC such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the United States Securities Act of 1933 and is therefore unenforceable.

II-1

Exhibits

The following exhibits have been filed as part of this Registration Statement:

| Exhibit | Description |
|---------|---|
| 4.1 | Annual Information Form for the year ended December 31, 2022, dated March 20, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the |
| | Registrant's Form 40-F filed with the SEC on March 21, 2023 (File No. 001-40370)). |
| 4.2 | Consolidated Financial Statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, dated March 20, 2023 (incorporated by |
| | reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Registrant's Form 40-F filed with the SEC on March 21, 2023 (File No. 001-40370)). |
| 4.3 | Management's Discussion & Analysis for the year ended December 31, 2022, dated March 20, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit |
| | 99.3 to the Registrant's Form 40-F filed with the SEC on March 21, 2023 (File No. 001-40370)). |
| 4.4 | Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for the three months ended March 31, 2023, dated May 15, 2023 (incorporated by |
| | reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant's Form 6-K filed with the SEC on May 15, 2023 (File No. 001-40370)). |
| 4.5 | Management's Discussion & Analysis for the three months ended March 31, 2023, dated May 15, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit |
| | 99.2 to the Registrant's Form 6-K filed with the SEC on May 15, 2023 (File No. 001-40370)). |
| 4.6 | Notice of Annual General Meeting and Special Meeting of Shareholders & Management Circular, dated April 24, 2023 (incorporated by |
| | reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Registrant's Form 6-K filed with the SEC on May 19, 2023 (File No. 001-40370)). |
| 4.7 | Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, dated August 8, 2023 (incorporated |
| | by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant's Form 6-K filed with the SEC on August 8, 2023 (File No. 001-40370)). |
| 4.8 | Management's Discussion & Analysis for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, dated August 8, 2023 (incorporated by reference to |
| | Exhibit 99.2 to the Registrant's Form 6-K filed with the SEC on August 8, 2023 (File No. 001-40370)). |
| 4.9 | Material Change Report dated January 3, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant's Form 6-K filed with the SEC on |
| | January 3, 2023 (File No. 001-40370)). |
| 4.10 | Material Change Report dated January 13, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant's Form 6-K filed with the SEC |
| 4.4.4 | on January 13, 2023 (File No. 001-40370)). |
| 4.11 | Material Change Report dated February 1, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant's Form 6-K filed with the SEC |
| 4 1 0 | on February 1, 2023 (File No. 001-40370)). |
| 4.12 | Material Change Report dated February 9, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant's Form 6-K filed with the SEC on February 9, 2023 (File No. 001-40370)). |
| 4.13 | <u>Material Change Report dated March 1, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant's Form 6-K filed with the SEC on</u> |
| 4.15 | Material Change Report dated Materia, 2023 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant's Form 6-K med with the SEC on March 1, 2023 (File No. 001-40370)). |
| 4.14 | Material Change Report dated March 21, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant's Form 6-K filed with the SEC on |
| 4.14 | Material Change Report dated Material, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 39.1 to the Registratic's Portific-R field with the SEC on March 21, 2023 (File No. 001-40370)). |
| 4.15 | Material Change Report dated April 3, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant's Form 6-K filed with the SEC on |
| 4.15 | April 3, 2023 (File No. 001-40370)). |
| 4.16 | <u>Material Change Report dated April 11, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant's Form 6-K filed with the SEC on</u> |
| 4.10 | April 11, 2023 (File No. 001-40370)). |
| 4.17 | <u>Material Change Report dated April 24, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant's Form 6-K filed with the SEC on</u> |
| | April 24, 2023 (File No. 001-40370)). |
| 4.18 | <u>Material Change Report dated April 28, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant's Form 6-K filed with the SEC on</u> |
| | April 28, 2023 (File No. 001-40370)). |
| 4.19 | Material Change Report dated May 1, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant's Form 6-K filed with the SEC on |
| | <u> </u> |
| 4.20 | Material Change Report dated May 1, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Registrant's Form 6-K filed with the SEC on |
| | <u>May 1, 2023 (File No. 001-40370)).</u> |
| 4.21 | Material Change Report dated May 8, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant's Form 6-K filed with the SEC on |
| | <u>May 8, 2023 (File No. 001-40370)).</u> |
| 4.22 | Press Release dated May 15, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.5 to the Registrant's Form 6-K filed with the SEC on May 15, |
| | 2023 (File No. 001-40370)). |

II-2

| 4.23 | Material Change Report dated June 1, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant's Form 6-K filed with the SEC on June 1, 2023 (File No. 001-40370)). |
|-------|---|
| 4.24 | Material Change Report dated June 7, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant's Form 6-K filed with the SEC on June 8, 2023 (File No. 001-40370)). |
| 4.25 | Material Change Report dated June 12, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant's Form 6-K filed with the SEC on June 12, 2023 (File No. 001-40370)). |
| 4.26 | Material Change Report dated July 3, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant's Form 6-K filed with the SEC on July 3, 2023 (File No. 001-40370)). |
| 4.27 | Material Change Report dated July 6, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant's Form 6-K filed with the SEC on July 6, 2023 (File No. 001-40370)). |
| 4.28 | Material Change Report dated July 19, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant's Form 6-K filed with the SEC on June 19, 2023 (File No. 001-40370)). |
| 4.29 | Material Change Report dated August 1, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant's Form 6-K filed with the SEC on August 1, 2023 (File No. 001-40370)). |
| 4.30 | Material Change Report dated August 7, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant's Form 6-K filed with the SEC on August 7, 2023 (File No. 001-40370)). |
| 4.31 | Press Release dated August 8, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.5 to the Registrant's Form 6-K filed with the SEC on August 8, 2023 (File No. 001-40370)). |
| 4.32 | Material Change Report dated September 1, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant's Form 6-K filed with the SEC on September 1, 2023 (File No. 001-40370)). |
| 5.1* | Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. |
| 6.1** | Power of Attorney (included on the signature pages to this Registration Statement). |
| 7.1 | Form of Senior Indenture (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 7.1 to the Registrant's Form F-10 filed with the SEC on August 13, 2021 (File No. 333-258788)). |
| 7.2 | Form of Subordinated Indenture (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 7.2 to the Registrant's Form F-10 filed with the SEC on August 13, 2021 (File No. 333-258788)). |
| 107* | Calculation of Filing Fee Table. |

* Filed herewith.** Previously filed or furnished to the SEC.

II-3

PART III

UNDERTAKING AND CONSENT TO SERVICE OF PROCESS

Item 1. Undertaking.

The Registrant undertakes to make available, in person or by telephone, representatives to respond to inquiries made by the SEC staff, and to furnish promptly, when requested to do so by the SEC staff, information relating to the securities registered pursuant to this Form F-10 or to transactions in said securities.

Item 2. Consent to Service of Process.

- (a) Concurrently with the initial filing of this Registration Statement, the Registrant filed with the SEC a written irrevocable consent and power of attorney on Form F-X.
- (b) Any change to the name or address of the Registrant's agent for service shall be communicated promptly to the SEC by amendment to Form F-X referencing the file number of this Registration Statement.

III-1

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the Registrant certifies that it has reasonable grounds to believe that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form F-10 and has duly caused this Amendment No. 1 to this Registration Statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Toronto, Province of Ontario, Canada, on September 22, 2023.

BITFARMS LTD.

By:/s/ L. Geoffrey MorphyName:L. Geoffrey MorphyTitle:President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this Registration Statement has been signed by or on behalf of the following persons in the capacities indicated and on the dates indicated.

| Signature | Title | Date | | |
|---|--|--------------------|--|--|
| /s/ L. Geoffrey Morphy L. Geoffrey Morphy | Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer), President and Director | September 22, 2023 | | |
| /s/ Jeffrey P. Lucas Jeffrey P. Lucas | Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer) | September 22, 2023 | | |
| /s/ Nicolas Bonta* Nicolas Bonta | Chairman of the Board and Founder | September 22, 2023 | | |
| /s/ Emiliano Joel Grodzki* Emiliano Joel Grodzki | Director and Founder | September 22, 2023 | | |
| /s/ Brian Howlett* Brian Howlett | Lead Director | September 22, 2023 | | |
| /s/ Andrés Finkielsztain* Andrés Finkielsztain | Director | September 22, 2023 | | |
| /s/ Edith M. Hofmeister* Edith M. Hofmeister | Director | September 22, 2023 | | |
| *By /s/ L. Geoffrey Morphy Name: L. Geoffrey Morphy: <i>Attorney-in-fact</i> | | | | |

III-2

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 6(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, the undersigned has signed this Registration Statement, in the capacity of the duly authorized representative of the Registrant in the United States, on September 22, 2023.

Cogency Global Inc.

as authorized representative for Bitfarms Ltd.

By: /s/ Colleen A. De Vries

Name: Colleen A. De Vries Title: Sr. Vice President on behalf of Cogency Global Inc.



Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in this Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement on Form F-10 (No. 333-272989) of Bitfarms Ltd. (the Company) of our report dated March 20, 2023, relating to the consolidated financial statements, which appears in Exhibit 99.2 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 40-F.

We also consent to reference to us under the heading "Interests of Experts," which appears in the Annual Information Form included in Exhibit 99.1 of the Company's Annual Report on Form 40-F, which is incorporated by reference in such Registration Statement.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

Oakville, Canada September 22, 2023

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP PwC Centre, 354 Davis Road, Suite 600, Oakville, Ontario, Canada L6J 0C5 T: +1 905 815 6300, F: +1 905 815 6499, ca_oakville_main_fax@pwc.com, www.pwc.com/ca

"PwC" refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership.

Calculation of Filing Fee Tables

FORM F-10 (Form Type)

BITFARMS LTD.

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)

Table 1: Newly Registered and Carry Forward Securities

In US Dollars

| | _Security Type | Security Class Title | Fee Calculation Rule or Instruction | Amount Registered | Proposed Maximum Offering Price Per Unit | (| Maximum Aggregate Offering Price | Fee Rate | amount of egistration Fee |
|----------------------|----------------------------------|--------------------------|--|-------------------------------|--|------------------|--|-----------|---------------------------------|
| | | | | Newly Registered Sec | curities | | | | |
| Fees to be paid | Equity | Common Shares | Rule 457(o) | (1) | (| 1) | (1) | - | - |
| Fees to be paid | Debt | Debt Securities | Rule 457(o) | (1) | (| 1) | (1) | - | - |
| Fees to be paid | Other | Warrants | Rule 457(o) | (1) | (| 1) | (1) | - | - |
| Fees to be paid | Other | Units | Rule 457(o) | (1) | (| 1) | (1) | - | _ |
| Fees to be paid | Other | Share Purchase Contracts | Rule 457(o) | (1) | (| 1) | (1) | - | - |
| Fees to be paid | Other | Subscription Receipts | Rule 457(o) | (1) | (| 1) | (1) | - | _ |
| Fees to be Paid | Unallocated (Universal) Shelf | - | Rule 457(o) | \$ 375,000,000 ⁽¹⁾ | (| ¹⁾ \$ | 375,000,000 ⁽¹⁾ \$ | 0.0001102 | \$ 41,325 |
| Fees Previously Paid | Equity | Common Shares | Rule 457(o) | (1) | (| 1) | (1) | - | - |
| Fees Previously Paid | Debt | Debt Securities | Rule 457(o) | (1) | (| 1) | (1) | - | - |
| Fees Previously Paid | Other | Warrants | Rule 457(o) | (1) | (| 1) | (1) | - | - |
| Fees Previously Paid | Other | Units | Rule 457(o) | (1) | (| 1) | (1) | - | - |
| Fees Previously Paid | Other | Share Purchase Contracts | Rule 457(o) | (1) | (| 1) | (1) | - | - |
| Fees Previously Paid | Other | Subscription Receipts | Rule 457(o) | (1) | (| 1) | (1) | - | - |
| Fees Previously Paid | Unallocated (Universal) Shelf | - | Rule 457(o) | \$ 375,000,000(1) | (| 1) \$ | | 0.0001102 | \$ 13,417.82(2) |
| | Total Offering Am | | | | | \$ | 375,000,000 | | \$ 41,325 |
| | Total Fees Previou | isly Paid | | | | | | | \$ 13,417.82 ⁽²⁾ |
| | Total Fee Offsets | | | | | | | | \$ 24,326.50 ⁽³⁾ |
| | Net Fee Due | | | | | | | | \$ 3,580.68 |

Table 2: Fee Offset Claims and SourcesIn US Dollars

| | Registrant or Filer Name | Forms or Filing Type | File Number | Initial Filing Date | Filing Date | Fee Offset Claimed | Security Type Associated with Fee Offset Claimed | Security Title Associated with Fee Offset Claimed | Unsold Securities Associated with Fee Offset Claimed | | Fee Paid with Fee Offset Source |
|---------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|----------------|---------------------------|-----------------|-----------------------|--|--|---|-----------------------|--|
| Fees Offset Claims | Bitfarms Ltd. | F-10 | 333-258788 | August 13, 2021 | - | \$24,326.50(3) | Unallocated (Universal Shelf) | (3) |) | (3) \$ 222,974,353.00 | - |
| Fees Offset Sources | Bitfarms Ltd. | F-10 | 333-258788 | - | August 13, 2021 | | | | | | \$24,326.50(3) |

- (1) There are being registered under this Registration Statement such indeterminate number of common shares, warrants, subscription receipts, units, debt securities and share purchase contracts of the Registrant, and a combination of such securities, separately or as units, as may be sold by the registrant from time to time, which collectively shall have an aggregate offering price not to exceed \$375,000,000. The securities registered hereunder also include such indeterminate number of each class of identified securities as may be issued upon conversion, exercise or exchange of any other securities that provide for such conversion into, exercise for or exchange into such securities. Separate consideration may or may not be received for securities that are issuable on exercise, conversion or exchange of other securities. In addition, pursuant to Rule 416 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), the common shares being registered hereunder include such indeterminate number of common shares as may be issuable with respect to the shares being registered hereunder as a result of stock splits, stock dividends, distributions or similar transactions. The proposed offering price per security will be determined, from time to time, by the registrant in connection with the sale of the securities under this Registration Statement.
- (2) The Registrant previously paid a registration fee of \$13,417.82 in connection with the Registrant's initial filing of the Registration Statement, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") on June 28, 2023.
- (3) Pursuant to the Securities Act, the Registrant is carrying forward to this Registration Statement \$222,974,353.00 in aggregate offering amount of securities previously registered on the Registrant's registration statement on Form F-10, filed on August 18, 2021 (Registration No. 333-258788) (the "Prior Registration Statement"). Pursuant to the Securities Act, the Registrant previously carried forward \$255,794,511.22 in aggregate offering amount of securities previously registered on the Prior Registration Statement and, pursuant to Rule 457(o), registered an additional \$119,205,488.78 in aggregate offering amount of securities of the Registrant. Accordingly, a registration fee of \$13,417.82 was paid in connection with the initial filing of the Registration Statement with the SEC on June 28, 2023. In connection with the filing of the pre-effective amendment to this Registration Statement, the Registrant is updating the aggregate amount of securities to be included on this Registration Statement to reflect the securities sold pursuant to the Prior Registration Statement since June 28, 2023. As a result, pursuant to Rule 457(o) of the Securities Act, the Registrant is registering an additional \$32,820,158.22 in aggregate offering amount of securities to be included on this Registration Statement is registering an additional \$32,820,158.22 in aggregate offering amount of securities of the Registration fee of \$3,580.68 is being paid in connection with the filing of the pre-effective amendment to this Registration Statement for a total registration fee of \$16,998.50. To the extent that, after the date hereof and prior to the effective amendment to this Registration Statement the updated amount of such securities from the Prior Registration Statement to be included on this Registration Statement, any securities are sold pursuant to the Prior Registration Statement, the Registration Statement for a total registration fee of \$16,998.50. To the extent that, after the date hereof and prior to the effective amendment